
Meeting Planning Committee

Date and Time Thursday, 21st June, 2018 at 9.30 am.

Venue Walton Suite, Guildhall, Winchester

AGENDA

PROCEDURAL ITEMS

1.  Apologies and Deputy Members 

To record the names of apologies given and Deputy Members who are attending 
the meeting in place of appointed Members.

2.  Disclosures of Interests 

To receive any disclosure of interests from Members and Officers in matters to 
be discussed. 

Note: Councillors are reminded of their obligations to declare disclosable 
pecuniary interests, personal and/or prejudicial interests, and on 
Predetermination or Bias in accordance with legislation and the Council’s Code 
of Conduct. 

If you require advice, please contact the appropriate Democratic Services 
Officer, prior to the meeting.

3.  Membership of Sub-Committees etc 

To give consideration to the approval of alternative arrangements for 
appointments to bodies set up by the Committee or the making or terminating of 
such appointments.

4.  Minutes (Pages 9 - 22)
Minutes of the previous meeting held on 24 May 2018 and the Special Meeting 
held on 7 June 2018.

Public Document Pack



Public speaking is allowed on individual planning applications, subject to certain 
restrictions – please contact the Public Speaking Co-ordinator as soon as possible, 
but prior to 4.00pm Tuesday 19 June 2018, on (01962) 848 339 to register to 
speak and for further details.

BUSINESS ITEMS
Report 
Number

Ward

5.  Where appropriate, to accept the Update 
Sheet as an addendum to the Report. 

6.  Planning Applications - WCC Agenda Items 7 
& 8 (Pages 23 - 24)

PDC 1110

7.  Land To The East Of Sun Lane Alresford 
Hampshire (Pages 25 - 90)

Alresford & 
Itchen Valley

17/01528/OUT

8.  7 Arthur Road, Winchester, Hampshire, 
SO23 7EA (Pages 91 - 94)

St 
Bartholomew

18/00616/HOU

9.  Planning Applications - WCC Agenda items 
10 - 14 (PDC 1110) 
The following items will not be considered 
before 2.00pm:
(Depending on the Committee’s progress, 
some of the morning’s items may overrun 
into the afternoon session.  Nevertheless, the 
following items will not be considered before 
2.00pm).

10.  Edenwood  Broad Lane Swanmore SO32 
2PD (Pages 95 - 112)

Central Meon 
Valley

17/01175/FUL

11.  Orchard House  Mount Pleasant Kings 
Worthy SO23 7QU (Pages 113 - 122)

The Worthys

18/00462/FUL



12.  Hazelwood  29 Downside Road Winchester 
SO22 5LT (Pages 123 - 130)

St Barnabas

18/00629/FUL

13.  Hazelwood  29 Downside Road Winchester 
SO22 5LT (Pages 131 - 142)

St Barnabas

18/00630/FUL

14.  South Wonston Farm Alresford Drove South 
Wonston Winchester (Pages 143 - 152)

Wonston & 
Micheldever

17/03209/FUL

L Hall
Legal Services Manager

City Offices
Colebrook Street
Winchester SO23 9LJ

13 June 2018

Agenda Contact: Dave Shaw, Principal Democratic Services Officer
Tel: 01962 848 438   Email: cbuchanan@winchester.gov.uk

*With the exception of exempt items, Agenda, reports and previous minutes are available on the 
Council’s Website www.winchester.gov.uk

MEMBERSHIP

Chairman: Ruffell (Conservative) Vice-Chairman: Read (Conservative)

Conservatives Liberal Democrats
Gottlieb
McLean
Weston

Clear
Evans
Izard
Rutter

Deputy Members

Berry and Cunningham Laming and Scott

Quorum = 4 members



THE HUMAN RIGHTS ACT 1998:

Please note that the Human Rights Act 1998 makes it unlawful for the Council to act 
in a way incompatible with any of the Convention rights protected by the Act unless it 
could not have acted otherwise. 

In arriving at the recommendations to grant or refuse permission, careful 
consideration has been given to the rights set out in the European Convention on 
Human Rights including Article 6 (right to a fair trial), Article 8 (right to respect for 
private and family life), Article 14 (prohibition of discrimination in enjoyment of 
convention rights) and Article 1 of the first Protocol (the right to peaceful enjoyment 
of possessions).

The Council is of the opinion that either no such rights have been interfered with or 
where there is an interference with the rights of an applicant or objector, such 
interference is considered necessary for any of the following reasons:-

 The protection of rights and freedoms 
of others

 Public safety

 The protection of health or morals

 The prevention of crime or disorder

 The economic well being of the 
country.

It is also considered that such action is proportional to the legitimate aim and in the 
public interest.  

GENERAL GUIDANCE ON THE WORK OF THE COMMITTEE:

Background

The Planning Committee meets on average once every four weeks.  The 
membership of the Committee is drawn from elected City Councillors.

The Council’s Constitution states that the vast majority of applications will be 
determined by the Planning officers (which are sometimes known as “delegated 
decisions”).  However, if certain criteria are met from the Constitution, some 
applications (about 5%) are referred to Committee for determination, rather than 
officers.  

As part of the Winchester District includes the South Downs National Park (SDNP), 
the Committee can also determine applications from this area on behalf of the 
National Park Authority.



At the meeting

At the start of the Committee meeting, the Chairman will introduce the Councillors 
and officers at the table.  Any Councillor’s declarations of interest will also be 
announced at this point.  If the interest is considered by the Councillor to be 
significant, he/she will leave the meeting when it reaches that item on the agenda.

Timing

The Committee considers many applications and scrutinises each one thoroughly.  
However, to prevent waiting unnecessarily through other people’s applications, 
where work demands it, agendas will be split into morning and afternoon sessions.  
The morning session will usually start at 9.30am and, where applicable, the agenda 
will set out those items which the Committee will not consider before 2.00pm in the 
afternoon.  Further details are set out below.

The Officer’s presentation

On each item, the planning case officer will introduce the application to the 
Committee.  They will concentrate on showing details of the proposals with the aid of 
projected visual material, including photographs of the site and plans.  The length 
and details of the presentation at the meeting will be proportionate to the nature and 
scale of the proposal.  The officer will make a recommendation to the Committee to 
either approve or refuse the application and, in the latter case, will state the reasons 
for this.

The officer is required to make a recommendation and the presentation will include 
material to explain why the scheme is being recommended for permission or refusal.  
However, officers will not restate the information set out in the report which relates to 
the assessment of the planning merits of the case.  Specialist officers dealing with 
issues such as design, historic environment and highways may also be available at 
Committee to provide advice on such matters and a legal representative will attend 
all Planning Committee meetings.

Members’ Questions

After the presentation, there will be an opportunity for the Councillors on the 
Committee to ask questions of the officers, usually based on the planning themes set 
out in the report.

PUBLIC PARTICIPATION:

Following the Councillors’ questions, there will be a period of public participation, as 
follows:
 

 Objectors (3 minutes), 

 Parish Council representatives (3 minutes), 

 Ward Members (local District Councillors)/Portfolio Holders (5 minutes), 



 and supporters of the application (3 minutes). 

The process is controlled by procedures to ensure fairness to both objectors and 
supporters.  To register to speak, please contact the Public Speaking Co-ordinator 
on 01962 848 339 by 4pm one clear working day before the meeting.

After each speaker’s category, there will be an opportunity for the Committee to ask 
questions of the speakers, if the Committee considers it necessary to clarify any 
matters of fact that arise.

Aside from this, the Committee will not enter into any further discussion with 
members of the public.

The names of members of the public etc who have registered to address committee 
meetings will appear in the minutes as part of the public record, which will be 
included on the Council’s website.  Those wishing to address a committee meeting 
who object to their names being made available in this way must notify the 
Democratic Services Officer either when registering to speak, or within 10 days of 
this meeting.

The Councillors’ Debate

After public participation, the Councillors will debate the application and may pick up 
any issues raised during public participation before a vote is taken to either;

 permit,

 refuse or

 defer (usually for a Viewing Sub-Committee or further information).  

If the Committee votes against the officer’s recommendation, the reasons for this will 
be discussed and explained.  A summary of the Committee’s reasons will be 
included in the minutes.

Voting:

Every Member has one vote when a matter before the meeting requires a decision.  
In the event of an equality of votes, the Chairman may exercise a casting vote and 
that vote may be cast in any way he wishes.

A Member may abstain from voting, or vote differently from how they may have 
indicated during the debate, without further explanation.  The way each Member 
voted will not be recorded in the minutes, unless a motion to have a Recorded Vote 
has been passed.

After the meeting



After the meeting, the minutes will be available from the Council’s website and a 
decision notice will be sent to the applicant/agent.  Applicants have a right of appeal 
against a Committee decision to refuse planning permission, or any conditions 
imposed on permission, and any appeal will be considered by an Inspector 
appointed by the Secretary of State.  Where an application has been permitted, there 
is no opportunity for objectors to appeal, other than to the Court by way of judicial 
review on a point of law. 

DISABLED ACCESS:

Disabled access is normally available, but please phone Democratic Services on 
01962 848 264 or email democracy@winchester.gov.uk to ensure that the necessary 
arrangements are in place.



This page is intentionally left blank



PLANNING COMMITTEE

24 May 2018

Attendance:
Councillors:

Ruffell (Chairman) (P)

Clear (P)
Evans (P)
Gottlieb (P) (for Items 1-5)
Izard (P)

McLean
Read (P)
Rutter (P)
Weston

Deputy Members:

Councillor Berry (Standing Deputy for Councillor McLean) and Councillor 
Cunningham (Standing Deputy for Councillor Weston).

Others in attendance who addressed the meeting:

Councillors Cutler, Hutchison and Porter.

Others in attendance who did not address the meeting:

Councillor Brook (Portfolio Holder for Built Environment).

__________________________________________________________________

1. APPOINTMENT OF VICE-CHAIRMAN FOR 2018/19 MUNICIPAL YEAR

RESOLVED:

That Councillor Read be appointed Vice-Chairman of the 
Committee for the 2018/19 Municipal Year.

2. MINUTES

RESOLVED:

That the minutes of the meeting held on 19 April 2018 and the 
minutes of the Planning (Viewing) Sub Committee held on 9 May 2018, 
be approved and adopted.

3. PLANNING APPLICATIONS SCHEDULE
(Report PDC1107 and Update Sheet refers)

A copy of each planning application decision is available to view on the 
Council’s website under the respective planning application.

Page 9

Agenda Item 4



The Committee agreed to receive the Update Sheet as an addendum to 
Report PDC1107.

Councillor Rutter declared a personal (but not prejudicial) interest, in respect 
of item 2 (Church Paddock Fishery, Bedfield Lane, Headbourne Worthy) as 
she resides in the lane. However, the application site was not visible from her 
property and she had not expressed a view on this application. She spoke 
and voted on this item thereon. 

Councillor Clear made a personal statement in respect of item 5 (Land to the 
East of Winchester Road, Wickham), due to her role as Parish Councillor, 
whereby the application site, contained in Local Plan Part 2 (LPP2), had been 
agreed by Wickham Parish Council. However, she had taken no part in 
consideration of the application.

Councillor Evans made a personal statement in respect of item 5 (Land to the 
East of Winchester Road, Wickham), due to her role as Parish Councillor, 
whereby the application site, contained in Local Plan Part 2 (LPP2), had been 
agreed by Wickham Parish Council. However, she had taken no part in 
consideration of the application.

Councillor Gottlieb declared a personal and prejudicial interest in respect of 
items 6 and 7 (Bramble Cottage, 41 Stratton Lane, East Stratton) as the 
applications related to his immediate neighbours. He left the meeting for 
consideration of these items.

Applications outside the area of the South Downs National Park (WCC):

Item 1:  Variation of conditions 5 (tree and demolition details), 6 (tree 
protection measures), 8 (lighting) and 9 (landscaping) of planning permission 
15/01217/FUL and variation of approved plans of planning permission 
17/02196/NMA. Please see cover letter dated 12 December for full details of 
proposed variations. Further amended plans received 2/1/18 in respect of 
Block A (ground floor entrance and fourth floor to south elevation and various 
internal changes) and basement of Blocks D1, D2 and E (internal changes for 
fire regulations). The changes are highlighted red on the amended plans and 
are for fire regulations compliance. Further amended plans received 5 March 
2018 with updated cover letter to explain changes including 6 additional 
dwellings (total now 244) and external alterations to blocks A, B, C, D1, D2 
and E including new built form to the roof and ground floor extension to Block 
A.
Hampshire Constabulary HQ, Romsey Road, Winchester, SO22 5DB
Case number: 17/03139/FUL

The Head of Development Management referred Members to the Update 
Sheet which set out an amendment to Page 18 - principle of development to 
read an increase of 36 units and not 86 units, as stated and to include within 
the S106 agreement (Page 22), the provision and retention of affordable 

Page 10



housing and a financial contribution for the 0.6 dwelling that cannot be 
provided on site. 

In addition, a verbal update was provided adding a new condition requiring a 
plan to be submitted showing the unallocated car parking spaces and 
requiring them to remain unallocated in perpetuity.

In response to questions from Members, the Council’s Highways Engineer 
confirmed that parking provision in the surrounding area had been discussed 
with the Council’s Traffic Officers, with residents’ parking in place from 8am to 
6pm Monday to Saturday and free parking available on Sundays in the 
Council’s public car parks. It was confirmed that residents’ parking permits 
would not be issued to residents of the development.  

During public participation, Councillor Hutchison spoke on this item as a Ward 
Member.

In summary, Councillor Hutchison stated that she welcomed the social 
housing accommodation the development provided on site. However, off site 
she considered that there were a number of concerns that needed to be 
addressed, including residents parking, movement and access which she 
suggested would be further exacerbated by the provision of extra homes on 
site.

Councillor Hutchison considered existing parking to be excessive in this area 
with inadequate parking restrictions in place and asked that weekend and 
evening restrictions be provided on surrounding streets to provide comfort to 
current residents that parking would not deteriorate further. She made 
reference to the frequent heavy congestion on West End Terrace, Romsey 
Road and Cheriton Road which was particularly a problem during rush hour 
and school times and was of the opinion that access to the site remained the 
main issue, with poor provisions for cyclists and pedestrians that were safe to 
use and pavements, streets and roads being wholly unacceptable. 

In conclusion, Councillor Hutchison stated that she considered the 
development failed to take sustainable travel seriously and suggested that 
Romsey Road should be looked at as a whole and not piecemeal as it 
provided key access to open space for residents.

In response to questions from Members, the Council’s Highways Engineer 
clarified that a proportion of the Community Infrastructure Levy (CIL) 
contribution would be paid to Hampshire County Council and it was within 
their jurisdiction to spend the contribution as they considered appropriate.  

At the conclusion of debate, the Committee agreed to grant permission for the 
reasons and subject to the S106 legal agreement, the conditions and 
informatives set out in the Report and the Update Sheet, subject to, an update 
to the S106 agreement to secure the provision and retention of affordable 
housing and the financial contribution for the 0.6 dwelling that cannot be 

Page 11



provided on site; and plans to be submitted showing the unallocated car 
parking spaces on site, to be maintained in perpetuity.   

Item 2:  New access with the public highway and track to existing parking area
Church Paddock Fishery, Bedfield Lane, Headbourne Worthy
Case number: 17/02806/FUL

The Head of Development Management referred Members to the Update 
Sheet which stated that eight further letters of representation had been 
received which raised no additional issues.  

During public participation, Grace Gray spoke in objection to the application 
and Kim Blunt, Mr Dean and Stuart Rose spoke in support of the application 
and answered Members’ questions thereon.

During public participation, Councillor Porter spoke on this item as a Ward 
Member.

In summary, Councillor Porter stated that she was speaking on behalf of a 
number of objectors and the Parish Council who could not see why the 
entrance proposed was required at all and would result in the loss of a 
number of large trees. She stated that there was a requirement for the access 
to be accessible for all and she did not consider the loose chippings proposed 
to be acceptable for wheelchair users. As a result of the development at Kings 
Barton, Councillor Porter stated that vehicle movements at the junction of 
Bedfield Lane had increased and this was expected to grow with the volume 
of occupants. In conclusion, she stated that the proposed new entrance would 
add to the danger on this single track road at certain times, with no 
justification for the proposed entrance in her opinion. 

At the conclusion of debate, the Committee agreed to grant permission for the 
reasons and subject to the conditions and informatives set out in the Report 
and the Update Sheet and subject to: an amendment to Condition 3 requiring 
the access and driveway specification to be submitted, with the inclusion of 
surface treatment; and an additional condition that, in the event of the access 
being gated, fix and open details be submitted by the Applicant to the Head of 
Development Management for agreement prior to use. 

Item 3: Removal of existing single storey extension. Replacement single 
storey extension. Replacement roof lantern. Internal renovations. 
3 Weeke Manor House, Loyd-Lindsay Square, Winchester, SO22 5NB
Case number: 18/00603/LIS

At the conclusion of debate, the Committee agreed to grant permission for the 
reasons and subject to the conditions and informatives set out in the Report.

Item 4:  Removal of existing single storey extension. Replacement single 
storey extension. Replacement roof lantern. Internal renovations. 
3 Weeke Manor House, Loyd-Lindsay Square, Winchester, SO22 5NB 
Case number: 18/00602/HOU

Page 12



At the conclusion of debate, the Committee agreed to grant permission for the 
reasons and subject to the conditions and informatives set out in the Report.

Item 5:  (AMENDED PLANS RECEIVED – 23/03/18) Residential development 
comprising 120 dwelling units, garages, parking spaces, new access from 
Winchester Road, new roads, public open space, landscaping and drainage 
works
Land to the East of Winchester Road, Wickham
Case number: 17/02615/FUL

The Head of Development Management referred Members to the Update 
Sheet which set out: an update to Condition 9 to confirm that no dwelling 
should be occupied until the local planning authority has confirmed in writing, 
following consultation with Southern Water; an update to Condition 12  to 
include reference to the access plan that had been agreed between the 
developer and HCC; an amendment to the head of terms for the S106 legal 
agreement to include – any financial contributions required to provide the 
sports facilities on Mill Lane; a consultation response provided by the South 
Downs National Park; an amendment to page 53 of the Report to read 
‘Wickham Parish Council’ instead of ‘Bishops Waltham Parish Council’; and 
an additional letter of objection received raising concerns in relation to the 
impact on wildlife.   

In addition, a verbal update was provided that Condition 2 be amended to 
include an addendum to the transport statement.

In response to questions from Members, the Council’s Head of Drainage 
clarified that if minded to approve the application, Southern Water would be 
bound to improve the infrastructure, principally the pumping station in the 
village. Southern Water had confirmed that off site works could not commence 
until the development was in situ and prior to the first residents occupation; 
this was required in order for the drainage impact to be assessed. 

During public participation, Anton Hanney (Wickham Residents Association) 
and Nicki Oliver (Wickham Parish Council) spoke in objection to the 
application and Andrew Morris (Applicant) spoke in support of the application 
and all answered Members’ questions thereon.

During public participation, Councillor Cutler spoke on this item as a Ward 
Member.

In summary, Councillor Cutler stated that he wished to reinforce all the 
aspects associated with the development which he considered had not all 
been satisfied since the previous refusal on this site. Councillor Cutler stated 
that residents’ concerns related to drainage, flooding, traffic, ecology and 
pedestrian and cyclist access. He queried the lack of detail in relation to storm 
water drainage work, suggested an amendment for drainage works to be in 
place before development commenced on site, due to concerns that Southern 
Water would not be able to complete the works required in time with 

Page 13



occupations. He was also of the opinion that silt was blocking the drainage 
ways on site. 

Councillor Cutler stated that traffic in the area was already above capacity 
with residents wishing to see improvements above what is in place and that 
pressures from other developments in the area i.e. Wellborne, Whiteley and 
West of Waterlooville, had not been taken into account.

Councillor Cutler stated that the main point of concern related to pedestrian 
and cycling access, with only two pedestrian routes available, it would not 
encourage people to use the route, only as through the spur. He suggested 
that a third route be explored from the eastern end of the development to the 
new sport facilities, the community centre and the doctor’s surgery. It was 
noted that there was effectively no facility for cycling with roadways in 
Winchester Road too dangerous and 1.5 metre wide footpaths in the spur.

In conclusion, Councillor Cutler stated that he did not consider the proposal to 
be a sustainable development as it stands and he urged the Committee to 
defer the decision.

At the conclusion of debate, the Committee agreed to grant permission for the 
reasons and subject to the S106 legal agreement, the conditions and 
informatives set out in the Report and in the Update Sheet and subject to; the 
provision of 40% affordable housing on site; provision and management of on 
site open woodlands, improvements to the junction of Blind Lane for public 
access; contribution towards the Solent Recreation Mitigation Partnership 
(SRMP); any financial contributions required to provide the sports facilities on 
Mill Lane to be secured by an appropriate s106 legal undertaking. The precise 
wording of conditions being delegated to the Head of Development 
Management to agree in consultation with the Chairman.

Item 6:  Erection of an oak framed garden room extension to rear elevation 
and reworking of existing side extension  
Bramble Cottage, 41 Stratton Lane, East Stratton, SO21 3DT
Case number: 17/02666/LIS

In response to questions from Members, the Council’s Historic Environment 
Team Leader clarified that, although there was no objection in principle to a 
further extension, there were already two existing 20th century extensions on 
this site. It was noted that the core of the building remained historic. However, 
the levels between historic and modern building on site was now reaching a 
similar line and scope for further building on site was considered to be limited. 
It was therefore considered that the application did not fit in with the existing 
building and would be harmful to the building in terms of its appearance. 

At the conclusion of debate, the Committee agreed to refuse permission for 
the reasons and subject to the conditions and informatives set out in the 
Report.

Page 14



Item 7: Erection of an oak framed garden room extension to rear elevation 
and reworking of existing side extension  
Bramble Cottage, 41 Stratton Lane, East Stratton, SO21 3DT
Case number: 17/02666/HOU
 
At the conclusion of debate, the Committee agreed to refuse permission for 
the reasons and subject to the conditions and informatives set out in the 
Report.

Item 8:  Change of use of 10 parking spaces to hand car wash and valeting 
operation including the installation of a cabin and erection of a canopy - 
Sainsbury’s Supermarkets Ltd, Badger Farm Road, Winchester
Care number: 18/00555/FUL

At the conclusion of debate, the Committee agreed to grant permission for the 
following reasons and subject to the conditions set out in the Report. 

RESOLVED:

1. That the decisions taken on the Development Control 
Applications in relation to those applications outside the area of the 
South Downs National Park be agreed as set out in the decision 
relating to each item, subject to the following:

(i) That in respect of item 1, permission be granted for the 
reasons and subject to the S106 legal agreement, the conditions 
and informatives set out in the Report and the Update Sheet, 
subject to, an update to the S106 agreement to secure the 
provision and retention of affordable housing and the financial 
contribution for the 0.6 dwelling that cannot be provided on site; 
and plans to be submitted showing the unallocated car parking 
spaces on site, to be maintained in perpetuity;

 
(ii) That in respect of item 2, permission be granted for the 
reasons and subject to the conditions and informatives set out in 
the Report and the Update Sheet and subject to: an amendment to 
Condition 3 requiring the access and driveway specification to be 
submitted, with the inclusion of surface treatment; and an additional 
condition that, in the event of the access being gated, fix and open 
details be submitted by the Applicant to the Head of Development 
Management for agreement prior to use; and

(iii) That in respect of item 5, permission be granted for the 
reasons and subject to the S106 legal agreement, the conditions 
and informatives set out in the Report and in the Update Sheet and 
subject to; the provision of 40% affordable housing on site; 
provision and management of on site open woodlands, 
improvements to the junction of Blind Lane for public access; 
contribution towards the Solent Recreation Mitigation Partnership 
(SRMP) to be secured by an appropriate s106 legal undertaking. 

Page 15



The precise wording of conditions being delegated to the Head of 
Development Management to agree in consultation with the 
Chairman.

 
4. CONFIRMATION OF TREE PRESERVATION ORDER 2215 – 10 

BEREWEEKE ROAD, WINCHESTER
(Report PDC1106 refers)

During public participation, Thomas Gregory (Agent) spoke in objection to the 
application and answered Members’ questions thereon.

RESOLVED:

That, having taken into consideration the representations 
received, Tree Preservation Order 2215 be confirmed.

5. PLANNING APPEAL DECISIONS
(Report PDC1108 refers)

The Committee gave consideration to the Report which provided a summary 
of the appeal decisions in relation to planning cases received for the period 1 
January 2018 to 31 March 2018.

RESOLVED:

That the report be noted.

The meeting commenced at 9.30am and adjourned between 12.00noon and 
2.00pm and concluded at 5pm.

Chairman

Page 16



PLANNING COMMITTEE – SPECIAL MEETING

7 June 2018

Attendance:
Councillors:

Ruffell (Chairman) (P)

Clear (P)
Evans
Gottlieb 
Izard (P) (Vice-Chair from Agenda Item 
7 onwards)

McLean (P)
Read (P) (for Agenda Item 6 only)
Rutter (P)
Weston

Deputy Members:

Councillor Berry (Standing Deputy for Councillor Gottlieb), Councillor 
Cunningham (Standing Deputy for Councillor Weston) and Councillor Evans 
(Standing Deputy for Councillor Laming).

Others in attendance who addressed the meeting:

Councillors Burns, Griffiths (Portfolio Holder for Health and Wellbeing) and 
Weir.

__________________________________________________________________

1. PLANNING APPLICATIONS SCHEDULE
(Report PDC1109 and Update Sheet refers)

A copy of each planning application decision is available to view on the 
Council’s website under the respective planning application.

The Committee agreed to receive the Update Sheet as an addendum to 
Report PDC1109.

In respect of Agenda Item 7 (7 Stoney Lane, Winchester), Councillor Berry 
advised that she had predetermined the application, having previously raised 
objection to the proposal.  Councillor Berry spoke as a Ward Member and sat 
apart from the Committee during the determination of these applications. 

Applications outside the area of the South Downs National Park (WCC):

Page 17



Agenda Item 6:  (AMENDED PLANS 10.04.2018) Redevelopment to form 27 
No. apartments for the elderly (sixty years of age and/or partner over fifty five 
years of age), guest apartment, communal facilities, access, car parking and 
landscaping
Post Mead, Shore Lane, Bishops Waltham, SO32 1DY
Case number: 17/01723/FUL

The Head of Development Management referred Members to the Update 
Sheet which set out the following: a full additional condition (Condition 23) 
which was deemed necessary following an assessment of future occupancy 
and alternative uses; clarification that HCC Surface Water Management Team 
had reviewed the additional drainage information submitted by the developer 
regarding surface water and foul water drainage which adequately addressed 
concerns raised by HCC, therefore no further objections or comments were 
made; and confirmation that the developer has agreed to offer £50,000 
towards affordable housing contribution, secured through a S106 legal 
agreement. Therefore a revised recommendation had been added to read as 
follows: ‘Revised Recommendation: That the application be APPROVED, 
subject to the completion of a legal agreement to secure £50,000 
Affordable Housing contribution, and the following condition(s)’ 

During public participation, Robert Shields (Bishops Waltham Parish Council) 
spoke in objection to the application and Andrew Burgess (Agent) spoke in 
support of the application and both answered Members’ questions thereon.

At the conclusion of debate, the Committee agreed to refuse permission for 
the following reasons: contrary to Policies: DM16 (development does not 
respond positively to the design, scale and layout); DM18 (car parking); failure 
to provide adequate Affordable Housing contribution and WCC High Quality 
Spaces Supplementary Planning Document. The precise wording being 
delegated to the Head of Development Management to agree in consultation 
with the Chairman.

Agenda Item 7: Removal of existing house and erection of 4 No new dwellings 
with parking and associated landscaping. 
7 Stoney Lane, Winchester, SO22 6DN
Case number: 18/00565/FUL

The Head of Development Management referred Members to the Update 
Sheet which set out: amendments to Condition 9 and Condition 18; the receipt 
of a 217 signatory petition requesting that the application be deferred and a 
site visit be made by all voting Planning Committee Members, prior to the 
meeting.

The Chairman advised that a visit to the proposed application site had been 
arranged and was attended by Planning Committee Members and Ward 
Councillors on Monday, 4 June. 

Page 18



During public participation, Jane Parker and Mike Craske spoke in objection 
to the application and Paul Doswell and Justin Nicholas (Agents) spoke in 
support of the application and all answered Members’ questions thereon.
During their representation, the Agents confirmed that they would be content 
to undertake another survey to re-affirm the ground levels. In response, the 
Head of Development Management clarified that there was a requirement for 
details of the ground levels to be submitted to planning officers, which was set 
out in Condition 5 of the Report.

During public participation, Councillors Weir and Berry spoke on this item as  
Ward Members.

In summary, Councillor Weir stated that the application no longer met the 
needs of Policy CP2 as there were no 2 bed dwellings on site, mainly 3 
bedroomed properties, with only one dwelling lost from the previously refused 
application. Although density had reduced, overlooking and massing had 
increased. She stated that she welcomed the news that Permitted 
Development Rights had been removed. However, concerns still existed 
regarding sewerage and the extent of the run off from Stoney Court which she 
suggested required conditioning. 

Councillor Weir referred to the need for a plan for Southern Water to access 
the site and queried why details of the pump station had been made available 
in the previous application but had not been made available in the revised 
proposal. She stated that existing traffic and parking on Stoney Lane was 
dangerous and problematic, with the proposal only adding to access and 
parking pressures in that particular part of the road. 

In conclusion, Councillor Weir urged the Committee to consider refusing this 
application for a better design to be sought, which addressed the concerns of 
residents for an improved long term solution. 

In summary, Councillor Berry stated that she had previously voted against this 
application and that the idea that the development and footprint had changed 
in this new proposed application was a myth. She expressed concerns that 
the materials to be used for the groundworks would not absorb all the surface 
water with existing drainage problems along Stoney Lane and flood risks in 
Weeke as a whole which would now be added to as a result of this 
development. 

Councillor Berry was of the opinion that the site offered no benefit to the 
community and that the development was not of an urgent or important 
nature. However, the effect of the development on the environment was.

She stated that there was a tremendous pressure on the existing road 
network, with difficulty getting through the traffic and a dangerous corner at 
the northern end of the lane and raised concern that the application would set 
a precedent for the rest of Stoney Lane.

Page 19



In conclusion, Councillor Berry reiterated the concerns of Councillor Weir 
regarding sewerage and stated that, with 30-40 residents opposed to the 
scheme, the development was being forced onto them with one house and 
garden now becoming four large houses.
  
At the conclusion of debate, the Committee agreed to grant permission for the 
reasons and subject to the conditions and informatives set out in the Report 
and the Update Sheet. 

Agenda Item 8: A new dwelling within the curtilage of The English Partridge 
Pub in Bighton.  
The English Partridge, Bighton, Alresford, SO24 9RE
Case number: 18/00251/FUL

The Head of Development Management referred Members to the Update 
Sheet which set out: amendments to Condition 2 and Condition 10,addition of 
Condition 17; and additional wording to be added to the recommendation to 
read as follows: ‘Recommendation: Permission, subject to the following 
conditions’ to end of report.

In response to questions from Members, the Community Planning Manager 
clarified that the entire site currently has Asset of Community Value (ACV) 
status. However, the provisions of the Localism Act mean that, in the event of 
planning consent being granted and development commencing, that part of 
the site would then be removed from the ACV listing but the remainder of the 
pub site would retain its ACV status.  

During public participation, Jonathan Booth and Neil March (Agent 
representing Bighton Parish Council) spoke in objection to the application and 
Mike Worthington (Agent) spoke in support of the application and all 
answered Members’ questions thereon.

During public participation, Councillor Griffiths spoke on this item as a Ward 
Member.

In summary, Councillor Griffiths stated that the application had raised 
objections from the Parish Council and over half of the households in Bighton. 
Bighton comprised of a farming community with young families who 
connected with the community, as such the community were willing to 
purchase the pub and had previously offered the Applicant more than the 
asking price to secure the building for this purpose; this offer had been 
rejected.

She stated that The English Partridge was a popular venue in a truly 
traditional setting offering a cosy feel and good food and was sorely missed 
by the local community and those who used to frequent it. She considered 
that the proposed application would detract from the visual impact of the  
Grade II Listed Building, its rural setting and would cut into the frontage 
resulting in a loss to the garden area, rendering the existing building 
unbalanced. 

Page 20



Councillor Griffiths stated that with insufficient car parking on site, this would 
impact on local residents with potential on street parking and blocking of 
roads which are used by passing tractors and large arable farming machinery.

In conclusion, Councillor Griffiths urged the Committee to consider refusing 
the application on the grounds of Policy CP6, stating that the application 
should not threaten the loss of a community facility and that attempts should 
be made by the Applicant to satisfy this Policy requirement. She stated that 
the Applicant had not accepted the previous offer made by the community 
group and that no attempt to offer the business further in this respect had 
been made. 

At the conclusion of debate, the Committee agreed to refuse permission for 
the following reason: contrary to Policy CP6 as the facility and service were 
threatened by the disposition of the land to the side of it, therefore the 
Committee were not satisfied that the community asset would be retained. 

Agenda Item 9: Proposed 1 ½ Storey Replacement Rear Extension and 
Front/Internal Alterations 
Church Cottage, 20 St Johns Street, Winchester, SO23 0HF 
Case number: 17/03184/HOU

The Head of Development Management referred Members to the Update 
Sheet which set out: details of a further representation submitted to Members; 
and additional wording to be added following the recommendation to read as 
follows: ‘Application be permitted’ .

During public participation, Kim Blunt and Mr Stirrup spoke in objection to the 
application and Karen Gunn spoke in support of the application and  
answered Members’ questions thereon.

In response to questions from Members, the Historic Environment Team 
Leader clarified that officers considered that due to the low key and small 
scale impact of the proposal the officers considered that the Grade I Listed 
Building, the Church and Churchyard would not be harmed..  

At the conclusion of debate, the Committee agreed to grant permission for the 
reasons and subject to the conditions and informatives set out in the Report 
and the Update Sheet.

Agenda Item 10:  (Amended Description) Alteration of roof to gable end and 
raising of roof to provide accommodation on first floor with roof lights to rear, 
new front dormer windows, two storey front infill extension, external rendering 
and cladding. 
1 Old Hillside Road, Winchester
Case number: 18/00130/HOU

Page 21



During public participation, Councillor Weir (on behalf of local residents) 
spoke in objection to the application and Steve Lawrence spoke in support of 
the application and answered Members’ questions thereon.

At the conclusion of debate, the Committee agreed to grant permission for the 
reasons and subject to the conditions and informatives set out in the Report.

Agenda Item 11:  Proposed demolition of existing garage and construction of 
ancillary accommodation to main house. Felling of no.1 conifer tree (amended 
proposal). 
84 Water Lane, Winchester, SO23 0ES
Case number: 17/02476/HOU

During public participation, Roger Davey spoke in objection to the application 
and David Flower (Agent) spoke in support of the application and answered 
Members’ questions thereon.

At the conclusion of debate, the Committee agreed to grant permission for the 
reasons and subject to the conditions and informatives set out in the Report.

RESOLVED:

1. That the decisions taken on the Development Control 
Applications in relation to those applications outside the area of the 
South Downs National Park be agreed as set out in the decision 
relating to each item, subject to the following:

(i) That in respect of item 6 permission be refused for the 
following reasons: contrary to Policies: DM16 (development 
does not respond positively to the design, scale and layout); DM18 
(car parking); failure to provide adequate Affordable Housing 
contribution; and WCC High Quality Spaces Supplementary 
Planning Document. The precise wording being delegated to the 
Head of Development Management to agree in consultation with 
the Chairman; and

(ii) That in respect of item 8, permission be refused for the 
following reason: contrary to Policy CP6 as the facility and service 
were threatened by the disposition of the land to the side of it, 
therefore the Committee were not satisfied that the community 
asset would be retained.

The meeting commenced at 9.00am and concluded at 1.20pm.

Chairman

Page 22



WINCHESTER CITY COUNCIL
PLANNING COMMITTEE AGENDA 21 June 2018

WINCHESTER CITY COUNCIL PDC1110

PLANNING COMMITTEE

Planning Applications 21.06.2018

THE AVAILABILITY OF BACKGROUND PAPERS

In deciding what recommendation to make on each of the following applications, the 
Head of Planning Management has had regard to all documents contained in the 
application file.  The following list specifies the categories of documents which may be 
found on such a file and which will be background papers * although in any particular 
case there may be no documents in that category.

1. Application form, required certificates, plans and drawings (including any 
amended plans and drawings).

2. Correspondence between the Planning Department and the Applicant or the 
Applicant's agents.

3. Correspondence, including correspondence between the Planning Department 
and other departments of the Council or other Authorities.

4. Notes of site visits, meetings and discussions.
5. Representations received from any party.
* Background papers do not include documents which contain e.g. confidential material 
and which constitute “exempt information” under the Local Government Act 1972. 
Background papers may be inspected prior to the meeting to which this report is made 
and for 4 years thereafter beginning with the date of the meeting.

THE STATUS OF OFFICER RECOMMENDATIONS

Members of the public are reminded that;

 The recommendations contained in a report are those made by the officers at the 
time the report was prepared.  Circumstances may cause a different 
recommendation to be made at the meeting.

 The officers' recommendations may not be accepted by the Committee.

 A final decision is only made once Councillors have formally considered and 
determined each application.

Recommendation codes
REF = Refused PER = Permitted

Page 23

Agenda Item 6



WINCHESTER CITY COUNCIL
PLANNING COMMITTEE AGENDA 21 June 2018

PLANNING COMMITTEE SUMMARY
MORNING (9.30am Start)

Location: Land To The East Of Sun Lane Alresford Hampshire   
Case No: 17/01528/OUT Recommendation: Application 

Permitted

Location: 7 Arthur Road Winchester Hampshire SO23 7EA   
Case No: 18/00616/HOU Recommendation: Application 

Permitted

AFTERNOON  (2pm Start)

Location: Edenwood  Broad Lane Swanmore SO32 2PD   
Case No: 17/01175/FUL Recommendation: Application 

Permitted

Location: Orchard House  Mount Pleasant Kings Worthy SO23 
7QU   

Case No: 18/00462/FUL Recommendation: Application 
Permitted

Location: Hazelwood  29 Downside Road Winchester SO22 5LT   
Case No: 18/00629/FUL Recommendation: Application 

Refused

Location: Hazelwood  29 Downside Road Winchester SO22 5LT   
Case No: 18/00630/FUL Recommendation: Application 

Permitted

Location: South Wonston Farm Alresford Drove South Wonston 
Winchester Hampshire SO21 3HL 

Case No: 17/03209/FUL Recommendation: Application 
Permitted

Page 24



Case No: 17/01528/OUT

Case No: 17/01528/OUT 
Proposal Description: AMENDED PLANS 22.02.2018 The erection of up to 320 

dwellings (including 40% affordable homes); the provision of 3.4 
hectares of employment land for use within Use Classes B1, B2 
and B8; the provision of Public Open Space and associated 
infrastructure including an 'all-moves' roundabout from the A31; 
the realignment of Sun Lane and provision of additional school 
facilities including a 'Park and Stride'. EIA development.

Address: Land To The East Of Sun Lane Alresford Hampshire 
Parish, or Ward if within 
Winchester City:

 New Alresford

Applicants Name: Mr Steven Culpitt
Case Officer: Mrs Jill Lee
Date Valid: 12 June 2017
Site Factors: CIL Zones for Winchester City Council

Radon Gas Levels
Southern Water Operational Area.

Recommendation:

AMENDED PLANS

Permission be granted.

Date 9 April 2018

© Crown Copyright and database rights Winchester City Council License 100019531

Page 25

Agenda Item 7



Case No: 17/01528/OUT

General Comments

Application is reported to Committee due to the number of objections received 
contrary to the officers recommendation.

This application has been amended since its first submission. Additional highways 
information was submitted on 22nd February 2018 and additional illustrative information 
submitted on 9th April 2018. None of the amended / additional information has altered 
the actual application in terms of the red line or the areas of highways applied for but 
just provide additional clarity on highways and highways related issues. 

Site Description
The application site comprises approximately 33 hectares located to the east of Sun Lane 
Alresford. The site currently comprises a single field in agricultural use with well 
established hedging and trees to the boundaries but no particular landscape features of 
significance within the site. The site is bounded to the west by Sun Lane to the north by 
the steam railway and public right of way (off site), to the east by agricultural land and 
solar farm and to the south by Whitehill Lane and the A31 just beyond. 

The site has significant changes in level rising from the north to the high part at the centre 
of the site and then falling down towards the A31.   Overhead power lines run over the 
high point of the site west east. 

To the North West corner of the site is a small cul de sac development known as Langtons 
Court. These properties back onto the application site. 

The residential development on Sun Hill Lane is largely back or side onto the site and 
separated by the width of the road. There are some listed buildings (Stable Cottages, 
Laundry Cottage and Sun Cottage) to the south west corner of the site on Tichborne 
Down.  Sun Hill Infants School is opposite the site.

The site is well contained within a landscape framework. 
Proposal
The application is submitted in outline only with the details of the means of access to be 
determined at this stage. The outline application also proposes the erection of up to 320 
dwellings, including 40% affordable homes;

The provision of 3.4 hectares of employment land for use within Classes B1, B2 and B8;
The provision of approximately 16.84 hectares of Public Open Space; associated 
infrastructure including new car park for New Alresford Bowling Club; re – alignment of 
Sun Lane to provide additional school facilities; a “Park and Stride” area for use by the 
school and a new access from the A31 which also results in partial closure to vehicular 
traffic of Whitehill Lane. 

The broad location of the proposed development is indicated for illustrative purposes only 
on the plans submitted in support of the application. 

Relevant Planning History

There is no planning history on this site relevant to this application. 

Page 26



Case No: 17/01528/OUT

Consultations:

New Homes Delivery Team: No objection to the application. 
Local Plan Part 1 CP3, 40% of the homes are proposed to be affordable housing.  The 
application seeks permission for up to 320 new dwellings and if the maximum number of 
homes are developed then 128 (320 x 40%) are to be affordable.  If a different number is 
actually developed of which 40% produces an amount with a figure less than 1 then a 
financial contribution will need to be made for that `less than 1 figure` based upon 
Appendix 4 in the Affordable Housing Supplementary Planning Document 2008 the table 
being updated in 2016.  The proposal for 40% affordable housing is supported. 
Programme – The Affordable Housing Statement at 3.2.2 suggests that this development 
will be built out in stages although no details are provided in this regard.  At 3.5 of the 
Affordable housing Statement the affordable housing is proposed to be built out in line 
with the rest of the development – it not being provided before or after. Tenure – the 
proposal is that the tenure of the affordable housing will consist of 70% Affordable rent 
and 30% intermediate housing.  Reference is made to adhering to the National Planning 
Policy Framework and local affordability.  Given the statement at 3.2.1 of the Affordable 
Housing Statement this is supported. Bedrooms - The applicant makes a proposal at 
3.3.5 of the Affordable Housing Statement as follows:

Rented Intermediate

 1 bed Up to 25% Up to  10%
 2 bed

o Flat Not less than 10% Up to 42%
o House 40% Up to 32%

 3 bed 21% 26%
 4 bed 04% 0%

Based upon a development of 320 homes and a 70:30 split this translates into the 
following actual numbers:

Rented Intermediate

 1 bed Up to 22.5 (23) Up to 3.8 (04)
 2 bed

o Flat Not less than 9 Up to 15.96 (16)
o House 36 Not less than 12.16 (12)

 3 bed 18.9 (19) 9.88 (10)
 4 bed 3.6 (4) 0

The phrases “up to” and “not less than” are rather limiting and final given that the scheme 
is likely to be built over a number of phases which are yet to be defined. These phrases 
should therefore be removed in favour of `Indicative Mix`. At the moment less 3 bedroom 

Page 27



Case No: 17/01528/OUT

rented homes and more 1 bedroom rented homes would be sought and less 3 bedroom 
Intermediate properties in favour of more 1 bedroom. Once the detailed location of the 
affordable housing is developed and depending upon the programme for development 
and the detailed design the affordable housing mix can be agreed at each Reserved 
matters stage as suggested at 3.5.1 of the Affordable Housing programme. Each phase 
would therefore contain 40% affordable housing based upon a 70:30 tenure split.  The 
exact mix of bedroom sizes would be discussed at each Reserved matters stage.

Type (Houses v Flats)  – The amount of houses is supported and if the words “Not less 
than” and “Up to” are removed then the amount of flats could also be supported.

Occupancy – The Affordable Housing Supplementary Planning Document, at 2.8 
provides information on the number of people (bed spaces) that should be able to occupy 
a property.  1 bed properties should have 2 bed spaces; 2 bed properties 4 bed spaces; 3 
bed properties 5 bed spaces and 4 bed properties 6 person.  The houses that the 
applicant proposes accord with this advice although it is unclear how many bed spaces 
the flats will incorporate. 

Location – To be decided at Reserved matters stage but at 3.4 of the Affordable Housing 
Statement the applicant commits to the affordable housing being distributed across the 
development. 

Integration- Planning Policy CP3 of the Local Plan Part 1requires integration of the 
affordable housing and the applicant states that it is to be integrated within the street 
scene and at agreed clusters.  It is to be built at the same time as the rest of the 
development. In this regard the applicant`s attention is drawn to the current 
Supplementary Planning Document for Affordable Housing, Policy 3 which states that 
groupings should not be of more than 5 affordable dwellings although the design of the 
scheme and promoting informal resident interaction will be important considerations.

Sizes  - Affordable Housing is  to be built as required in Policy DM2 of the LPP2, namely 
to the sizes prescribed in the Nationally Described Space Standards, and, where practical 
and viable, to Part M4 Category 2 of the Building Regulations. The actual sizes of the 
properties will depend upon the number of bedrooms contained in each property and the 
reference to the Building Regulations concerns the adaptability of the properties.  In the 
Affordable Housing Statement at 3.6 the applicant stated that the affordable housing will 
be built to these standards.

Adaptability/wheelchair units – As described above the applicant is aware of the need to 
develop the affordable housing so that it is adaptable.  Planning policy also encourages 
the provision of wheelchair user accommodation and on a development of this nature a 
few should be provided. 

Delivery and Nominations – In the affordable housing statement, the affordable housing is 
to be delivered via a Registered Provider with nominations being provided to the Council.  
This approach is supported with the Council already having arrangements with many 

Page 28



Case No: 17/01528/OUT

Registered Providers in the Hampshire Home Choice scheme. 

Conclusions 
The applicant’s proposals are broadly supported in terms of the affordable housing and 
with a few slight amendments concerning the bedroom mix; and adherence to the 
commitments in the Affordable Housing Statement then the scheme can be very much 
supported.

Urban Design: No objection to the application. 
The proposal adheres to policy in terms of land use and location of development within 
the site and is acceptable in principle. The comments below remain incomplete at this 
stage until the locations of access points, routes and roundabouts are deemed 
acceptable by the Highways Officer.
Site and context.

The Sun Lane site is linear in form orientated north-south and subdivided into three main 
areas with the central area on higher ground sloping downwards to the northern and 
southern parts. Policy NA3, allocates 15 hectares for open space and burial ground on 
visually exposed higher grounds at the centre of the site and proposes developing 10 
hectares for housing to the north and 5 hectares for long-term employment needs to the 
south. Generally, the areas allocated for development are considerably concealed from 
distant views.

The site is bound by trees and hedges from all sides and the proposal should minimise 
any significantly changes to the boundaries unless there are opportunities to enhance the 
area with views and pedestrian links from the central open space across to the existing 
neighbourhoods to the west of the site. This will require identifying appropriate locations 
along the western boundary and providing landscape and urban design details.
The layout for the residential area proposed to the north creates an inward looking 
development that is disconnected from the large open space to the south due to the 
proposed east-west woodland feature and the prevailing east-west orientated streets and 
plots.

The residential area should integrate with the proposed open space to its south with 
distinct north-south connections and a looser arrangement of dwellings, which merge with 
the open space. This could be achieved by offering north-south orientated streets/‘fingers’ 
with houses facing east-west and sufficient space in between for landscape/woodland. 
This arrangement would improve the dwellings’ exposure to natural light and within 
private gardens and streets.

The site plan for the proposed employment area is largely indicative and development on 
individual plots would be incremental and could be incoherent as a result of the different 
uses and their varying needs in terms of floor space areas, heights, massing, etc. A 
masterplan with clear design guidance is strongly recommended to ensure that the site is 
consistently developed following established design principles. For example:
Office space (B1 Use) could be allocated to the north adjacent to the open space, which 
would in turn limit B2 and B8 uses to the south and east parts of the site away from the 
existing residential area and the public open space.
Buildings along the north part of the site could offer narrow frontages to minimise their
visual impact when seen from the open space and improve visual permeability allowing 

Page 29



Case No: 17/01528/OUT

views from the north through to the strong tree boundary along the south of the site.
Guidelines for car parking areas should also be established to focus on minimising their 
collective visual impact by locating them away from the open space and distributing them 
in different locations to the east, west and south of buildings.

Buildings with large footprints could offer green/brown roofs to reduce their environmental 
impact and soften their outlook.

The site plan indicates a strong boundary of trees and fencing between the employment 
area and the open space, which would isolate the site. A robust landscape strategy for 
this area, particularly along the northern part of this site would help integrate the buildings 
coherently with the open space and improve safety by:

Designing for natural surveillance to avoid strong perimeter boundaries and fencing 
where possible.

Using landscape to partially screen views from north to south while allowing visual 
permeability.

Creating pedestrian links from the employment area to the open space, to increase 
footfall and encourage pedestrian use.

Any modifications to access routes and roundabouts would result in changes in the form 
of development and its context and would therefore require further consultation advice. 
Nevertheless, it is important to highlight that the roundabout located within the 
employment area in the south cuts through the site and may require exploring 
alternatives or relocating it closer to the site’s southern edge.

Engineers: Hampshire County Council Highways: No objection to the application 
subject to the need for a legal agreement and conditions. 
Thank you for the opportunity to comment on the above application. Following a review of 
the Transport Assessment Addendum Revision A (TA), Technical Note (TN) and 
additional information submitted in support of the application, the highway authority wish 
to make the following comments in response to the points raised in the previous 
highways consultation. 
 
Presentation of Traffic Impact Data
The latest TA addendum has reduced the number of traffic scenarios to provide a more 
clear and robust assessment of the proposed development’s trip generation, distribution 
and impact on local junctions. This provides the clarity requested and is therefore 
accepted by the highway authority.  
 
Personal Injury Accident Data (PIAs)
Accident data has been provided for an additional year. The data shows that there were a 
further 2 ‘slight’ accidents between August 2016 and October 2017. The highway 
authority is therefore satisfied that the proposed development will not have an impact on 
the safety of the local highway network. 
Traffic Impact
 
Traffic Surveys
The traffic surveys undertaken by the developer have now been proven to be suitably 

Page 30



Case No: 17/01528/OUT

robust to capture existing traffic demands. 
 
Employment trip generation
At the request of the highway authority the applicant has confirmed that the Gross Floor 
Area (GFA) of the employment zone within the planning application is 10,814sqm.  This is 
the figure that the highway authority is using to assess the traffic impacts of the 
development and the planning authority will also need to satisfy themselves that this is 
correct. The employment development trip rates and predicted vehicle trips shown in 
Table 4.3 are therefore deemed to be robust. 
 
Traffic Distribution
As set out above, the traffic distribution has now been simplified using a single scenario 
for the development traffic flows and a 50/50 split has been used to asses the route from 
the site and the B3046 (the blue and maroon routes). 
 
The errors on the flow diagrams and Table 3.4 of the TAA have been amended and the 
highway authority is therefore satisfied that these are robust and that the 
ARCADY/PICADY assessments are accurate. The analysis indicates that all junctions will 
operate well within capacity.  
 
Whilst it has been shown that Nursery Road will remain within capacity with the 
redistribution of traffic, there is still a material increase in traffic which, based on the most 
robust flows used for Nursery Road, will see up to c. 60 additional vehicles during the 
peak hours. This includes traffic from existing residents routing to the new junction on the 
A31. It is noted that, even taking into account the on-street parking on this route, the total 
resulting traffic would be less than the theoretical link capacity for a road of this nature.  
The increase in traffic also does not result in a severe impact on the operation of the 
junctions at either end of Nursery Road and the highway authority are satisfied that the 
traffic impact on Nursery Road can be accommodated..  
 
It is noted that the previous scenario’s within the previous submissions did apportion 
100% of traffic flows on each route and the assessments indicated that there would not 
be a severe impact upon the highway network. 
 
Plate 5.3 has been amended to demonstrate journey times from both the St Swithun’s 
Way roundabout to the west and the B3047/Old Park Road roundabout to the east and 
this therefore provides a more clear explanation of this assessment and assists in 
identifying which existing areas may route through the new junction on the A31.    
 
Journey time data has been used to assess the likelihood of vehicles routing through the 
Alresford area and using the new A31 junction to reach destinations east and west on the 
A31. The journey times indicate that it is unlikely that the new junction would have an 
impact on the route choices of those who pass nearby to Alresford on their journey as 
alternate, existing routes exist that would be both quicker and shorter in distance. As 
such, we deem that the impact on the B3046 and Tichborne Down from traffic routing 
through to the new junction on the A31 would be minimal as traffic would use alternate 
routes.  
 
Additional Highway Design
Further detailed drawings of the additional highway works shown in Section 7 and 
appendices of the TAA have been provided to display the proposed footways and swept 

Page 31



Case No: 17/01528/OUT

path analysis of the school access junction.
 
The Technical Note recently submitted has amended the school access proposals. The 
‘loop’ feature is no longer provided and the school will now only be accessed from the 
realigned Sun Lane, not the residential roundabout. The school access will need to be 
designed to allow for coaches to enter and leave the school site, from Sun Lane, in a 
forward gear.
 
The zebra crossing facilities previously proposed have been amended to dropped kerbs 
with tactile paving. This is to be implemented on all arms of the residential roundabout to 
provide sufficient crossing points in the vicinity of the residential area and school.
 
As outlined within the Technical Note, the ‘Park and Stride’ location is to be moved further 
north along Sun Lane to account for the vertical alignment in the area. This does not form 
part of this application, however, a S106 obligation will be recommended to ensure that 
this is provided in a location to be agreed with HCC. 
 
The new connection from Whitehill Lane to the proposed business park has not been 
demonstrated to be suitable as indicated on Iceni drawing number 16-T081 30 dated 
14/2/18. HCC feel that a suitable connection can be achieved to the business park within 
the constraints and consider the connection identified on this drawing to be indicative, 
with the final connection to be determined as part of a detailed design process.  
 
Pedestrian Infrastructure
Whilst it is acknowledged that a suitable route for pedestrians and cyclists exists from the 
site along Nursery Road to the centre of Alresford, an alternative route exists from Sun 
Lane and then via a footpath that eventually leads through the church grounds. The 
developer is offering a contribution of £20,000 for surfacing / low level lighting as required 
to improve the amenity of this route. 
 
Travel Plan
The Framework Travel Plans submitted previously is not fully compliant with Hampshire 
County Council requirements. There are a number of amendments that will need to be 
made before they can be accepted. The full comments on both the residential and 
employment travel plans will be forwarded to the applicant separately to this response. 
We would expect these comments to be resolved prior to completing the S106 legal 
agreement. 
 
Recommendation
The additional information submitted has adequately addressed the concerns raised in 
the highway authority’s previous substantive response.  
 
Having regard to the above HCC raise no objection to this proposal from a highways and 
transportation perspective, subject to the need for conditions, and subject to the applicant 
entering into a Section 106 Legal Agreement to secure the agreed package of mitigation:

Head of Environmental Protection: No objection to the application subject to 
conditions.

The Air Quality Assessment submitted by Ramboll Environ, dated February 2018 has 

Page 32



Case No: 17/01528/OUT

been assessed. The air quality assessment focuses primarily on long-term air quality 
from road traffic use (NO2 and PM10) and shorter-term air quality impacts caused by 
dust during the construction phase. The assessment concludes that the impacts from 
predicted road traffic movements will have a slight to moderate impact on existing 
dwellings on Sun Lane but the increase in NO2 will still be well within the UK Air Quality 
Objective levels. Therefore there are no adverse comments to make regarding this 
element of the proposals.

Dust during the construction phase has been identified as having the potential to cause a 
significant impact and a table of mitigation measures was included in the assessment 
(Table 6.1). It would therefore be expected any adverse impacts of dust during the 
construction phase could be adequately addressed by incorporating any recommended 
mitigation measures into a submitted Construction Management Plan. 

The Noise and Vibration Assessment also submitted by Ramboll Environ which has 
measured existing noise levels within the development site and at nearby locations has 
been assessed. The report has predicted noise levels during the construction phase and 
longer-term noise from increased traffic movements. 

The noise assessment has acknowledged that there will be significant noise and vibration 
generated during the construction phase and has recommended mitigation measures to 
limit this impact (Section 3.4) which again can be managed through the inclusion of these 
recommendations into any submitted Construction Management Plan.

The noise assessment has also predicted road traffic noise levels for both existing noise 
sensitive receptors and proposed residential dwellings. The assessment shows marginal 
increases in noise from road traffic to existing dwellings along Sun Lane but at levels 
which are not considered significant.
The impact of the proposed industrial area has been harder to predict as this really needs 
to be addressed on a case-by-case basis. In general, it is preferable that B2 and B8 uses 
are located as far from residential dwellings as reasonably practicable.  The applicant 
should be advised :

• Future B1, B2 and B8 uses should be located (position and orientation) in a 
manner which minimises any noise impacts to both existing and proposed residential 
dwellings.
 All plant and machinery should be installed and operated to achieve between 5-

10dB below measured background noise levels.
 Outside working should be prohibited, unless it can be demonstrated that there is 

no adverse noise impact on surrounding noise sensitive receptors.
 Hours of working and opening should be restricted to daytime only unless it can 

be demonstrated that there will be no adverse impact on noise sensitive 
receptors.

 Conditions to cover the following should be included;
 Scheme to protect dwellings from external noise.
 A noise validation report, demonstrating compliance with these noise 

criteria
 Details of telecommunications/air conditioning/refrigeration/compressing 

equipment to be used.
 Submission of a Construction Management Plan.

Page 33



Case No: 17/01528/OUT

 Hours of operation
 No works outside commercial premises
 No burning on site
 Contaminated land conditions. 

Head of Landscape Ecology: No objection to the application subject to conditions. 
Following the submission of details in response to the query on hedgerow/vegetation 
removal and how this could impact protected species – dormice….

No objection subject to suitably worded conditions and details of mitigation measures.

Protected species surveys will be updated prior to and during implementation to ensure 
that mitigation strategies remain up to date throughout, and the Aluco Ecological Report 
(plus all updates and additional information) and Environmental Statement will be 
adhered to and implemented in full.

The Flood Risk Assessment and Drainage Strategy shall be adhered to in full.
A CEMP shall be submitted to the LPA for approval prior to commencement or any 
preparatory works.

A Biodiversity Mitigation and Enhancement Plan will be submitted to the LPA for approval 
prior to commencement or any preparatory works. 

Head of Strategic Planning: No objection to the application. 
The Development Plan:  
Winchester District Local Plan Part 1:Joint Core Strategy – Adopted March 2013; 
Winchester District Local Plan Part 2: Development Management and Site Allocations - 
Adopted April 2017;
Hampshire Waste & Minerals Plan – Adopted October 2013.    

The LPP1 was formally adopted by the Council on 20 March 2013.  The following policies 
are particularly relevant to this application:

DS1 – Development Strategy and Principles
MTRA1 – Development Strategy for Market Towns and Rural Area
MTRA2 – Market Towns and Larger Villages
MTRA4 – Development in the Countryside
CP1 – Housing Provision
CP2 – Housing Mix
CP3 – Affordable Housing
CP6 – Local Facilities and Services
CP7 – Open Space, Sport & Recreation
CP8 – Economic Growth
CP10 – Transport
CP11 – Sustainable Low and Zero Carbon Built Development
CP13 – High Quality Design
CP14 – Effective Uses of Land
CP15 – Green Infrastructure
CP16 – Biodiversity 
CP17 – Flooding
CP20 – Heritage and Landscape Character 

Page 34



Case No: 17/01528/OUT

CP21 – Infrastructure and Community Benefit

The LPP1 development strategy sets the requirement for the overall housing growth in 
the District at 12,500 dwellings between 2011 and 2031.  It focuses substantial growth in 
three strategic allocations (W of Waterlooville, N Whiteley and N Winchester) whilst 
setting targets for more limited growth in the larger villages, including Alresford, of 500 
dwelling dwellings (policy MTRA2).  The Plan emphasises the importance of providing 
affordable housing and an appropriate dwelling mix (CP2, CP3) and of maintaining or 
improving the local economy and facilities (MTRA2, CP6, CP7, CP8).  Proposals should 
be acceptable in terms of open space provision, transport, sustainable construction, 
design, flood risk, and landscape/heritage impact, and provide a net gain in green 
infrastructure and biodiversity, and achieve efficient use of land and infrastructure 
provision (CP7, CP10, CP11, CP13, CP14, CP15, CP16, CP17, CP20, CP21).

The overall provision for the Market Towns and Rural Area is about 2,500 new homes. 
Policy MTRA2 proposes a housing target of “about 500 new homes” for Alresford over 
the plan period 2011-2031.  LPP1 expects the development needed to meet its 
requirements to be within settlement boundaries or for these to be reviewed, where 
necessary, through a plan-led process - Policy MTRA2 states that ‘housing…. should be 
accommodated through development and redevelopment opportunities within existing 
settlement boundaries first.  Sites outside settlement boundaries will only be permitted 
where, following an assessment of capacity within the built-up area, they are shown to be 
needed, or to meet a community need….’  

This approach is amplified in paragraph 6.20 of the explanatory text and was supported 
by the LPP1 Inspector’s Report (paragraph 110): ‘All individual land allocations and site 
specific issues…. are essentially matters for LP2.  This includes the review of all MTRA2 
settlement and gap boundaries, taking account of the above, as part of a plan led 
approach, in accord with the NPPF.’

Local Plan Part 2: Development Management and Site Allocations

Local Plan Part 2 was adopted in April 2017, replacing the ‘saved’ policies of the 2006 
Local Plan Review.  The following policies are particularly relevant to this application:

NA3 – Sun Lane Mixed Use Allocation
DM2 – Dwelling Sizes
DM6 – Open Space Provision
DM15 – Local Distinctiveness
DM16 – Site Design Criteria
DM17 – Site Development Principles
DM18 – Access and Parking
DM26 – Archaeology 

The Local Plan Part 2 assessed sites to meet the LPP1 housing requirement of about 
500 dwellings at Alresford, as required by LPP1.  Land at Sun Lane was included in the 
assessments and performed well on the assessment criteria, being well-located to 
provide for a range of needs.  As a result, Local Plan Part 2 allocates a large area of land 
at Sun Lane for a mixture of uses, principally about 10 hectares of residential 
development (approx. 325 dwellings), 5 hectares of employment uses (and access), and 
15 hectares of informal and recreational open space (policy NA3).  Policy NA3 includes 
the following requirements:

Page 35



Case No: 17/01528/OUT

Nature & Phasing of Development
A masterplan establishing the disposition of uses for the whole allocated area should be 
produced.  It is noted that a detailed Design and Access Statement has been submitted, 
which sets out the evolution of the development masterplan and proposes key principles 
and parameters.  The resulting masterplan appears to satisfy the key requirements of 
policy NA3 regarding the disposition of uses and areas proposed.  The overall site area 
set out in the submitted ‘Schedule of Areas’ is slightly larger than the Local Plan 
allocation, due to the inclusion of the new A31 access, and there is a slightly smaller area 
of housing and larger area of open space proposed.  These variations are not considered 
significant given that the broad levels of housing, open space and employment proposed 
in policy NA3 are being achieved.  The scheme is for 320 dwellings, which is consistent 
with the Local Plan allocation for ‘about 325 dwellings’.  
The proposed level of affordable housing equates to 40%, as required by Policy CP3.  
The Affordable Housing Statement submitted with the application also proposes to follow 
the 70/30 split of affordable rented/intermediate housing proposed by LPP1 policy CP3.  
The mix of units and arrangements to ensure it is provided in step with the market 
housing are matters for others to comment on, but the resulting provision will need to be 
secured by a S106 obligation.
The boundaries between the various land uses shown in the Design & Access Statement 
follow those set out on the Local Plan Policies Map but, as this is an outline application, it 
will be important to fix these to ensure they reflect the Local Plan allocation.  This should 
also include the ‘parameters plan’ section and other relevant parts of the Design & 
Access Statement so that the key principles are established (other consultees can advise 
on whether the more detailed design elements need also to be secured through 
conditions/S106s).  
The Design and Access Statement includes an illustrative phasing plan, which also follow 
the requirements of the policy.  This proposes that the new access and changes to Sun 
Lane comprise Phase 1, along with the early stage of employment development and the 
main open space area.  This means that serviced land for business use will be made 
available before any housing, which forms Phase 2 onwards, as required by NA3.  As this 
is an outline application, a S106 obligation and/or planning conditions will be needed to 
ensure that the proposed phasing programme is followed and that particular requirements 
are met before other elements start (e.g. that the new A31 access is developed in 
advance of the employment area, as these are both defined as ‘Phase 1’).  
Access
The Local Plan sets out various access requirements, including a new access from the 
A31 (to be provided at the start of development), improved pedestrian and cycle access 
into the town centre and other areas, measures to discourage use of nearby residential 
roads, and a transport assessment including off-site improvements to be provided.  The 
Highway Authority will assess these matters, which are likely to need S106 or S278 
agreements to secure their provision or funding at the appropriate stage.  The impact of 
any transport works on the landscape and existing housing, particularly the new access 
with the A31, will require careful consideration and treatment which other consultees will 
no doubt comment on. 
Environmental
Policy NA3 requires landscape boundaries around the site to be retained and reinforced, 
including provision of a suitable boundary on the western edge of the site to provide a 
buffer with existing housing.  It also requires the provision of about 15 hectares of open 
space in the central part of the site and open space as appropriate within the housing 
area.  The Design & Access Statement suggests 16.84ha of open space will be provided 
in total and its landscape principles appear consistent with the Local Plan’s requirements.  

Page 36



Case No: 17/01528/OUT

It proposes that there should be two large recreational meadows and a diversity of 
habitats.  However, there may also be local needs and preferences for other types of 
recreational open space and the local community should be able to have a major 
influence on the type of open spaces to be provided and their location.  The preference 
would be for these to be laid out and equipped as necessary by the applicant, with the 
land dedicated to the Town Council along with a commuted sum for future maintenance 
(to reflect the types of open space provided).  
In any event, a S106 obligation will be needed to secure provision of the types of open 
space to be provided (or reserved), and their timing, along with the necessary 
requirements to maintain it in perpetuity.  As the open space is needed to meet the 
requirements of Policy NA3, it is not eligible to be considered as ‘Payment in Kind’ in lieu 
of any of the CIL contribution which will be required.  CIL should be paid in full at the rate 
that is current at the time.
Other Infrastructure
Policy NA3 requires connection to the nearest point of adequate sewerage capacity and 
the means of connecting/upgrading the network will need to be agreed with Southern 
Water and be subject to a condition or S106 obligation (it is noted that Southern Water 
have commented and suggested relevant conditions).  The Groundwater Protection Zone 
will also need to be protected and a condition/obligation may be necessary, depending on 
the measures required.
The proposal is required to contribute to the expansion of the Sun Hill Infants and Junior 
Schools.  The application proposes a re-alignment of Sun Lane and a new/improved 
drop-off/parking area or open area for the Schools.  As this is required to ensure a 
satisfactory layout and safe access arrangements it should be secured by means of 
conditions or S106/S278.  It will be for the Education Authority to advise on the need for 
additional parking and open areas and what level of financial contribution is necessary 
and justified to help fund an appropriate expansion of the Schools.  Any works or financial 
contributions will need to be secured through a S106 obligation (as provided for by the 
CIL Regulation 123 List), including any phasing requirements that may be necessary.
The Local Plan also requires other infrastructure to be provided to make the development 
acceptable in planning terms. It is noted that a Utilities Assessment Report has been 
submitted and any requirements identified, or which emerge through consultations, will 
need to be secured through planning conditions or S106 obligations.  The main access is 
to be from a new junction with the A31 and measures are needed to improve pedestrian, 
cycle and public transport provision and manage traffic to minimise the impact on nearby 
residential roads.  Others will comment on the adequacy of the measures proposed.  The 
existing landscaped boundaries are proposed to be retained and reinforced.  The layout 
and boundary treatment proposed appear to protect the amenities of the existing housing 
closest to the employment area. 

Other LPP2 policies require appropriate dwelling sizes (DM2), adequate open space 
provision (DM6), appropriate design (DM15-DM17), suitable access and parking (DM18), 
and the assessment of potential archaeological impacts (DM26).  It may also be 
necessary to consider the impact of the development in terms of noise and pollution 
generation (policies DM10-DM20).
Hampshire Minerals & Waste Plan
Policy 15 – Safeguarding Mineral Resources.
The application site lies outside the Minerals Safeguarding Area as set out in the 
Hampshire Minerals & Waste Plan. 
Other Material Considerations
The NPPF promotes a presumption in favour of sustainable development, but substantial 

Page 37



Case No: 17/01528/OUT

weight should be given to Local Plan policies where the Council can show an adequate 
and up to date supply of housing land (NPPF paragraph 49). The Council is currently able 
to demonstrate a 5-year supply of housing land (including a 5% ‘buffer’), and the other 
requirements of paragraph 47 (objectively assessed need, land supply, etc) are satisfied. 
NPPF paragraph 14 is clear that the presumption in favour of sustainable development 
relates to proposals that accord with the development plan.  As LPP1 and LPP2 are 
relevant and up to date, the final bullet point of paragraph 14 does not apply.
The Alresford Town Design Statement was adopted as a Supplementary Planning 
Document in 2008 and is a material consideration.  SPDs have also been adopted in 
relation to Affordable Housing, Residential Parking Standards, and High Quality Places, 
which are also material planning considerations.
Assessment
The application is for residential, employment and open space development including a 
new access to the A31, as envisaged by LPP2 Policy NA3.  LPP2 has been subject to 
examination by an independent Inspector, who has confirmed that Policy NA3 is ‘sound’.  
The LPP2 was adopted on 5 April 2017 and forms part of the Development Plan, so 
should be given substantial weight.
The material submitted, particularly the Design & Access Statement and its illustrative 
masterplan, parameters plan and phasing plan follow the broad requirements of policy 
NA3 (other consultees will comment on matters of detail).  The application also meets the 
overall policy requirements in terms of affordable housing (LPP1 Policy CP3) and these 
will require a S106 obligation to secure.  The submitted material does not appear to 
specify the type and mix of housing proposed, so conditions are likely to be needed to 
control this to ensure compliance with LPP1 Policy CP2.  Local Plan Part 1 policy CP11 
expects high standards of sustainability but recent Government announcements mean 
that Code Level 4 for energy would be accepted, which should be secured by planning 
conditions, along with BREEAM requirements for the employment site.  Other consultees 
will also no doubt comment on the acceptability of the proposal in relation to open space 
provision, transport, design, landscape impact, biodiversity, drainage/flooding, and 
infrastructure provision (LPP1 policies CP7, CP10, CP13, CP14, CP15, CP16, CP17, 
CP20, CP21).
Conclusion
The site is allocated for a mix of housing, employment and open space by LPP2 (Policy 
NA3).  LPP2 has been examined and found to be ‘sound’ and was adopted in April 2017, 
so forms part of the statutory Development Plan and carries corresponding weight.  
Policy NA3 sets out various requirements which will need to be met, along with the 
requirements of other more general policies on affordable housing, access, etc.  
The Design & Access Statement includes an illustrative masterplan, parameters plan and 
phasing plan which all follow and develop the broad requirements of policy NA3.  The 
principles of the proposed development therefore reflect the requirements of LPP2 policy 
NA3 and other general policy requirements. Other consultees will no doubt comment on 
various other specialist policy areas/requirements such as landscape impact, transport, 
open space provision, etc.  
In order to ensure that the various policy requirements are secured, S106/S278 
obligations and planning conditions will be needed, including:

 S106 obligations/condition to ensure that the illustrative masterplan, parameters 
plan and phasing plan are followed.  More detailed matters may need to be 
included, e.g. to ensure that employment land is not developed until the new A31 
access is provided.

 Provision or funding for other necessary on- or off-site transport measures 
including pedestrian, cycle and public transport improvements and traffic 

Page 38



Case No: 17/01528/OUT

management on nearby residential roads;
 Requirements to provide, lay out and maintain in perpetuity the on-site open space 

to be provided (or reserved) within any part of the site, including the necessary 
commuted payments;

 Securing the amount, type and tenure of affordable housing required by policy 
CP3;

 Connection to / upgrading of the sewerage network at a suitable point, to be 
agreed with Southern Water, and measures for protecting the Groundwater 
Protection Zone;

 Contributions to the expansion of the Sun Hill Infants and Junior Schools, to be 
agreed with the Education Authority, including the scale and timing of any works or 
financial contributions;

 The re-alignment of Sun Lane and provision of a new/improved drop-off and 
parking area for the Schools.

Other consultees will comment on other policy requirements and additional planning 
conditions or S106/S278 obligations may be needed to address the points raised.
Overall, the application proposals accord closely with the key requirements of policy NA3 
and other development plan policies, subject to the comments of specialist consultees 
and the imposition of appropriate conditions/planning obligations.

Engineers Drainage: no objection to the application. 
Due to the size of the development HCC will have to consult on the surface water 
strategy, and I see that this is already underway with HCC passing back initial comments.

With regards to foul drainage, the comprehensive FRA makes mention of foul capacity 
issues in the main SW system, with the solution offered being the provision of two 
pumping stations and a brand new dedicated off site rising main to overcome the capacity 
issue, with SW building the offsite rising main. Therefore, for me to accept this as a 
potential strategy, I will need to see;

1. Confirmation from SW that they agree to this as a solution.
2. Confirmation from SW that this will overcome any capacity issues.
3. Confirmation from SW that they have agreed in principle to provide the offsite 
rising main.
4. If the developer is looking for SW to adopt the on site system, I will need to see 
that they intend to get the on site systems/pumps built to an adoptable standard in 
consultation with SW. If they don’t intend to get the onsite infrastructure adopted, then we 
will need to see how the system is going to be managed and maintained in the future, 
and how funds will be raised to pay for it. 

If outline permission were to be granted, I will need to see a detailed foul drainage layout, 
long sections, and specifications for the foul sewers.

Historic Environment Team Leader - Archaeology: no objection to the application 
subject to conditions being imposed to cover the following;

1. Submission of a written scheme of investigation;
2. Submission of a report following archaeological fieldwork.
3. Submission of site investigation and post investigation assessment.

Key issues:
1. The preservation, conservation, investigation and recording of archaeological 

Page 39



Case No: 17/01528/OUT

interest (Policy DM26 Winchester District Local Plan Part 2; Policy CP20 Winchester 
District Joint Core Strategy; NPPF Section 12).
Comments:
Archaeological background:
This outline application follows an earlier pre-application submission and a request for an 
EIA screening opinion. Further to previous discussions with the applicant’s archaeological 
consultant, the following reports have been received and accepted; 
- Development Archaeology Services Ltd, February 2014, An Archaeological Desk 
Based Assessment of Land to the East of Sun Lane, New Alresford, Hampshire.  
- Archaeological Surveys Ltd, Feb 2016, Land to the east of Sun Lane, New 
Alresford, Hampshire: Magnetometer Survey Report (Report ref. 642). 
- Development Archaeology Services Ltd, May 2016, Summary report on the results 
of an archaeological evaluation (pre-determination) on part of the site area to the East of 
Sun Lane, Alresford, Hampshire.
Archaeology and Heritage is addressed in Chapter 11 of the Environmental Statement 
submitted for this application (the geophysical survey and evaluation trenching reports 
form Appendix 11.1 of the ES). 
Copies of these documents have been submitted as part of this application. Full 
archaeological background to the site is contained within these reports, however in 
summary the site is known to contain; 

- The north-eastern part of the site contains a group of three ring ditches, aligned 
roughly north-south, previously known from aerial photographs and confirmed by the 
geophysical survey.  The archaeological evaluation trenching carried out within the north-
eastern part of the site has confirmed that the ring ditches are related to prehistoric (likely 
Bronze Age) burial monuments. 
- Within the central ring ditch a number of features likely to form grave cuts were 
identified; one contained a single articulated human skeleton. These may also date to the 
Bronze Age, but a later period of re-use of the ring ditches (which would have had an 
attendant earthwork mound originally) as a focus for burial is also a possibility. 
- Other ovoid and circular features identified in the evaluation may also be related to 
the burial monument. 
- The remains of all three ring ditches and other features identified in the evaluation 
work, including the articulated skeleton within a grave cut, have been heavily truncated, 
probably due to ploughing
- Beyond the area of the ring ditches, other anomalies identified by the geophysical 
survey indicate a group of pit like features; although it is not certain if these have an 
archaeological origin, as well as former field boundaries and parallel linear features in the 
south of the site which may relate to former lynchets. A large anomaly identified by the 
geophysical survey in the NE corner of the site was found to be a former quarry during 
the archaeological evaluation. Some of the anomalies have proven to be result of variable 
geology within the site. 
Consideration:
Although important archaeological remains have been identified within the NE corner of 
the site (Bronze Age burial monuments and secondary burials), these only survive as 
sub-surface features, with all traces of upstanding earthwork remains now gone. The 
evidence for plough damage to the sub-surface remains also lessens their significance, 
such that they are not considered to be nationally important. The surviving remains do 
however retain important evidential values which will require mitigation. This is 
acknowledged in Section 11.5 of the ES and in the supporting archaeological evaluation 
report. 

Page 40



Case No: 17/01528/OUT

Given the nature and preservation state of the archaeological remains identified in the 
northern and southern parts of the site are not considered to form an overriding 
constraint. Similarly, any archaeological remains present in the central part of the site are 
unlikely to be deemed worthy of preservation and thus form an overriding constraint. 
Accordingly there is no objection in principle to the proposal on archaeological grounds.
Section 11.5 of the ES sets out a series of mitigation measures, which have been 
previously discussed and agreed with myself. These mitigation measures can be secured 
via appropriately worded conditions as set out above. 
Given the likely duration of this development, which is to be carried out in 6 development 
phases with additional landscape infrastructure work (Broadway Malyan Illustrative 
Phasing Plan - Dwg 28504 421 Rev D dated Nov 16), it is important that archaeological 
mitigation measures are fully integrated into the ‘Construction Programme and Phasing’ 
and the ‘Construction Management Plan’ for this development. 
It is particularly important that archaeological mitigation measures are considered and 
fully implemented ahead of  any site preparation, infrastructure or other enabling works, 
or, in the implantation of other mitigation measures (such as for ecology etc) for  each 
development phase. 

Head of Landscape: No objection to the application. 
The principles set out in Policy NA3 appear to be met by the outline proposals put 
forward, including strengthening landscape boundaries to the east and west. The LVIA 
clearly demonstrates that views of the development, whilst certainly possible from the 
wider landscape, are minimised by the positioning of housing and employment land in the 
lower parts of the site. Having said this, strategic tree planting will be necessary to soften 
any visual impacts, particularly of the employment land, which is likely to be more visually 
intrusive by its nature.
Employment Land
The masterplan shows an indicative layout for the employment land that shows car 
parking fronting the open space. Given the fantastic resource the open space provides, 
this layout would benefit from a redesign, placing buildings and people immediately 
adjacent to the open space, where they can benefit from a view over the natural 
landscape, and a direct connection with it (for taking breaks and eating lunch/exercising). 
This would create a unique character to the business park that is rarely found in this type 
of development. Opportunities for a café (ground floor or rooftop) may also develop as a 
result of these changes, which would benefit workers during office hours, and also add a 
positive selling point for the developer.
The masterplan indicates a 20m buffer between existing housing and new employment 
land, but the size of the buffer needs to be relative to the final building heights, so may 
need to be bigger.
SuDS
The masterplan provides very little detail in relation to SuDS and worryingly labels one 
area to the north and one to the south (10 on the masterplan) as ‘SuDS’ and another area 
(8) as an area of open space to allow for natural flow of surface water…then culverted 
through the site to the attenuation basin. Three SuDS features are not an adequate way 
to deal with surface water runoff in a scheme on this size. A fully integrated SuDS system 
will be necessary to ensure that surface water is adequately dealt with on site and that 
the scheme does not result in huge engineered inaccessible attenuation basins being 
necessary to deal with water. A fully integrated SuDS system should include streetscape 
swales and ponds, intermediary basins at key intervals, where there could also be an 
opportunity for accessible open space during drier weather, and smaller basins at the end 
of the system that can also function as useable open space. No basin or pond on site 

Page 41



Case No: 17/01528/OUT

should have sides that exceed 1:3 gradient, to ensure that they meet current Industry 
Guidance (see CIRIA SUDS Manual). No fencing of SuDS features should be necessary 
and all SuDS features should be multi-functional – enhancing biodiversity through careful 
planting, offering opportunities for play and recreation, as we as dealing with surface 
water.
We will expect to see a SuDS Strategy submitted alongside any reserved matters 
application relating to drainage, landscape or ecology.
Housing layout
The housing layout follows a ‘parking court’ approach to street design that is outdated 
and has been proved unsuccessful across the country. Residents are reluctant to use 
parking courts, preferring to bump up on kerbs in front of their houses, which causes 
access problems along streets and damage to verges and paving/kerbs. Properly 
designed on-street parking, integrated with tree planting and hedges to break up the hard 
landscape is much more likely to be successful. Overspill landscaped parking areas that 
front the roadside can offer a way of dealing with the number of vehicles required for 
each home (typically 2 cars per household for flats and 2 to 3 bedroom houses, and 3 or 
4 for larger homes) and are more likely to be used than parking courts as they are seen 
as safer places to park due to natural surveillance. 
Flats over garages are another issue that has proven problematic in recent years, with 
owners/occupiers struggling to get insurance to cover their flats and the garages beneath, 
or garages with flat above, which is a requirement of occupancy. These flats also tend to 
be isolated within parking courts with no outside space, surrounded by cars, which does 
not represent high quality design. Given that few people use their garages for parking, it 
would make more sense to omit the garages and provide parking spaces and small 1 bed 
terraced houses instead that can then benefit from a small yard offering some private 
outside space.
One of the most worrying aspect of the layout, that has also been picked up by the 
Council’s Urban Designer, is that the housing turns its back on the open space. A huge 
treed buffer is proposed between the southernmost houses and the open space, which 
removes the opportunity for casual surveillance and deprives homeowners of outstanding 
views up the hill and beyond. Whilst it is important to ensure that the residents here are 
not unduly affected by users of the open space, there are much more creative ways of 
doing this.
The other aspect of the housing layout that does not sit well in the context of Sun Lane is 
the proposal to use flats as a ‘gateway’ feature on the western entrance. Sun Lane is 
made up of 2 storey houses and therefore flats immediately fronting Sun Lane are not 
appropriate as they are contrary to local character. 
Open Space and Boundaries
The proposed green fingers (12) through the site would limit views out from the open 
space and therefore tree planting needs to be more carefully planned to make the most of 
views out of the site. The ‘enhanced woodland feature’ on the eastern edge of the site 
doesn’t appear to be any bigger than existing, so more information will be required on this 
to demonstrate how it is enhanced.
At the junction proposed to the southern end of Sun Lane there may need to be additional 
strengthening of the boundary vegetation due to the loss of vegetation where the new 
connection is proposed. At present the masterplan shows an avenue of trees extending 
to the junction, and continuing southwards. Around the junction this will need to be 
altered to form more of a copse to ensure that any impacts on the properties to the west 
of Sun Lane are minimised.
The masterplan doesn’t give enough detail to ascertain how existing hedgerows will be 
dealt with, but we expect all existing hedgerows to be kept unless there are compelling 

Page 42



Case No: 17/01528/OUT

arguments for their removal/access points to be created. This is because significant 
arable margin species have been recorded in this area, and these are supported by the 
hedgerows.
Play Areas
The masterplan proposes a play area in a central open space within the development. 
The noise generated by play areas in a courtyard setting can cause social conflict and we 
would suggest that an informal ‘play garden’ would be better placed here. It may offer 
informal play for toddlers and very young children, but otherwise would simply offer a 
pleasant place to sit and spend time, and as a visual break from the hard landscape. 
Larger equipped play areas are better suited to the large open spaces in the centre of the 
site. 
A play strategy must be provided alongside other landscape and layout information and 
should detail informal opportunities for play, as well as formal opportunities and 
connections between these and people’s homes.

Environment Agency: No objection in principle to the proposed development. 
We can confirm that the Environment Agency has no objection in principle to the 
proposed development as submitted; however, we request that a planning condition be 
attached to any planning permission granted to ensure that no infiltration of surface water 
drainage into the ground is permitted without consent. This condition is necessary in 
order to make the development acceptable.  Without this condition, the proposed 
development on this site poses an unacceptable risk to the environment and we would 
object to the application. The comments are based on the assumption that foul drainage 
is connecting to the mains.
This development site is a greenfield site currently in use for agriculture, which overlies 
the Blandford Chalk Principal Aquifer. Superficial Head and Clay-with-flints deposits are 
present across some of the central part of the development site. The far south western 
corner of the site lies within the Source Protection Zone 1. There is a licensed 
groundwater abstraction at the Alresford Golf Club (Lic: 11/42/22.1/146) just to the south 
of the proposed site boundary.
 
The future use of the proposed development site presents a medium risk of 
contamination that could be mobilised by surface water infiltration from the proposed 
sustainable drainage system (SuDS) leading to pollution of controlled waters. Controlled 
waters are particularly sensitive in this location because the proposed development site is 
within Source Protection Zone 1 and is located upon a Principal aquifer.

Whilst we would not object to the use of SuDs within the SPZ1 we expect the developer 
to incorporate suitable level of pollution prevention measures into the drainage design to 
ensure that groundwater and drinking water supplies are protected. Section 1.0 of The 
Non-Technical Summary dated June 2017 shows a plan of the development and 
indicates the use of SUDS in the south western part of the site within the Source 
Protection Zone.

With regards to clean roof water, we have no objection to this being discharged to 
ground. However surface water drainage from car parking areas and roads has the 
potential to contain pollutants and hazardous substances. We would expect a risk 
assessment to be carried out to determine the level of treatment required prior to the 
water from these areas being discharged to ground. We would like to direct the developer 
to the Ciria SuDs manual C753 where industry best practice is provided. It provides 
further information and guidance on risk assessment and the likely level of treatment 

Page 43



Case No: 17/01528/OUT

needed for such sites. This can be found at http://www.susdrain.org/
 
A letter from Southern Water dated 13th July 2017 states that they cannot accommodate 
the needs of this application without the development providing additional infrastructure 
for foul water. It also states that there are no public surface water sewers in the area to 
serve this development.  
 
The Flood Risk Assessment and Drainage Strategy (dated 1st June 2017 Ref: 
1620001830/ENV/R03) states that additional infrastructure will be put in place and foul 
water will go to the Alresford WWTW. We advise that prior to planning permission being 
obtained, confirmation is sought for the proposed foul and surface water drainage.

Our comments on this application are based on the assumption that foul drainage 
is connecting to mains.  Should this not be the case we would like to be 
reconsulted.

Sport England: No objection to the application.
Thank you for consulting Sport England on the above application. Sport England provides 
the following comments for your consideration.
The site is not considered to form part of, or constitute a playing field as defined The 
Town and Country Planning (Development Management Procedure) (England) Order 
2015 (Statutory Instrument 2015 No. 595), therefore Sport England has considered this a 
non-statutory consultation. It is understood that Winchester City Council is a Community 
Infrastructure Levy (CIL) charging authority and as such, the proposed development is 
required to provide CIL contribution in accordance with the Councils adopted CIL 
Charging Schedule.

It is acknowledged that there is no requirement to identify where those CIL monies will be 
directed as part of the determination of any application. That said, Sport England would 
encourage the Council to consider the sporting needs arising from the development as 
well as the needs identified in its Infrastructure Delivery Plan (or similar) and direct those 
monies to deliver new and improved facilities for sport.

Sport England, in conjunction with Public Health England, has produced ‘Active Design’ 
(October 2015), a guide to planning new developments that create the right environment 
to help people get more active, more often in the interests of health and wellbeing. The 
guidance sets out ten key principles for ensuring new developments incorporate 
opportunities for people to take part in sport and physical activity. The Active Design 
principles are aimed at contributing towards the Government’s desire for the planning 
system to promote healthy communities through good urban design. Sport England would 
commend the use of the guidance in the master planning process for new residential 
developments. The document can be downloaded via the following link:
http://www.sportengland.org/facilities-planning/planning-for-sport/planning-tools-and-
guidance/activedesign/
The comments made in response to this application and the absence of an objection to 
this application in the context of the Town and Country Planning Acts, does not in any 
way commit Sport England’s or any National Governing Body of Sport’s support for any 
related application for grants funding.

Highways England: No objection to the application and no conditions required. 

Page 44

http://www.susdrain.org/


Case No: 17/01528/OUT

Highways England has been appointed by the Secretary of State for Transport as 
strategic highway company under the provisions of the Infrastructure Act 2015 and is the 
highway authority, traffic authority and street authority for the strategic road network 
(SRN). The SRN is a critical national asset and as such Highways England works to 
ensure that it operates and is managed in the public interest, both in respect of current 
activities and needs as well as in providing effective stewardship of its long-term 
operation and integrity.
In the case of this development proposal, our interest is in the M3 and Junctions 9 and 10 
in particular for this application.
Having examined the above application, we do not offer any objections to this proposal.

Natural England: no objection to the application subject to appropriate mitigation being 
secured.
We consider that without appropriate mitigation the application would:
 have an adverse effect on the integrity of River Itchen Special Area of Conservation
 damage or destroy the interest features for which River Itchen Site of Special Scientific 
Interest (SSSI) and Alresford Pond SSSI have been notified.
 have a significant impact on the purposes of designation of the South Downs National 
Park
In order to mitigate these adverse effects and make the development acceptable, 
mitigation measures as outlined within the following reports should be secured:
 Implementation of sustainable drainage system features as outlined under section 3.6 
in the Flood Risk Assessment & Drainage Strategy (Ramboll Environ, June 2017)
 Prior to the commencement of the development hereby approved, a Construction 
Environmental Management Plan (CEMP) should be submitted to and approved in writing 
by the Local Planning Authority, in liaison with Natural England. The CEMP shall identify 
the steps and procedures that will be implemented to avoid or mitigate impacts on 
species and habitats. Further details on this can be read below.
We advise that an appropriate planning condition or obligation is attached to any planning 
permission to secure these measures.
Natural England’s advice on other natural environment issues is set out below.
Internationally and nationally designated sites
River Itchen SAC
The application site is situated within close proximity to the River Itchen SAC.
The application is supported by a Habitats Regulations Assessment (HRA) Screening 
report (Ramboll Environ, June 2017), that concludes likely significant effects on the 
interest features of the River Itchen SAC are unlikely to occur due to the design of the 
proposals, proposed mitigation measures and adherence to a Construction 
Environmental Management Plan (CEMP) that will reduce construction impacts on air 
and water quality. The report states that in-combination effects were not considered as 
there are no committed developments within the local area that require assessment as 
cumulative schemes in combination with the proposed development.
The application is also supported by a Flood Risk Assessment & Drainage Strategy 
(Ramboll Environ, June 2017) which proposed a design to manage surface water run-off 
that incorporates a number of sustainable drainage features (including permeable paving, 
swales and infiltration basins). The proposals intend for foul water drainage to connect to 
the existing mains system. (Note: if the proposals regarding foul water drainage change, 
Natural England should be re-consulted with regard to water quality impacts on the River 
Itchen SAC and SSSI.)
On the basis of information provided, Natural England would concur that likely significant 
effects on the interest features of the River Itchen SAC can be screened out from the 

Page 45



Case No: 17/01528/OUT

HRA, and advises that the following are secured by appropriately worded conditions 
attached to any planning consent:
 Implementation of sustainable drainage system features as outlined under section 3.6 
in the Flood Risk Assessment & Drainage Strategy (Ramboll Environ, June 2017)
 Pollution prevention measures to be outlined within a Construction Environmental 
Management Plan (CEMP)
The Construction Environmental Management Plan (CEMP) should identify the steps and 
procedures that will avoid or mitigate impacts on the designated sites. The following 
issues should be addressed:
 Dust;
 Chemical and/or fuel run-off
 Waste disposal;
 Storage of materials/chemicals;
 Increased light disturbance to species (including after daylight hours)
 Protection of BMV land (see below for more information)
Once approved, the CEMP should be adhered to at all times, unless otherwise first 
agreed in writing with the Local Planning Authority
River Itchen SSSI and Alresford Pond SSSI
Provided the above measures are secured, Natural England considers that the proposed 
development will not damage or destroy the interest features for which the above sites 
have been notified and has no objection on this aspect of the application.
Please note that if your authority is minded to grant planning permission contrary to the 
advice in this letter, you are required under Section 28I (6) of the Wildlife and Countryside 
Act 1981 (as Page 3 of 4 amended) to notify Natural England of the permission, the terms 
on which it is proposed to grant it and how, if at all, your authority has taken account of 
Natural England’s advice. You must also allow a further period of 21 days before the 
operation can commence.

Protected Landscapes
The proposed development is for a site within close proximity to the nationally designated 
landscape South Downs National Park (SDNP). Natural England notes the consultation 
response from SDNP outlines some recommendations. Provided SDNPs concerns are 
fully addressed Natural England would have no further concerns on this aspect of the 
application.
Best and Most Versatile Agricultural Land
The application site constitutes approximately 25 hectares (ha) of ‘Best Most Versatile’ 
land (BMV).
An area of land classified as Grade 2 under the Agricultural Land Classification (ALC), 
denoting soil quality as ‘very good quality agricultural land’, is situated in the southern 
part of the site proposed for employment and parking. The northern area proposed for 
residential development classes as Grade 3a (‘good quality agricultural land’). 
Approximately 15ha of BMV land will be permanently lost to development.
The central area proposed for enhanced school grounds facilities and public open space 
constitutes approximately 10ha of Grade 3a land.
In order to safeguard soil resources as part of the overall sustainability of the 
development, it is important that the soil is able to retain as many of its many important 
functions and services (ecosystem services) as possible through careful soil 
management.
Consequently, we advise that if the development proceeds, the developer uses an 
appropriately experienced soil specialist to advise on and supervise soil handling, 
including identifying when soils are dry enough to be handled and how to make best use 

Page 46



Case No: 17/01528/OUT

of the different soils on site.
The CEMP should incorporate measures to protect soils from damage during the 
construction phase. Further guidance is available in Defra Construction Code of Practice 
for the Sustainable Use of Soils on Construction Sites (including accompanying Toolbox 
Talks) and we recommend that this is followed.
The following measures could include (but not necessarily be restricted to):
 Soil Resource Plan to inform soil management;
 Toolbox talks to staff;
 Storage of materials or equipment should occur on dedicated construction sites only to 
avoid soil compaction;
 Appropriate storage of fuel and chemicals to avoid spillages;
 Erection of protective fencing or barrier tape and exclusion signs along the boundaries 
between construction and open space areas of the site to protect these soils from 
construction activities and avoid indiscriminate vehicle movements
Other biodiversity issues
Local planning authorities must ensure that proposed development meets the 
requirements for biodiversity enhancement as set out in National Planning Policy 
Framework paragraphs 7, 109 and 118, and Section 40 of the Natural Environment and 
Rural Communities Act (2006), which states that ‘Every public authority must, in 
exercising its functions, have regard, so far as is consistent with the proper exercise of 
those functions, to the purpose of conserving biodiversity’. Section 40(3) also states that 
‘conserving biodiversity includes, in relation to a living organism or type of habitat, 
restoring or enhancing a population or habitat’. Biodiversity 2020: A strategy for 
England’s wildlife and ecosystem services and Making Space for Nature (2010) also 
provide strong drivers for the inclusion of biodiversity enhancements through the planning 
process.
Natural England welcomes the inclusion of a significant area of public open space as part 
of the proposals to include areas of meadow and new and enhanced woodland features.
It is noted that the supporting Ecology Report (Aluco Ecology Ltd, April 2017) identified a 
population of the Red Listed species white Helleborine in the western field south of the 
A31. The future use of this field is currently unclear and Natural England would advise 
that the applicant seeks to secure the future management of this population.
Natural England recommends that the application is supported by a Biodiversity 
Mitigation and Enhancement Plan (BMEP), or equivalent, to outline how the proposals 
will benefit wildlife, that has been agreed by the Council’s biodiversity officer/district 
ecologist. The BMEP could include (but not be restricted to):
 The planting of woodland features and native hedgerows
 Use of native wildflower seed mixes which encourage wildlife;
 Incorporation of bat and bird boxes
 The addition of features such as log piles for reptiles and amphibians
 The long-term management for the nearby white helleborine population
Please note that provided the district ecologist is satisfied with the submitted biodiversity 
mitigation and enhancement measures and the measures are secured by any 
permission, then no further consultation with Natural England on this aspect of the 
proposal is required.

Hampshire County Council Education: No objection to the application. 
The proposed development of 320 dwellings is expected to generate a total of 88 
additional primary age children and 62 secondary age children. This is based on a figure 
of 0.3 primary age children per new dwelling and 0.21 secondary age which, was derived 
by conducting demographic surveys of developments that have been completed within 

Page 47



Case No: 17/01528/OUT

Hampshire and calculating the average number of primary and secondary age children 
on those developments.  
The development site is served by Sun Hill Infant and Junior School, Alresford. This 
Primary school is currently full and has no places available to cater for the additional 
children that will be yielded from this development.  Consequently the school will need to 
be expanded to cater for the additional 88 pupils and a contribution is sought from the 
developer to pay for this expansion.   The required primary contribution is £1,780,768.
Details of the forecasting methodology used, along with the current pupil numbers at 
these schools can be found in Appendix A.
The County Council has used recent past projects to derive costs for the proposed 
expansion/s  – details and a explanation can be found in the County Council’s 
Developers Contributions Guidance using the following link:
http://www3.hants.gov.uk/education/school/school-places
It is not possible to advise on the detail of the works required to the school(s) at this 
stage, as feasibility studies and consultation must be undertaken to identify the best way 
of accommodating the children on site however, the contribution will be used to directly 
mitigate the impact of the development and any part of the contribution that is not utilised 
will be returned to the developer.  As more detailed work is undertaken the County 
Council can provide a site specific estimate of costs.  Financial contributions may change 
depending on the make-up and timing of the development.
In summary, the contribution towards the expansion of Sun Hill Infant and Junior School 
are necessary because the schools are currently at capacity and without expansion will 
not be able to accommodate the children from the development.  The contribution will be 
spent on improvements to the schools which serve the site and therefore are directly 
related to the development.  The level of contribution being sought is based on the 
number of children expected to be living on the development and the expected cost of 
accommodating these children at the schools and therefore is fairly and reasonably 
related in scale and kind to the development.  This information is supported by the 
County Council’s ‘Planning for School Places Guidance Document’ which sets out the 
methodology for assessing the impact of development on education infrastructure.

Recommendation
The County Council, as Local Education Authority, raises no objection to the planning 
application subject to: 
The applicant entering into a section 106 agreement to secure a contribution of 
£1,780,768 towards expansion projects at Sun Hill Infant and Junior School in order to 
mitigate the impact of the development on educational infrastructure and ensure that 
sufficient school places are provided to accommodate the additional children expected to 
be generated by the development.
Without the provision of a contribution towards the provision of additional school places 
the County Council, as Local Education Authority, would object to the proposal on the 
grounds that the impact on the existing infrastructure cannot be sufficiently mitigated and 
therefore the development is unacceptable in planning terms.
Appendix A
The requirement to mitigate pressure on schools in an area
The Education Act 1996 S14 places a duty on Local Authorities (LAs) to secure that 
schools are sufficient in number, character and equipment to provide for all pupils the 
opportunity of appropriate education. Therefore, there needs to be sufficient appropriate 
places to accommodate pupils.  
The Audit Commission recommends that schools should not operate at full capacity.  The 

Page 48

http://www3.hants.gov.uk/education/school/school-places


Case No: 17/01528/OUT

1996 report Trading Places: The Supply & Allocation of School Places recommends that 
LAs plan for a 95 per cent occupancy rate at schools, with a variation of plus or minus 10 
per cent, around this target. Furthermore, the updated 2002 report of the same name, 
recommends a reasonable figure to be 5% spare places in any school and these places 
should not be considered surplus places.
An additional factor is the need to plan for the provision of places for children who move 
into an area after places have been allocated or, at other times during the year. 
Therefore, there needs to be some ‘headroom’ in the provision of places to allow for such 
late applicants. 
The total net capacity (NCA) of a school relates to the total number of pupils that may be 
admitted into a school. This number can be compared to the total number of pupils in a 
school – the Number on Roll (NOR). The Department for Education (DfE) use this 
methodology to calculate surplus places. This is a suitable measure for circumstances 
when a school population is relatively stable and gives a useful long-term measure of 
capacity. 

Hampshire County Council Pupil Forecasting Methodology (Published)
Assessment of four year olds living within the catchment area:  
Immunisation and vaccination data from local health authorities is collected by age and 
postcode and is then allocated to enumeration districts. This information is updated 
annually and takes account of demographic and other trends, including those for the pre-
statutory age group i.e. data are collected for year 0 onwards. The number of 4 year olds 
by enumeration district is then aggregated to school catchment areas. Where an 
enumeration district straddles a school catchment area, the number of 4 year olds is 
proportioned to the relevant schools by the number of address points in each catchment 
area. Future intakes are estimated by calculating an average participation rate (PR) 
based on rates observed over the previous three years, using a three year moving 
average (weighted 3:2:1), giving the greatest weight to the most recent year. This 
weighted participation rate is applied to future forecast numbers of 4 year olds to 
determine likely intake to Year R.  Schools with participation rates over 100% attract 
pupils from outside their catchment area. Schools with participation rates below 100% 
lose pupils to neighbouring schools, other authorities or the independent sector.

Forecast numbers for other year groups:
Primary:   
This methodology used for year groups 1-6 is based upon a cohort survival model. The 
basic premise is that pupils will roll forward from year group to the next at the end of each 
academic year. If there are known housing developments within a schools catchment 
area, the expected pupil yield is added to the projections at the rate of 0.3 for primary and 
0.21 for secondary. This information is provided by the County Environment Department 
and substantiated by district councils. Expected changes due to pupil mobility and 
migration are also taken into account. For each year group, the number of pupils on roll in 
January is compared with the same cohort a year later. A weighted moving average of 
the observed changed over the last three years (3:2:1) is calculated and applied in the 
same way as the participation rate
Pupil numbers
The development lies in the catchment area of Sun Hill Infant and Junior Schools, 
Alresford.
The following tables demonstrate the current and forecast capacity of these schools not 
including this development:

Page 49



Case No: 17/01528/OUT

Southern Water: No objection to the application. 
The exact position of the water mains and foul sewer must be determined on site by the 
applicant before the layout of the proposed development is finalised.
Please note: - No development or new tree planting should be located within 4 metres 
either side of the centreline of the (100mm & 200 mm) water mains.
- No development or new tree planting should be located within 5 metres either side of 
the centreline of the 300mm water trunk main.
- No development or new tree planting should be located within 3 metres either side of 
the centreline of the foul sewers.
- No new soakaways should be located within 5 metres of water mains, foul sewers.
- All existing infrastructure, including protective coatings and cathodic protection, should 
be protected during the course of construction works.
Furthermore, due to changes in legislation that came in to force on 1st October 2011 
regarding the future ownership of sewers it is possible that a sewer now deemed to be 
public could be crossing the above property. Therefore, should any sewer be found 
during construction works, an investigation of the sewer will be required to ascertain its 
condition, the number of properties served, and potential means of access before any 
further works commence on site.
The applicant is advised to discuss the matter further with Southern Water, Sparrowgrove
House, Sparrowgrove, Otterbourne, Hampshire SO21 2SW (Tel: 0330 303 0119) or
www.southernwater.co.uk”.
The results of an initial desk top study indicates that Southern Water currently cannot
accommodate the needs of this application without the development providing additional 
local infrastructure. The proposed development would increase flows into the wastewater 
sewerage system and as a result increase the risk of flooding in and around the existing 
area, contrary to paragraph 109 of the National Planning Policy Framework.
Should the Local Planning Authority be minded to approve the application, Southern 
Water would like the following condition to be attached to any permission. “Development 
shall not commence until a drainage strategy detailing the proposed means of foul 
disposal and a implementation timetable, has been submitted to and approved in writing 
by, the local planning authority in consultation with the sewerage undertaker. The 
development shall be carried out in accordance with the approved scheme and 
timetable.”
We suggest the following informative: ‘The applicant/developer should enter into a formal
agreement with Southern Water to provide the necessary sewerage infrastructure 
required to service this development. The applicant/developer should contact Southern 
Water, Sparrowgrove House, Sparrowgrove, Otterbourne, Hampshire SO21 2SW (Tel: 
0330 303 0119) or www.southernwater.co.uk’ in order to progress the required 
infrastructure.
Our initial investigations indicate that there are no public surface water sewers in the area 
to serve this development. Alternative means of draining surface water from this 

Page 50



Case No: 17/01528/OUT

development are required. This should not involve disposal to a public foul sewer.
The planning application form makes reference to drainage using Sustainable Urban 
Drainage Systems (SUDS). Under current legislation and guidance SUDS rely upon 
facilities which are not adoptable by sewerage undertakers. Therefore, the applicant will 
need to ensure that arrangements exist for the long term maintenance of the SUDS 
facilities. It is critical that the effectiveness of these systems is maintained in perpetuity. 
Good management will avoid flooding from the proposed surface water system, which 
may result in the inundation of the foul sewerage system. Thus, where a SUDS scheme 
is to be implemented, the drainage details submitted to the Local Planning Authority 
should:
Specify the responsibilities of each party for the implementation of the SUDS scheme
Specify a timetable for implementation
Provide a management and maintenance plan for the lifetime of the development. This 
should include the arrangements for adoption by any public authority or statutory 
undertaker and any other arrangements to secure the operation of the scheme 
throughout its lifetime.
We request that should this application receive planning approval, the following condition 
is attached to the consent: “Construction of the development shall not commence until 
details of the proposed means of foul and surface water sewerage disposal have been 
submitted to, and approved in writing by, the Local Planning Authority in consultation with 
Southern Water.”
Following initial investigations, Southern Water can provide a water supply to the site. 
Southern Water requires a formal application for connection and on-site mains to be 
made by the applicant or developer. We request that should this application receive 
planning approval, the following informative is attached to the consent:
“A formal application for connection to the water supply is required in order to service this
development. Please contact Southern Water, Sparrowgrove House, Sparrowgrove,
Otterbourne, Hampshire SO21 2SW (Tel: 0330 303 0119) or www.southernwater.co.uk”.
Any works within highway/ access road will require to protect public apparatus and the
protection details need to be submitted to, and approved by Southern Water under 
NRSWA enquiry

The proposed development would lie within a Source Protection Zone around one of 
Southern Water's public water supply sources as defined under the Environment 
Agency’s Groundwater Protection Policy. Southern Water will rely on your consultations 
with the Environment Agency to ensure the protection of the public water supply source.

Representations:

Councillor Jackie Porter: Commented on the application. 
As the county councillor for this application, I would like to make the following comments:
The principle of development is not in doubt- this land is identified in the Local plan.
Having spoken to HCC Highways Team, I understand the numbers behind the scenarios 
rehearsed in the amendment, but still have some concerns about the effectiveness of the 
application amendments submitted on the 22nd Feb, '18.
1. The lack of a clear and attractive cycle and pedestrian route direct from the 
development to the town centre is a serious flaw in this plan. The excuse that it is not 
within the cartilage of the red line is poor because the reasoning of the 320 homes nearest 
to the town was because the attractive way to reach the town is by non vehicle modes. 

Page 51



Case No: 17/01528/OUT

sing the 'preferred route of Nursery Road and into the town at the bottom of the hill is 
unrealistic. Without this direct route, the whole plan fails to work.
2. The design for the entrance to the school has not yet been finalised with the schools 
and so the amended plan does not show a true representation of the likely outcome of this 
application.
For reasons 1 and 2, (and item 8: see below) I object to this application, even though it has 
been amended.
3. HCC has explained that they are happy with the vehicle numbers cited in the amended 
plans, and the design of the A31 junction is to current Highways standards. I am happy to 
accept their view.
4. The double roundabout arrangement of the Sun Lane route into Tichborne Down is 
circuitous, but I look forward to the reduced use of the sharp corner at their junction: this 
could improve safety here. However there should be plans to dissuade drivers from using 
this section, possibly by downgrading or traffic management.
I do not know of any specific conversations that have taken place with the residents on 
that corner who might be affected.
5. Will two roundabouts improve the noise for local residents or make it worse? I would like 
the noise levels here (also relating to the A31 junction) be monitored and mitigated in the 
final design.
6. There still remains the question of public transport/non car mode transport to the 
employment site. This has not been addressed. I would like to see cycle racks placed near 
the bus stops that currently exist to enable employees to link to bus/bike (as is done on 
Winchester Road in Eastleigh) paid for by the developer.
7. The proposal to move the park and stride site closer to the schools is welcomed. I look 
forward to seeing the final plans for this.
8. The likelihood that all of the roads will not be adopted has still not been addressed. We 
are encountering problems on other estates because of the lack of design rigour 
associated with this problem and the private utility systems being installed. I would like 
reassurance that the roads to this development will be adopted.
In summary, although this amended plan shows some improvement, I do not think it is in a 
position to be approved. There are still too many details to be confirmed. For that reason, I 
object to the application and look forward to further amended plans being submitted.

New Alresford Town Council – comments on the application. 
1. NATC seek clarification on how the haul road will be installed from the new A31 
roundabout across the site (4.4.49 of the transport assessment) and reserve the right to 
comment when this detail is provided.
2. NATC has reservations regarding non-peak traffic modelling on various roads.
The council require a travel plan for both the residential and employment zones to review 
and comment upon.
3. NATC ask for mitigation measures on traffic issues on Tichborne Down given the 
predicted increase at peak times given that existing parking issues in the mornings and 
evenings as a condition of this application.
4. NATC find the predicted increase in traffic on Sun Lane, north of Nursery Road 
improbably low. The council request that HCC re-view these figures and given the impact 
should they be incorrect and under estimated, mitigation measures will be required.
5. NATC find the predicted increase in traffic on Nursery Road improbably low. The 
council request that HCC review these figures given the likely impact should they be 
incorrect and under estimated, mitigation measures will be required.
6. NATC believe there is an opportunity for the Alresford Bowling Club parking to be used 
to mitigate existing parking problems for local residents. It may be an opportunity to have 

Page 52



Case No: 17/01528/OUT

a car park for dual parking particularly at the East end for Nursery Road and Chestnut 
Walk have inadequate parking.
7. As a condition improved lighting should be installed on the footpath behind Haig Road 
leading to the churchyard.
8. NATC ask for a raised crossing area to facilitate the footpath within the open space 
area (at node 16 on the illustrative masterplan).
9. A dedicated crossing is required between the southernmost point of node 4 & 5 on the 
illustrative masterplan.
10. NATC wish to see mitigation plans for noise and lighting from the two new 
roundabouts and reserve the right to comment.
11. NATC require main distributor roads and lighting on both residential and employment 
areas to be built to an adoptable standard.
12. NATC require more information on the capacity of the park and stride car park given 
its potential for multiple use.
UPDATED LETTER OF CONCERNS:
At the recent NATC planning committee meeting, on May 1st, a number of Alresford 
residents expressed their serious concerns on the Sun Hill project. These concerns were 
noted, and this letter has been drafted from the notes taken at the meeting. The NATC 
planning committee is sympathetic to these concerns and is writing this letter to draw 
them to the attention of the Winchester City Council.
The NATC recognises that the development will bring many advantages to the town, 
notably the amount of affordable housing and the open space. It is felt however that these 
concerns need to be addressed before outline permission is granted.
The following concerns were expressed to the NATC committee:
1) The extensive Traffic assessment studies do not appear to take into account the 
critical pinch points on the existing road system. These are the north section of Sun Lane 
running down past Edward terrace, the pinch point under the railway bridge in Jacklyns 
Lane and the residential character of Nursery Road. The traffic study assumes standard 
roads of various types, but this is not the actual reality on the ground. 
2) There will be an increased flow of traffic along Tichborne Down towards the new 
roundabout. Clarification is needed on how the road will cope with this additional flow.
3) The problem of discouraging traffic and preventing HGV’s attempting to drive into 
the town needs to be addressed. There are concerns that Satnavs will direct vehicles to 
use this route despite the inability of the north section of Sun Lane to cope. 
4) The proposed roundabout on the A31. This is the subject of a detailed application 
but was lacking in much detail. It is felt that 3d Images both aerial and from various 
eyelevel aspects are needed as the submitted sections are difficult to understand. 
5) An assessment of noise levels from the A31 are needed together with any details 
of mitigation measures, such as bunds and noise barriers. The noise studies must take 
account of the noise of acceleration and braking.
6) Lighting at the roundabout: Details of the extent of this lighting, which it is assumed 
will be necessary and of measures to reduce light pollution are needed.
7) Drainage and flooding problems: the low ground at Tichborne Down and Whitehill 
Lane has suffered flooding in the last few years, with the water running into adjacent 
houses. The development of the site will change the drainage regime. Solutions to this 
problem need to be demonstrated.
8) Pedestrian and cycle links into the town: One of the advantages of the location of 
the housing area is its relative proximity to the town centre. Although there are good 
pavements along much of Sun Lane the actual route beyond the railway bridge and 
through the churchyard is restricted, dark and narrow. The north part of Sun Lane and 
Edward Terrace lack pavements are therefore difficult for pedestrians to safely negotiate. 

Page 53



Case No: 17/01528/OUT

A similar problem exists with the cycle route to the town centre. Cycles and pedestrians 
on narrow and inadequate routes do not mix well. 
9) Viability of affordable housing: Although a good level of affordable housing has 
been promised in good faith by Seawards, there have been many instances when 
perhaps by outside circumstances, or not, the criteria for viability change and the level of 
affordable housing drop drastically. Since one of the major advantages of the scheme is 
the percentage of affordable housing, the robust economic viability of this level needs to 
be demonstrated and to be tied up as tightly as possible.
10) The problem of Satnav directing traffic from the proposed roundabout directly into 
the town centre which will put an additional load on the road pressure points listed in 1), 
needs to be solved. 
The NATC are very concerned that the feasibility of this development rests on finding 
solutions to these problems. It is felt that the approval process should not progress until 
solutions are found. It is felt that these are not just minor points that can be sorted out in 
due course, but completely critical to the success of the development.

Cheriton Parish Council: Object to the application. 
The number of submissions and the amount of documentation associated with this 
application is now so confusing that it renders further comment extremely difficult. 
Cheriton Parish Council’s original objections still stand and should therefore be viewed as 
part of this response, but the application is now so unclear, and we would submit lacking 
in transparency from the public’s point of view, that the application should be withdrawn 
and resubmitted for that reason alone.
PLANNING APPLICATION
• The details of the business park development were originally noted as being 
incorrect on the application form and have not been revised to include for the revision 
submitted to the TA, the size of which would normally have been sufficient for a new 
application to be required - both formerly and most recently by the Heritage Impact 
Assessment submitted on 13 April 2018. 
• A new and revised application form should be submitted and all associated 
documentation including the Environmental Impact Assessment must also be corrected.
DEVELOPMENT
• The Local Plan Allocation is for 10ha of residential land and 5ha of employment 
land. Only 8.25ha of residential land is assessed for traffic. The size of the business park 
has been doubled by one of the revised TA’s (normally sufficient for a new application to 
be submitted) but remains half of that included in the full Local Plan Allocation and 
additionally in the original scoping and screening reports. Traffic impacts are therefore 
significantly understated.
ENVIRONMENTAL IMPACT ASSESSMENT
• The EIA regulations require the whole Local Plan Allocation to be assessed - 
Schedule 4 of the 2014 Regulations (or the equivalent Article 18 in the 2017 
Regulations). Only those percentages included in the now oft revised outline planning 
submissions have been assessed. We submit that this is not an application for an Outline 
Planning Permission however. Outline permission must be consented for both the 
residential and employment development by virtue of the fact that it forms part of the 
Local Plan and is therefore part of the NA3 Allocation figures. The application is for 
detailed Planning consent in respect of the A31 all-junctions movement roundabout and 
will be built out in the knowledge that it will need to accommodate the full scale NA3 
development allocation. 
• The application area will not provide funding for environmental or highway 
mitigation measures outside the development site area. Traffic mitigation measures in 

Page 54



Case No: 17/01528/OUT

Cheriton and the surrounding areas for instance, will therefore require funding from HCC 
or the SDNP. Notably however, there is no intention to measure the likely adverse 
impacts upon Cheriton, the surrounding road network, or the Environment caused by the 
likely increase not only in traffic volumes, but in the nature of the HGV and commercial 
traffic much of which is unsuited to narrow and winding roads with neither pavements nor 
street lighting. The resultant damage to the environment, and including the River Itchen 
SAC, in addition to the impacts of noise and vibration will remain unrecognised unless 
and until Origin and Destination studies are carried out using the Strategic Transport 
model. 
Cheriton Parish Council therefore submit that the existing data provided by the TA, which 
forms the largest part of the ES, is premised upon inaccurate and misleading data. The 
residential development has we believe, been assessed based upon the 2011 census 
figures, albeit not upon the whole NA3 Allocation. An assessment of the likely traffic 
figures associated with the employment demands alternate thinking and is dependent 
upon the use of a strategic transport model for the full NA3 Allocation, including for origin 
and destination studies.
We request that the application be resubmitted using the Strategic Transport Model to 
conduct origin and destination studies based on the development of full NA3 allocated 
and using a worst-case scenario that includes the maximum number of traffic movements 
and for each of the B1, B2 and B8 classifications.
We further request that the need for mitigation measures outside the development area is 
detailed in full and that funding for the provision of such measures is included in the 
development costs.
The ES chapter submitted on 11 April 2018 however, refers to Chapters 9 and 10, but 
both are missing, there is no reference to environmental policy and so it continues without 
providing detail of the haul road and therefore no accompanying details of its impact upon 
the local or wider communities.
ALL JUNCTIONS MOVEMENTS ACCESS – DESIGN AND BUILD OF THE A31 
ROUNDABOUT
• The access information required in support of the detailed application for an all 
junction’s movement on the A31 is not sufficient to build the junction and will require HCC 
and therefore local taxpayers to fund those deficiencies.
• The application does not include a detailed design or standard Stage 2 Safety 
Audit. As a detailed application for consent the application should comply with the 
standard requirements of the Design Manual for Roads and Bridges TD 16/07.
• In the absence of detailed plans, the proposed junction and its impacts cannot be 
fully understood or considered, and its implications cannot easily be conveyed to the 
public.
Cheriton Parish Council submit that in the interests of public transparency the applicant 
should resubmit the application to include a detailed design of the access and link road, 
with cross sections and illustrations in the form of a photo montage that depicts all street 
lighting, furniture and signage.
ROAD SAFETY
• The design is based upon assumed vehicle speeds of 60mph. Measured speeds 
on the bypass are 70mph. Additional safety measures required to ensure the design is 
safe will sit outside the site of the application and will again rely upon funding from HCC. 
• Details of ‘off-site’ measures enabling reduced speeds and a safe approach to the 
roundabout are not included and there is therefore no assessment of their environmental 
impact.
TRAFFIC ASSESSMENT
• The application does not accord with National Guidance for the preparation of 

Page 55



Case No: 17/01528/OUT

Transport Assessments.
• The traffic assessment is based upon flaws in the data, flawed trip distribution 
assumptions and a flawed network model and does not include the use of a validated 
transport model, which does exist, and which has been paid for by HCC.
• It is unrealistic to suppose that the A31 access will be used for all trips and 
unbelievable that the creation of 543 jobs cited on the application form will result in only 
90 vehicles at peak AM.
• The TA does not include any consideration of HGV or service vehicles outside the 
development area.
• Noise calculations assume no HGV’s and only a limited amount of traffic using 543 
full time employees and 10,000 sq. mtrs. of space.
• The use of Google maps to determine routes is flawed. False conclusions are 
drawn by ICENI because they do not include the use of some urban and secondary roads

CONCLUDED
The revisions are not significantly different for all material purposes to the original 
submission and do not address the concerns raised in the Parish Councils Objections 
dated August ’17 and March ‘18. 
The present submission dated 11 April 2018 therefore renders the existing submissions 
even more opaque and only adds weight, whether at the strategic or more detailed level, 
to our assertion that the application should be resubmitted based upon the full NA3 
Allocation and supported by the use of a Strategic Transport model that recognises the 
impacts of the development upon the environment and upon the wider community so that 
they may be properly assessed whether that be in terms of environmental impact, road 
safety, congestion, parking, funding – the list goes on. Cheriton Parish Council therefore 
continues to raise objection to the application as submitted.

Bishops Sutton Parish Council: Object to the application. 
The Parish Council is very concerned about the effect this development will have on our 
residents and surrounding roads. The assumption is that the residents of the new houses 
will use the new roundabout to travel anywhere. In practice, however they will use Sun 
Lane and Whitehill Lane. The traffic generated by the Employment zone will travel the 
quickest way to reach their destinations. 
The rush – hour traffic, including HGV’s and white vans, using the A31 will increase the 
noise pollution for our residents.
We are strongly opposed to this development, which is totally out of scale for the area, 
and has not been assessed to consider the full impact on the surrounding villages. You 
should not give consent until the developers have assessed in full the allocated areas. 
It seems the developers’ approach is to significantly under – record the effects of the new 
roundabout on local roads, the journeys new residents and the workers in the industrial 
site will make.
Please reconsider these plans and make them suitable for all residents, the travelling 
workforce, and the existing local population. 
HIGHWAYS
4. The Parish Council objects to the revised TAA and requires a new application to 
be submitted to address the objections raised in what follows and at Appendix A below.
We note as an example that the TAA page 12, Part 1 includes no B8. Consideration of 
both service and HGV vehicles is a fundamental part of the objections raised by CPC and 
must include the local road network outside the application site and including the B3046 
to and from Cheriton.
5. CPC notes the apparent flaws in the data. It is unrealistic for instance, to suppose 

Page 56



Case No: 17/01528/OUT

the A31 access will be used for all trips and the creation of 543 full time jobs cited on the 
Planning application must result in greater than 90 vehicles at peak AM. 
6. The TAA is not significantly different for all material purposes to the original 
submission made by the applicant and does not address the concerns raised in the 
Parish Council’s objections dated 23 August 2017.
CPC requires the full NA3 Local Plan allocation and access from the A31 to be tested 
using a Strategic Transport Model and including the local road network outside the 
application site along the B3046 to and from Cheriton.
The route as illustrated at item 7 below, highlights the cross country/B3046 route through 
the South Downs National Park as the quickest way of getting to the A31 and beyond 
from a number of substantial growth areas, and will be particularly attractive during peak 
hours of congestion on the motorway network.
The design and access of the new A31 junction on the national road network and in such 
close proximity to a National Park is therefore of even greater importance in terms of its 
environmental impacts.
It should not be forgotten that for much of its length the B3046 through Cheriton borders 
the River Itchen, an SSSI and SAC.
CPC is also aware that the Test and Itchen Catchment Partnership has most recently 
secured £2.5 million of National Lottery funding to improve upon the headwaters of the 
River Itchen. CPC also note that the Sediment Pathways Project includes the Cheriton 
Conservation volunteers and ‘run-off’ in the context of a growth in traffic volumes along 
the B3046 and in close proximity to the river will be of concern.  
7. The use of Google maps to determine routes is flawed. False conclusions are 
drawn by ICENI because they do not include the use of some urban and secondary 
roads. The main example in the TAA is Plate 4.6 referred to at para 4.16, given to ‘prove’ 
that Cheriton Traffic would always go via Old Park Road to reach the A31 in 12 minutes. 
This suggests ICENI is unaware of the route via Tichborne Down and Whitehill Lane 
which can be reached in 6 mins. See Google Map below.

Page 57



Case No: 17/01528/OUT

South Downs National Park Authority: 
Thank you for consulting the South Downs National Park Authority (SDNPA) as a
neighbouring authority on the above application. We note that the current application is in
outline form, with all aspects except access reserved for future determination. The
comments below include responses to specific issues raised within the current outline
application, along with other issues that we wish you to be aware of, but which may hold
more relevance at later detailed design stages. It should also be noted that the SDNPA 
are open to further discussions with either yourselves or the developer throughout the
application process. As you are aware, the UK Government Vision and Circular 2010 and 
the National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF) (paragraph 115) confirm that National 
Parks have the highest status of protection. National Park purposes also underpin our 
consultation response.
These are:
1. To conserve and enhance the natural beauty, wildlife and cultural heritage of the
area.
2. To promote opportunities for the understanding and enjoyment of the special
qualities of the Park by the public.
In carrying out these purposes national parks have a duty to seek to foster the economic 
and social wellbeing of local communities within the National Parks.
When commenting on neighbouring authority applications, the SDNPA takes account of a
development's potential impacts (both direct and indirect) upon the special qualities of the
South Downs National Park (SDNP) and its setting. These include potential landscape
impacts, ecological impacts, recreational pressures (and opportunities) and any increases 
in vehicular traffic through the SDNP.
In the case of the current application, our principal considerations relate to the potential
traffic impacts on rural roads within the SDNP and opportunities for the scheme to 
improve safe connections to Public Rights of Way leading into the SDNP. We have also 
included comments on landscape and ecological matters, dark night skies, and minerals
safeguarding.
Traffic
The proposed development site lies well outside of the SDNP, with a new access 
proposed directly onto the A31 in accordance with the requirements of Policy NA3 of 
Winchester Local Plan Part 2. However, there may be implications within the National 
Park with regard to traffic using the B3046. This road travels through the SNDP to access 
the A272, but it may not be suitable to accommodate significant increases in vehicular 
traffic - particularly HGVs.
In terms of construction period controls, the Transport Assessment which forms part of 
the Environmental Statement (ES) mentions the construction period and outlines that 
controls will be put in place. A construction management statement has also been 
submitted with the application which states that routeing of all major deliveries will be 
agreed with Hampshire Highways and New Alresford Town Council prior to 
commencement and that a detailed travel plan setting out the routeing will produced to 
avoid traffic going on small roads. We would encourage this to be secured in detail by a 
condition with anticipation that construction traffic and HGV movements should be 
directed along the A31 and not up/down the B3046.
To assist this, the creation of the new access from the A31 should be delivered at an 
early stage of development (in accordance with Policy NA3).
In terms of post-development traffic controls, the ES and application has been supported 
by a Residential Framework Travel Plan (FTP) and an Employment FTP. These set out a

Page 58



Case No: 17/01528/OUT

commitment for the developer to produce a Travel Plan which will primarily focus on
encouraging modes of transport other than the private car. Suggested measures include
annual monitoring of resident and employee travel patterns and supplying information 
packs.
In line with our comments on construction traffic, the SNDPA considers it particularly
important that any travel plan that is secured should include a routeing agreement for
deliveries and HGVs associated with the new business park to travel via the new junction 
on the A31 and avoid travelling north/south along the B3046. We would also encourage
consideration of traffic calming or other measures to discourage use of Tichborne Down 
as a through route to access the B3046.
We note that the County Highways Authority has identified potential inconsistencies and
errors within the application documentation and have requested additional information. It 
is also concerning that the predicted changes in traffic illustrated in the ES do not appear 
to include details for the B3046 south of Tichborne Down. We would therefore welcome 
the opportunity to comment further following receipt of such additional highway/traffic
information.
Recreation & Access
New Alresford benefits from access to a range of Public Rights of Way (PRoWs) linking 
into the SDNP. The initial links to these PRoWs are illustrated in Plate 21 of the Transport
Assessment submitted with the application and include a number of long distance trails
(Itchen Way, King's Way, St Swithun's Way and Wayfarers Walk) along with links to 
Cheriton Battlefield, Hinton Ampner House, and the South Downs Way. In addition, an 
SDNPA promoted Cycle ride (River Itchen - Alresford into the South Downs) starts in 
Alresford and runs along Sun Lane and Appledown Lane. Although the existing A31 
bypass provides a barrier to north-south access in some places, a footbridge (pedestrian 
only) exists at Tichborne Down, with an underpass also providing a safe crossing point 
along Appledown Lane.
Any opportunity to maintain and improve these links, allowing access to the SDNP by non 
motorised means, would support the second purpose of the National Park (to promote
opportunities for the understanding and enjoyment of the special qualities of national 
parks by the public), and would play an important role in limiting unnecessary car traffic 
into the South Downs from those residents of the new development (and indeed existing 
residents of New Alresford) seeking opportunities for informal recreation within the SDNP.
The Illustrative Masterplan and Framework Masterplan show public cycle and footways
across the site along with indicative connections. The ES and Transport Assessment 
refer to dedicated pedestrian accesses to Sun Lane and the western boundary of the site. 
However, the provision or enhancement of links out of the site to the south seem more 
uncertain at this stage (it is of note that Policy NA3 includes a requirement for a transport 
assessment including "off-site vehicle, pedestrian, cycle and public transport 
improvements to be provided or funded by the development").
We would therefore wish to see confirmation that the pedestrian links along Tichborne 
Down to the footbridge over the A31 will not be detrimentally impacted (and will 
preferably be enhanced), and that safe (and preferably enhanced) pedestrian and cycle 
access to the Appledown Lane underpass be provided at the south-western end of the 
site. We are unclear whether the identification of Whitehill Lane as a "Green link" will 
result in it no longer being a through route to vehicular traffic - but if so, this could assist 
in the creation of a safe access to Appledown Lane.
In the interests of ensuring safe connections to these PRoWs for existing residents of 
New Alresford, we would wish to see confirmation that new roads within the site 
(including Sun lane itself) will include safe crossing points for both pedestrians and 
cyclists. This would also appear to be in line with the requests of the Town Council.

Page 59



Case No: 17/01528/OUT

In light of the reference to off-site contributions within Policy NA3, any financial 
contributions which could go towards general PROW network upkeep to the south of the 
site would be welcome, although best discussed direct with Hampshire County Council. 
Contributions towards the Watercress Way project may also be appropriate, given the 
scale of the application and proximity to the start of this route.
It would also be of benefit if the Travel Plan considers including information on how 
residents will be informed about connections to the PRoW network, if appropriate. One 
possibility could be an interpretation panel in the open space area with a map showing 
local PRoW connections, long-distance trails, and information about sustainable access 
to the SDNP. It should be noted that promotion of the Itchen Way would be dependent on 
natural England's assessment of possible increased recreational pressure on the 
SAC/SSSI.
Landscape
The site is located approximately 900m east and 1.5Km north of the National Park at its
nearest points. Although this is close enough for a development of the scale proposed to
potentially raise landscape concerns, we note that development is to be avoided on the
highest ground. The Landscape and Visual Impact Assessment (including ZTV based on
11m maximum height for housing, and 13m for employment) nevertheless identifies that
parts of the site would be visible from within the National Park and the SDNPA's own
Viewshed Analysis also suggests that the central and parts of the southern section of the
site may be visible from points within the SDNP. In assessing the likely impacts, it would
therefore have been beneficial had the viewpoint photographs in the LVIA included
wireframe annotation indicating where development was to be located and at what height.
Whilst it is accepted that the current application does not include detailed layout, the 
known parameters could have allowed a suitable illustration of likely effects. Whilst we 
would welcome submission of such details (particularly at a later detailed stage if not 
now), the avoidance of high ground, distance from SDNP, and fact that the development 
would, in most views, be seen in context with the existing settlement of New Alresford all 
suggest that the SDNPA would have no objection in terms of impacts upon the landscape 
character of the SDNP or its setting.
The existing trees along the south side of the A31 provide a useful role in terms of 
screening views of the site (and A31) in longer distance views from the south, along with 
providing wildlife corridors. We note that these trees are indicated to be protected and 
retained in the Schedule of Tree Works, but some are nevertheless very close to the 
proposed new junction works, and we would wish the City Council to satisfy themselves 
that all of the identified tree groups (in particular TL76, TG80, and TL90), along with any 
unidentified trees to the west of TL90 can indeed be suitably protected during the 
highway works.
Ecology and Environmental impacts
The River Itchen SSSI and SAC to the west of New Alresford (downstream) lie within the
SDNP, and these designations were significant factors in the decision to include the 
Itchen Valley within the SDNP boundary.
The Habitats Regulation Assessment and ES both mention possible indirect impacts in
terms of air quality impacts, water quality impacts, recreational pressure and otter road
deaths. Both these documents recommend mitigation measures to ensure there is no
adverse effect on the SSSI/SAC from these possible impacts. The SDNPA would wish to
emphasise the importance of assessment of such impacts and mitigation, and would wish 
to ensure that Natural England are consulted on the proposals, and their comments taken 
into account before any decision is made. We note at the time of writing that Natural 
England's comments have not yet been received and therefore we cannot comment 
further on this matter at this point in time. Subject to Natural England being satisfied with 

Page 60



Case No: 17/01528/OUT

their acceptability, the mitigation measures set out with the HRA and ES should be 
secured by appropriate conditions.
In terms of protected species, the application is accompanied by an ecological survey 
and the ES recommends mitigation measures. Most effects of the scheme upon 
protected species appear localised rather than having an impact extending into the 
SDNP. We therefore do not have any additional comment to make, provided your ecology 
advisers are satisfied with the proposed mitigation measures set out within the ES, and 
that these are secured by condition.
Dark Night Skies
The SDNPA has been successful in achieving Dark Skies Reserve status for the South
Downs National Park - only the second such Reserve in England. For further information
please see https://www.southdowns.gov.uk/enjoy/dark-night-skies/.
Street lighting along new roads, roundabouts and A31 junction - if necessitated - should 
be installed according to the specifications of Hampshire County Council. These include a
requirement for fittings to have zero upward light spill. They should also be managed by
sufficient control technology to allow for part night switching. The submitted lighting
assessment and indicative lighting plans in Appendix 8 appear to confirm this is the case,
but we would suggest this is controlled via condition.
Any non-domestic lighting, i.e. lighting above 10 lux or above 500 lumens, should be
approved by additional planning consent, supported by detailed lighting plans.

183 letters received objecting to the application for the following reasons: 
 Highways information supporting the scheme is not accurate and makes flawed 

assumptions. 
 Transport Assessment underestimates the existing level of traffic on Sun Lane 

particularly the northern part. 
 The application has been amended too many times and should be withdrawn and 

resubmitted.
 The documents are too complex for members of the public to understand. 
 No improvements are being promoted for Nursery Road and Jacklyns Lane. 
 Noise impacts to listed buildings and residents not addressed. 
 Flood risk assessment is not accurate and existing flooding has not been 

recognised.
 No market for more employment land.  
 Not enough detail provided on the new roundabout and access to it. 
 The development will generate too much traffic on local roads.
 There is insufficient capacity in the local school and doctors surgery. 
 The Environmental Impact Assessment supporting the application is flawed. 
 Car parking in Alresford is already a problem which will be made worse by this 

development. 
 Sun Lane is not well lit as stated in the Transport Assessment. 
 The application does not cover the full NA3 allocation for development. 
 Impact of traffic on the Sun Lane railway bridge which is owned by the Mid Hants 

Railway Company has not been assessed. 
 Sun Lane not suited to additional HGV traffic. 

6 letters of support received.
 Creating new homes, employment and public open space is vitally important to 

Alresford.

Page 61



Case No: 17/01528/OUT

 Additional development will keep the population of Alresford buoyant. 
 Development will benefit the community and local wildlife / biodiversity. 
 The provision of a parking area for Alresford Bowling Club is a major benefit that 

could help secure the future of the club. 
5 letters of comment only received.
 Closure of the eastern part of Whitehill Lane is welcomed.
 The proposals lack self build and custom build opportunities for which there is local 

demand. 

Relevant Planning Policy:

Winchester Local Plan Part 1 – Joint Core Strategy (LPP1).
DS1 – Development Strategy and Principles
MTRA1 – Development Strategy for Market Towns and Rural Area
MTRA2 – Market Towns and Larger Villages
MTRA4 – Development in the Countryside
CP1 – Housing Provision
CP2 – Housing Mix
CP3 – Affordable Housing
CP6 – Local Facilities and Services
CP7 – Open Space, Sport & Recreation
CP8 – Economic Growth
CP10 – Transport
CP11 – Sustainable Low and Zero Carbon Built Development
CP13 – High Quality Design
CP14 – Effective Uses of Land
CP15 – Green Infrastructure
CP16 – Biodiversity 
CP17 – Flooding
CP20 – Heritage and Landscape Character 
CP21 – Infrastructure and Community Benefit

Winchester District Local Plan Part 2 – Development Management and Site Allocations.
NA3 – Sun Lane Mixed Use Allocation
DM2 – Dwelling Sizes
DM6 – Open Space Provision
DM15 – Local Distinctiveness
DM16 – Site Design Criteria
DM17 – Site Development Principles
DM18 – Access and Parking
DM26 – Archaeology

National Planning Policy Guidance/Statements:
National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF); The NPPF promotes a presumption in 
favour of sustainable development, but substantial weight should be given to Local Plan 
policies where the Council can show an adequate and up to date supply of housing land 
(NPPF paragraph 49). The Council is currently able to demonstrate a 5-year supply of 
housing land (including a 5% ‘buffer’), and the other requirements of paragraph 47 
(objectively assessed need, land supply, etc) are satisfied. NPPF paragraph 14 is clear 
that the presumption in favour of sustainable development relates to proposals that 
accord with the development plan.  As LPP1 and LPP2 are relevant and up to date, the 

Page 62



Case No: 17/01528/OUT

final bullet point of paragraph 14 does not apply.

Supplementary Planning Guidance:
The Alresford Town Design Statement was adopted as a Supplementary Planning 
Document in 2008 and is a material consideration.  
SPDs have also been adopted in relation to Affordable Housing, Residential Parking 
Standards, and High Quality Places, which are also material planning considerations.

Planning Considerations.

Principle of development.
The application site is split into 3 areas. The northern housing allocation and the southern 
employment allocation are located within the development boundary of New Alresford as 
shown on the policies map. The central area of the site which is allocated for green 
infrastructure is outside the policy boundary. 
The Winchester District Local Plan Part 1 – Joint Core Strategy (LPP1) sets out that new 
housing should be accommodated through development and redevelopment opportunities 
within existing settlement boundaries first and sets a target of about 500 new dwellings to 
be provided in New Alresford. The housing and employment areas within the application 
site are located inside the development boundary of New Alresford and therefore the 
principle of development is acceptable.

Winchester District Local Plan Part 2 Development Management and Site Allocations 
assessed sites available to meet the housing requirement through the local plan process.
The application site was allocated under policy NA3 to provide approximately 33 hectares 
of land to include about 10 hectares of residential development (about 325 dwellings), 5 
hectares of employment uses including a new access onto the A31 and 15 hectares of 
informal recreational open space and a burial ground. 

The application is proposing the following;
 Up to 320 dwellings
 3.4 hectares of employment land (excluding the access onto the A31 which 

amounts to approximately 1.91 hectares) to include uses within Classes B1, B2 and 
B8.

 16.9 hectares of open space
 Car park for New Alresford Bowls Club
 Realignment of Sun Lane
 Park and stride for the school and enhanced school facilities.
 New access to the A31
 Burial ground.

In terms of quantum of development the housing allocation provides for 5 fewer units than 
the policy allows for although this was an approximation not a fixed number and so the 
shortfall is considered to be acceptable and within the generally accepted 10% tolerances 
expected with major development sites. The quantum of open space is in excess of what 
the policy requires and the amount of employment and land required for the A31 junction 
slightly exceeds 5 hectares specified in the policy at 5.3 hectares. 
Policy NA3 includes the following additional requirements:

Nature & Phasing of Development;

Page 63



Case No: 17/01528/OUT

 The submission of a masterplan establishing principles for the disposition of 
housing, employment, open space, access points and linkages,

 To provide for housing development on about 10 hectares of land to the north of the 
site

 Business development and a new access to the Alresford Bypass on about 5 
hectares to the south

 Open space and burial ground on about 15 hectares in the central part of the site,
 A phasing plan establishing the order of development ensuring the provision of a 

new access to the Alresford Bypass in advance of business uses being developed 
and to ensure that serviced land for business uses is made available before the 
completion of the housing phases. The provision of affordable houses should be in 
line with market housing provision and the phasing of the open space should be 
agreed.

The Schedule of Areas indicates a slightly smaller area for residential development but the 
scheme is for up to 320 dwellings which is consistent with the Local Plan allocation for 
about 325 dwellings. 

The application is supported by a masterplan and phasing plan and strategy which are in 
accordance with the expectations of the policy and so are acceptable. 

Access;
 Access to the site should be primarily from the south by means of a new junction 

onto the A31 as the first phase of development.
 Include measures to provide new / improved pedestrian and cycle access from the 

site into the town centre and to the surrounding development and countryside 
including off site improvements as necessary. 

 Include measures to discourage use of motorised transport and to manage traffic so 
as to minimise the impact of development on nearby residential roads particularly 
Sun Lane, Nursery Road and Tichborne Down;

 Produce a transport assessment setting out how the transport requirements will be 
met. This should include off site vehicle, pedestrian, cycle and public transport 
improvements to be provided or funded by the development. 

The application is supported by a Transport Assessment which has been assessed by 
Hampshire County Council due to the strategic nature of the proposals. This proposes that 
the new access onto the A31 and changes to Sun Lane comprise Phase 1. This means 
that serviced land for business use will be made available before any housing as required 
by NA3 and will also allow for construction traffic to use the new access avoiding local 
roads as much as possible.

Environmental
 Retain and reinforce existing landscaped boundaries particularly the eastern edge. 
 Provide suitable boundary treatment on the western edges to protect the amenities 

of existing housing.
 Provide about 15 hectares of open space in the central part of the site.
 Provide on site open space with equipped play area within the proposed housing 

site.

Page 64



Case No: 17/01528/OUT

The masterplan submitted with the application indicates that the landscape boundaries will 
be enhanced and that a significant landscape buffer is being provided between the 
business park and existing dwellings. Approximately 16 hectares of open space is being 
provided in the central part of the site and open space including a play area is indicated 
within and adjacent to the housing allocation both of which accord with the policy 
requirement. 

Other Infrastructure
 Provide a connection to the nearest point of adequate capacity in the sewerage 

network
 Ensure that the Groundwater Protection Zone is protected
 Contribute to the expansion of Sun Hill Infants and Junior Schools and other 

infrastructure needed to make the development acceptable in planning terms. 
The application is supported by a drainage strategy which has been assessed by Southern 
Water who have confirmed that they have no objection to the proposals but require further 
details to be sought by way of conditions.

The Groundwater Protection Zone will also need to be protected and the Environment 
Agency has recommended that a condition will be needed to cover this.

The off site contribution needed for the expansion of the Sun Hill Infants and Junior 
Schools has been agreed with Hampshire County Council Education.  

The application also proposes a re-alignment of Sun Lane and a new/improved drop-
off/parking area or open area for the Schools. This should improve the school environment 
and remove traffic from going past the front of the school.  

The proposed development is in accordance with the provisions of policy NA3 and the 
principle is therefore acceptable. 

There are other policies in LPP2 which will be relevant to this application particularly when 
the reserved matters are submitted.   

DM1 sets out that new development should be located within the defined boundaries of 
settlements including New Alresford. The proposal is therefore in accordance with this 
policy.
DM2 sets minimum dwelling sizes which any reserved matters applications will need to 
accord with. 
DM6 requires developments to provide adequate amenity space and the submitted 
masterplan shows that amenity space and play area will be provided within the housing 
allocation. 
DM15 – 17 require developments to be appropriately designed and laid out, this will be 
negotiated at reserved matters stage. 
DM18 requires parking to be provided to adopted standards and this will be discussed 
when the detailed layouts are submitted. 
DM19 deals with development and pollution and requires development to achieve an 
acceptable standard of environmental quality and not have unacceptable impacts on 
health or quality of life. 
DM26 deals with archaeology, this is intended to be covered by condition and the Head of 
Historic Environment has confirmed that this is an acceptable approach. 
Within LPP1 the following polices will also apply to future reserved matters applications. 

Page 65



Case No: 17/01528/OUT

CP2 requires new development to provide a mix of dwelling types, tenures and sizes with 
a majority of homes being in the form of 2 and 3 bedroom houses. The mix is not known at 
this stage but future reserved matters applications should accord with this policy. 
CP3 LPP1 requires 40% affordable housing to be provided and this is confirmed in the 
Affordable Housing Strategy which is submitted with the application. The Affordable 
Housing Statement submitted with the application also proposes to follow the 70/30 split of 
affordable rented/intermediate housing proposed by LPP1 policy CP3. 
CP7 requires provision to be made for open space, sport and recreation. The submitted 
masterplan indicates the areas to be made available for open space and recreation. 
CP10 requires development to be located and designed to reduce the need to travel. The 
use of non car modes of transport should also be encouraged. 
CP11 deals with sustainability and will be considered in detail at reserved matters stage. 
CP13 requires development to be of high quality design and appropriate to its context. 
CP14 considers the effective use of land to make sure that land available for development 
is used effectively. The application follows the local plan allocations and is considered to 
be acceptable. 
CP15 deals with green infrastructure including public realm, access to the natural 
environment where appropriate, biodiversity links and ensuring they are provided in a 
timely manner. The master plan and phasing plan and measures in the HRA Regulations 
and EIA assessment will ensure that this is achieved on this site. 

The application is supported by an Environmental Statement (ES), Habitat Regulations 
Assessment screening report (HRA) and Transport Assessment which have considered 
whether or not the proposed development will have likely significant impacts. The 
Environmental Statement has been advertised and consulted upon in accordance with the 
Regulations.

The Transport Assessment has been assessed by Hampshire County Council who have 
concluded that the proposed transport arrangements are acceptable and that there will be 
no significant impacts requiring mitigation. 

The HRA has been assessed by Natural England and the City Council’s ecologist who 
have confirmed that without mitigation the proposed development would have an adverse 
effect on the integrity of the River Itchen Special Area of Conservation, damage or destroy 
the interest features for which the River Itchen Site of Special Scientific Interest and 
Alresford Pond have been notified and have a significant impact on the purposes of 
designation of the South Downs National Park. However mitigation has been proposed in 
the following documents and will be conditioned;

 Flood risk assessment
 Construction Environmental Management Plan.

Provided that development adheres to these conditioned documents and provides 
mitigation then Natural England agree that likely significant effects on the interest features 
of the River Itchen SAC can be screened out from the HRA and the impact of the 
development in respect of the HRA Regulations is considered to be acceptable. 

The application is also supported by an Environmental Statement. The proposed 
development was screened and scoped under the Environmental Impact Assessment 
Regulations and was found to be EIA development which is required to be supported by 

Page 66



Case No: 17/01528/OUT

an Environmental Statement (ES). Following consultation the scoping opinion advised the 
following issues were required to be addressed within the ES:

• potential impacts to the aquifer and the pollution prevention measure necessary to 
address any identified impacts.
• The site falls partly within an area of medium to high flood risk zone (2 and / or 3) and it is 
considered that development as proposed here could lead to major long - term negative
effects on water.
• potential impacts to the following areas of environmental sensitivity;
-- Alresford Pond Site of Special Scientific Interest (SSSI)
-- River Itchen Special Area of Conservation (SAC) and SSSI
-- South Downs National Park
-- Public Rights of Way
• Detailed Ecological Appraisal relating to the sensitive habitats and species associated 
with them such as Southern Damselfly and Bullhead.
• impacts of air and climate and the potential for dust and particulates to impact the 
designated sites once airborne and transported from the development site particularly 
during the construction phase.
Direct effects on habitat and species through land - take as no information has been 
provided on ecological surveys such as Phase 1 Habitat and the likely presence of any 
protected species (and associated recommendations and mitigation).
• It is suggested that a Project-Level HRA screening should be undertaken to confirm that 
there will be no significant adverse effects on the national and internationally protected
biodiversity of the SSSI and SAC.
• Nationally protected species (bats) are indicated close to the site. It is suggested that an 
EIA is undertaken to provide the further information required to demonstrate that such
important mobile species will be protected and provide information on links with Green 
Infrastructure policy and ecological enhancement.
• Potential impacts on archaeology and heritage.
Although the Screening and Scoping Opinion pre-dates the 2017 EIA Regulations coming 
into effect the ES has been updated to ensure that it is in line with the most recent EIA 
Regulations. 
The ES and Non Technical Summary contain the conclusions in respect of each of the 
areas considered.

Transport and Accessibility;
The Proposed Development has been fully assessed and the overall residual impact of 
any additional travel movements on the existing transport networks is concluded to be 
negligible. A package of on and off site measures are proposed to improve the local
transport infrastructure in order to mitigate the impact of any residual traffic associated with 
the Proposed Development. These measures are based on the provision of a new, all 
movements junction on the A31. In respect of overall traffic flow on the existing road 
network, link capacity analysis has shown a Minor Adverse impact in terms of additional 
movements, and the analysis of impact on key junctions was shown to be Negligible.
The development will provide a network of on-site cycle and pedestrian routes which will 
connect to the existing network and also enhance the amenity of the open space area 
within the site. A Construction Environmental Management Plan (CEMP) will be 
conditioned and will ensure that construction traffic, and access to the development, is
correctly managed to minimise any impact it may have on the existing road network 
amongst other things.

Page 67



Case No: 17/01528/OUT

Ecology and Nature Conservation;
The baseline survey work includes detailed surveys of vegetation and habitats, Bird 
populations, Bats, Dormice, Badgers & other mammal species, Reptiles and Amphibians, 
and Invertebrates. Each ecological feature has been assessed in relation to the potential
effects that could occur without the proposed mitigation measures. The proposed 
mitigation measures include provision of an Ecological Management Strategy (that 
includes habitat creation in areas of open space and buffers within the site) and
an Ecological Mitigation Strategy to protect retained habitats, protected species and 
species of conservation concern. The residual effects have then been assessed, and the 
assessment has shown that there would be no significant adverse effects in terms of
ecology or nature conservation, and measures are proposed to provide
biodiversity gain within the approximately 16.84ha of open space, as part of the 
development.

Landscape and Visual Assessment;
In accordance with policy NA3 the locations of the proposed buildings and roads have 
been located in the least sensitive areas within the site in order to mitigate impacts. 
The effects would reduce to effects of major-moderate or moderate significance at Year 15 
as a result of the increased screening effects of maturing structural mitigation planting.
The visual effects of the proposed development generally diminish with increasing 
distance away from the site on account of the effects of distance and the enclosure 
provided by intervening landform, vegetation and buildings. Where built form would be 
potentially visible, the proposed landscape framework has been located to help ensure 
successful integration of the buildings, roads and tree/shrub framework into existing views. 
Similarly views from public rights of way will be protected through strategic landscaping 
which will reach full maturity in 15 years but provide a degree of screening prior to that. 

The site is located within the Bramdean Woodlands Landscape Character Area (LCA) and 
it is considered that there would be medium level effects of  low adverse significance 
during construction, at Year 1 and  negligible atYear 15. There would be low level effects 
of slight adverse significance on the Itchen Valley LCA during construction and at Year 1. 
These effects would fall to negligible effects of minimal significance by Year 15 on account 
of the substantial maturity of the proposed structural vegetation framework. The 
development proposals would not have any material effect on the fabric of the National 
Park landscape. The robust proposed tree/shrub vegetation framework and the screening 
effects of intervening vegetation is such that the characteristics and visual amenity of 
views, both during the day and at night, from those parts of the SDNP where proposed 
housing and employment units would be theoretically visible, would be substantially 
conserved. The proposed development would have negligible effects on the SDNP and 
these would be of minimal significance. The landscape character, special qualities and 
visual amenity of the SDNP would be conserved.

Air Quality;
Construction Phase Effects;
8.7.1. A generic assessment of the potential dust and PM10 (PM 10 is particulate matter 
10 micrometers or less in diameter) effects during the construction phase of the proposed 
development has been carried out. With the implementation of suitable mitigation 
measures and good site practice, the overall significance of the effects was deemed to be 
not significant. The ‘with development’ scenario (construction of the proposed 
development) has been compared to a ‘no development’ baseline. The residual effect after 

Page 68



Case No: 17/01528/OUT

mitigation, considering the risk and temporary nature, is not considered significant and is 
unlikely to pose a risk to human health and the local population.
Operational Phase Effects;
Significant NO2 (Nitrogen Dioxide) impacts at some existing receptor locations, mainly at
receptors close to the A31, have been predicted. However, all modelled receptor locations 
would remain below the annual mean objective of 40 μg/m3 (amount of chemical vapour, 
fumes or dust in the ambient air). Negligible PM10 impacts at all existing receptor locations 
have been predicted. All modelled receptor locations remain below the annual mean 
objective of 40 μg/m3. Predicted annual mean NO2 levels at the proposed development 
site are all below the annual mean objective of 40 μg/m3 and it is unlikely that the one-
hour objective of 200 μg/m3 would be breached. Predicted annual mean PM10 levels at 
the proposed development site are all below the annual mean national objective of 
40μg/m3 and the daily mean objective of 50 μg/m3 not being exceeded more than 35 
times per year. Air quality at the site is therefore considered to be suitable for the
intended use. The ‘with development’ scenario (associated vehicles) has been compared
to a ‘no development’ baseline. The residual effect after mitigation, considering the 
predicted pollutant concentrations are within the air quality objective levels, is considered 
to not pose a significant risk to human health and the local population.

Water Quality and Hydrology;
An assessment has been carried out to establish the potential effects of the proposed 
development on the water environment (groundwater, surface water and the ecological
habitats that rely on the latter). This considered the application site and its environs with 
respect to its hydrogeology and groundwater resources, surface water characteristics and
ecological designations, where those designations depend on the quality of the associated 
water environment. The assessment has concluded that although there is potential for 
sediment and contaminants to be mobilised during both construction and operational 
phases of the proposed development, the scale of any such events, with the 
implementation of the Construction Environment Management Plan (CEMP), management 
protocol, design and mitigation measures is such that no significant effect on the water 
environment is likely to result. There is a groundwater Special Protection Zone (SPZ) 
beneath the southern part of the site, the layout of the commercial area has been 
developed to ensure buildings are on higher ground, and thus less likely to be subject to 
flooding and thus any associated pollution spread should soakaways be inundated.
The designated sites (the River Alre, Alresford Pond and River Itchen) that are potentially 
fed by groundwater that passes beneath the application site are considered to be at low 
risk from the proposed development as the nature and scale of effects, should they occur, 
are likely to be short term and of negligible magnitude. With respect to the Water 
Framework Directive (WFD), the proposed development will not have a negative effect on
the elements of the River Itchen Chalk that currently fail with respect to the WFD’s 
requirements: groundwater quality (Drinking Water Protected Area, general chemical test) 
or groundwater quantity (water balance and Quantitative Dependent Surface Water Body 
Status). The poor chemical status of the water body is partly due to the presence of
nitrates in the groundwater. By removal of the application site from agricultural use, 
additional planting and the use of appropriate procedures to manage the landscape and 
open space areas of the application site, the development may in fact provide a small 
contribution to the reduction of nitrates into the groundwater environment. Neither will the 
proposed development contribute a negative effect to the surface water designated sites 
near the application site e.g. fish movement in the River Arle, silting up in Alresford Pond 
or water levels and land management along the River Itchen. The removal of the 

Page 69



Case No: 17/01528/OUT

application site from agricultural use may, provide a small contribution to the reduction of 
nitrates into the groundwater environment and thus in the connected surface water bodies.
The proposed development is thus in compliance with the WFD and its associated 
legislation. No cumulative or residual effects are anticipated.

Flood Risk & Drainage
The majority of the site is at low risk of flooding from all sources during the construction 
phase. There is a high risk of surface water flooding along the southern boundary 
although, given the relatively short duration for works required in this area the risk of 
concurrent flooding is low. Therefore, during the limited construction phase of the 
development, there is a neutral overall effect of flood risk to the site that is considered not
significant.

Surface Water Runoff and Downstream Flood Risk
Disturbance of the ground during the construction phase may encourage more rapid runoff 
of surface water. Construction of a bund in the northwest corner of the site will be used to
prevent surface water reaching properties in Langtons Court and divert the flows to the 
infiltration basin. The residential properties will be built in phases over a number of years. 
Therefore, the drainage strategy features associated with the earlier phases will be in 
place and operational before construction of the later phases begins, thereby reducing the
potential for exacerbation of downstream flooding. • On this basis, there would be a low 
risk of surface water runoff causing downstream flooding during the construction
phase, and the effect is therefore considered not significant.

Operational Phase Effects
Flood Risk to the Site
The site is considered to be at low risk of fluvial and tidal flooding and the proposed 
development classes proposed are therefore appropriate for the site. Therefore, based on 
the assessment criteria, there is no significant effect on flood risk to the site during the 
operational phase.

Surface Water Runoff and Downstream Flood Risk;
Once construction is completed the proposed development would increase the 
impermeable area of the site to approximately 7.56 ha (25% of the initial greenfield area).
In addition, the NPPF identifies that rainfall intensities will increase in the future as a result 
of the predicted effects of climate change and that the resultant increases in surface
water runoff need to be accounted for when designing new drainage systems. Future 
rainfall intensities, peak runoff rates from the site are predicted to increase. Without 
mitigation these would result in an increased risk of flooding to downstream receptors,
which would be a significant adverse effect according to the assessment criteria. However, 
the surface water drainage strategy for the proposed development ensures that runoff
from the impermeable areas is infiltrated into the ground via different SuDS features. The 
design and sizing of these features is based on a 1 in 100 year event with an additional
30% allowance for climate change. Under the proposals new buildings will not be located 
within the surface water flood route in the southern part of the application site. The natural
topography will be enhanced with an oversized swale and infiltration basin to provide flood 
storage for surface water flows. With this designed-in mitigation the effect on surface
water flooding and downstream flood risk is not significant.

Foul Drainage;

Page 70



Case No: 17/01528/OUT

Foul flow rates will increase as a result of the new development. Southern Water has 
advised that there is insufficient capacity in the existing network and a new connection will 
be required from the development site to the New Alresford Waste Water Treatment 
Works (WWTW). Foul drainage from the development will be connected to this system. As 
discussed above, surface water drainage will be dealt with separately and will not enter the 
foul drainage system. Given this arrangement, the effect on sewer flooding will not be 
significant. With the designed-in mitigation, there are deemed to be no significant adverse 
effects relating to flood risk and drainage for either the construction or operation phase
of the proposed development. The additional mitigation discussed above will further 
reduce flood risk and drainage impacts and ensure the SuDS continue to function in the
long term. There are not considered to be any significant residual effects. 

Archaeology and Heritage;
The results of the archaeological evaluation identified evidence of prehistoric 
archaeological activity, within the north-east corner of the site area. Trenches dug within 
predicted areas of moderate to high archaeological activity, contained archaeological
features related to a predicted grouping of 3, probable pre-historic [Bronze age] ring ditch 
features. The majority of features were heavily truncated. The truncated nature of all 
recorded features strongly suggests that archaeological levels have been severely 
impacted upon by ploughing activity. It is suggested that for all categories of assets within 
the site area, mitigation should be put in place and this will be covered by conditions. This 
approach is supported by the Head of Historic Environment. 
In respect of Heritage Assets, Sun Cottage, Laundry Cottage and Stables Cottages are 
listed buildings which are identified as having Medium Importance. Due to the distance 
between the development Site and these assets, the tight nature of their immediate 
setting, and the heavy planted buffering between these assets and land to the east and 
southeast (which is to be retained and enhanced), there will be no change to the 
significance of these assets and they will not be adversely impacted upon by the proposed 
development. Similarly, the proposed new road junction, whilst having some intervisibility 
with these assets, will not generate any change in aural or environmental terms, and will 
not impact upon the character of their setting in a way that generates harm to the setting of 
the listed buildings. . This new junction will not alter the nature of the Sun Lane/Whitehall 
Road junction, and will be experienced within the wider context of an already busy and 
noisy A31. Therefore, overall, a negligible impact will arise to these assets as a result of 
the development.

New Alresford Conservation Area: The development will be well-screened from the 
Conservation Area; the development boundary is approximately 500m from the south-
eastern edge of the Conservation Area, but built form is not proposed within the Site close 
to this boundary. Furthermore, the southern boundary of the Area, being well formed by 
the former Mid Hants Railway provides a strong visual boundary, formed of tree-lined 
embankment. Further design mitigation is through the use of additional planted boundaries 
within the site. The proposals in this location will cause no harm in visual terms to
the conservation area. It is noted that the scheme will cause an increase in traffic 
movements in the vicinity of the Site, including along East Street, West Street and Broad 
Street, through the Conservation Area. This area is already busy with traffic, with car 
parking and car movements already forming an integral part of one’s experience of this 
vicinity. The likely increase in vehicle movements around the junction of East, West and
Broad Streets is identified within the transport assessment to be around 5%, a relatively 
minor change in overall numerical terms. The additional traffic movements will not have a 
material impact on the character and appearance of the New Alresford Conservation Area 

Page 71



Case No: 17/01528/OUT

in aural or experiential terms. As such, overall, a negligible impact will arise to the New 
Alresford Conservation Area. 

There are relatively few designated built heritage assets within the vicinity of the Site. 
Those assets that do exist, along Tichborne Down, and further north around the core of 
New Alresford, will be well-screened visually from the proposed development, and will not 
experience a notable aural or environmental impact on their significance. A negligible 
impact will arise on the historic built environment. It is therefore not considered that 
mitigation is required.

The application follows the principles of policy NA3 and other development plan policies 
relevant to the development. The application is supported by a Transport Assessment, 
Habitats Regulations Assessment and Environmental Impact Assessment which have 
ruled out likely significant impacts and identified the mitigation needed and this will be 
conditioned. The principle of the development is acceptable. 

Design/layout.
The application is submitted in outline with only the details relating to the means of 
access to be determined at this stage. Illustrative plans indicating the broad disposition 
of the development on the site, housing to the north, open space on the central high 
ground and employment to the south, have been submitted to show that the quantum of 
development proposed is in accordance with policy NA3. These illustrative plans are in 
accordance with the principles of development set out in policy NA3. The details of the 
layout will be agreed via reserved matters applications in the future. 

An area of land is being set aside for Sun Hill Infants School and Sun Lane is proposed 
to be rerouted at this point to ensure that there is no highway dividing the school from its 
new area of land. It is also proposed to provide a “Park and Stride” facility for the school 
but the location for this is not fixed yet and will be negotiated with Hampshire County 
Council education department and the school. 

A new car park for the bowls club is proposed in the north west corner of the site which 
is as close to the bowls club as can be managed within the site. The bowls club have 
used this area of land for car parking in the past as they have no parking of their own 
and the application safeguards this land for their use in the future. 

The employment area will be accessed directly from the new junction on the A31 which 
is in accordance with policy NA3.

It is intended that the site will be developed in phases and a phasing plan has been 
submitted in the suite of documents to be approved.  The main infrastructure is to be 
completed in Phase 1 prior to any further development on the site taking place this will 
include the new roundabout on the A31, the internal roads the bypass around the 
school on Sun Lane and drainage infrastructure. The provision and timing will be 
controlled by way of a legal agreement. The strategic planting and open space will also 
be provided in the first year of development. It is anticipated that the overhead lines will 
be put underground in year 2 of the development thus improving the amenities of the 
open space.  
The housing will be provided in five phases over a 6 year period with the bulk of the 
houses (115) being provided in the second year of the development and between 45 – 
55 dwellings in the remaining phases over a period of four years.

Page 72



Case No: 17/01528/OUT

It is anticipated that the business park phase 1 will be started in the first year of 
development once the main access has been secure and the second phase in year 3. A 
20m landscape buffer is proposed between the existing houses on Sun Lane and the 
proposed business park. The Design and Access Statement sets out the proposed 
principles of residential development which allows for development to respond to its 
context with higher density development to the centre of the residential allocation, a 
green area in the centre and a countryside edge. 

Policy NA3 also requires the provision of a burial ground which is indicated to the 
eastern boundary of the site but the final position will need to take into account the fact 
that vehicular access will be required and also the hydrological conditions. 
The parameters plan indicates the residential development will not exceed 2.5 storeys 
in height and the employment land will be limited to 2 storey. 

The illustrative phasing and timing is shown on the illustrative phasing plan and is 
considered to be acceptable. It is anticipated that the development will take 8 years to 
complete. 

The detailed design of each of the housing and commercial phases will be in 
subsequent reserved matters applications. The illustrative plans submitted in support of 
the application give an indication of where the development is to be located and this is 
in accordance with policy NA3 and is therefore acceptable at this stage.

Highways.  
The means of access to the site are the only details to be determined at this stage with 
the remainder of the application being in outline with further details to be submitted as 
reserved matters,  including the proposed internal roads and parking for the residential 
and commercial as well as the new car park for the bowls club and facilities for the 
school the detail of which are still to be agreed. The application is supported by a Traffic 
Impact Assessment (TRA) which has considered all the highways issues relating to the 
application and  has been assessed by Hampshire County Council (HCC) due to the 
strategic nature of the works. The TRA has been revised including the presentation of 
the traffic impact data, additional personal injury accident data, confirmation of a gross 
floor area for the employment zone of 10,814m2 and additional traffic surveys as 
requested by HCC and is now considered to be acceptable. 

The applicant is proposing various highways related development in accordance with 
the policy requirements of NA3 (LPP2).

The likely traffic distribution from the proposed development has been examined and 
shows that all affected junctions are operating well within capacity and will continue to 
do so. Whilst there will be a material increase in traffic on Nursery Road it is still within 
the capacity of the road and does not result in a severe impact on the operation of 
junctions at either end and so is acceptable.

Journey time data has been used to assess the likelihood of vehicles routing through 
the Alresford area and using the new A31 junction to reach destinations east and west 
on the A31. The journey times indicate that it is unlikely that the new junction would 
have an impact on the route choices of those who pass nearby to Alresford on their 
journey as alternate, existing routes exist that would be both quicker and shorter in 

Page 73



Case No: 17/01528/OUT

distance. It is therefore considered that the impact on the B3046 and Tichborne 
Down from traffic routing through to the new junction on the A31 would be minimal as 
traffic would use alternative routes.  

A new roundabout is proposed on the A31 which will provide direct access to the 
employment part of the site and the realigned Sun Lane. The access to the A31 will be 
provided in advance of business uses being developed to accord with NA3. 
Measures to improve pedestrian / cycle access from the site exist along Nursery Road 
and along a footpath leading from Sun Lane to the centre of Alresford. The developer is 
contributing £20,00 to allow HCC to make improvements to these two areas as 
required. 
Traffic management is included in the S106 Service Delivery Management Plan and will 
include additional signage to discourage HGV’s from using Sun Lane and directing them 
to the new roundabout onto the A31. Existing signs can also be improved / updated. 
A new access to the school will be provided with a crossing point (location to be agreed) 
to allow children using the “Park and Stride” facility to cross the road safely. There will 
also be a new coach access to the school including full turning facilities. The land to the 
west of the realigned Sun Lane will be gifted to the school. 
The zebra crossing facilities previously proposed have been amended to dropped kerbs 
with tactile paving. This is to be implemented on all arms of the residential roundabout 
to provide sufficient crossing points in the vicinity of the residential area and school. 
As outlined within the Technical Note, the ‘Park and Stride’ location is to be moved 
further north along Sun Lane to account for the vertical alignment in the area. This does 
not form part of this application and will be covered in the legal agreement.   
The new connection from Whitehill Lane to the proposed business park has not been 
demonstrated to be suitable as indicated on the current drawing but a suitable 
connection can be achieved to the business park within the constraints and consider the 
connection identified on the existing drawing to be indicative, with the final connection to 
be determined as part of a detailed design process .  
The Travel Plan as submitted is not acceptable but submission of a suitable TP is 
required as part of the legal agreement and will be agreed prior to any development 
commencing on the site.   Details of on site car parking and access will be determined 
at reserved matters stage but will be provided to standard as set out in the Design and 
Access Statement. These detailed matters will be assessed by the City Council’s 
engineer as part of the reserved matters applications. 

Hampshire County Council have assessed the Transport Assessment and Addendum 
and confirmed that they indicate that the traffic proposals and mitigation provided as 
part of the application are acceptable and that there will be no significant likely impacts 
as a result of the development. Traffic surveys have been undertaken and impacts 
based on the likely floor space of development have shown that the highways proposals 
are acceptable. 
The highways proposals are acceptable, are in accordance with the provisions of policy 
NA3 (LPP2)and will not have adverse impacts on the highways network or road safety. 

Impact on character of area and neighbouring property.
The general impacts and suitability of developing this site were assessed during the local 
plan process when a Strategic Environmental Assessment was undertaken. The 
application has been supported by an ES which has considered impacts on the area and 
neighbours and concluded that no likely significant impacts are expected and that 
mitigation will be approved as part of the application. 

Page 74



Case No: 17/01528/OUT

Strategic buffer planting is indicated illustratively on the submitted masterplan and shows 
that there is sufficient space on the site to provide a buffer to protect amenity. When 
details of the layout are established overlooking distances and impacts of built form on 
neighbours will be fully assessed.

The LVIA has established the areas where additional strategic planting is needed to 
protect views it will be conditioned and provided in year 1 of the development. It is 
considered that on this basis then the impact of the proposed development on the 
character of the area and neighbouring properties is acceptable. 

Landscape/Trees.
The location of the proposed development has been indicated on the master plan which 
accompanies the application. The residential and commercial developments have been 
located on the lowest areas of the site to lessen impacts and the high ground at the centre 
of the site is retained for open space which will not require built form which could be 
intrusive within the landscape. The landscape boundaries to the east and west of the site 
will be strengthened in accordance with Policy NA3 and will be done in the first year of the 
development which will allow them to establish early in the development. 

The application was supported by a Landscape Visual Impact Assessment (LVIA) which 
has proven that the impact of the proposed development is being minimised by positioning 
the houses and business uses on the lower parts of the site (north and south) where they 
will have least impact.

In terms of the potential layout of the employment land area shown on the illustrative plans 
it is noted that it does not make the best of the landscape setting of the site and when the 
detailed plans come forward attention should be given to placing the buildings immediately 
adjacent to the open space rather than the car parking as this would create a better 
environment for future employees.  

Whilst the housing layout is illustrative only it gives an indication that the numbers of 
houses proposed can be provided within the site. The layout and car parking court 
approach shown illustratively may require some revisions at reserved matter stages 
particularly because car parking courts are often under used and landscaping suffers as a 
result with cars being parked on landscaped areas which are more convenient to the 
houses. These issues will be resolved at reserved matter stage when the detail of this part 
of the development is known.

The illustrative layout also shows a significant belt of trees which would separate the 
housing development from the open space. It is recommended that this be revisited in the 
detailed design to ensure at least some over looking from houses to the open space in 
order to provide security and surveillance. These are all matters which are not set in the 
current outline application and are indicative only. The details will be agreed when the 
reserved matters applications are submitted. 

The proposed strategic planting is indicated on the illustrative masterplan and will be 
provided in year 1 of the development to allow it to start to establish prior to built form 
being commenced. The existing boundaries are to be enhanced in accordance with the 
requirements of NA3 and this will include additional planting between the new junction with 
the A31 and the existing dwellings on Tichborne Down. 

Page 75



Case No: 17/01528/OUT

The illustrative masterplan proposes a play area in a central open space within the 
development. It is suggested that this be an informal area to avoid noise conflicts with the 
surrounding houses. A larger equipped play area could be provided on the large area of 
open space in the centre of the site. The submission of a play strategy will be conditioned. 
The SUDS strategy will incorporate attractive features that will form part of the landscaping 
and enhance the appearance of the site. 

There is a network of footpaths proposed over the site and through the open space which 
will link with existing off site footpaths and contribute to the local network. The provision of 
the proposed new public rights of way will be secured via the S106 agreement for the 
development. 

The impact of the proposals on trees and landscape are acceptable as is the proposed 
landscape mitigation. 

Ecology, protected species and HRA.
The application site is close to several environmentally sensitive areas including the River 
Itchen and Alresford Pond Special Area for Conservation (SAC) and Site of Special 
Scientific Interest (SSSI).It is also in close proximity to the nationally designated landscape 
South Downs National Park (SDNP). The southern part of the site is within an area 
classified as Best Most Versatile land which is classified Grade 2 under the Agricultural 
Land Classification denoting soil quality as very good quality agricultural land. The 
northern and central parts of the site are Grade 3a – good quality agricultural land. 

The application is supported by an Environmental Impact Assessment (EIA) and Habitats 
Regulations Assessment (HRA). The conclusions of these assessments which have been 
endorsed by Natural England are that likely significant effects on the interest features of 
the River Itchen SAC (a European protected site under the  Conservation of Habitats and 
Species Regulations 2010 and 2017 (Habitats Regulations)) are unlikely to occur due to 
the design of the proposals, proposed mitigation measures and adherence to a 
Construction Environmental Management Plan (CEMP) that will reduce construction 
impacts on air and water quality. This means that there is no obligation on WCC to carry 
out an “Appropriate Assessment” under the  Habitats  Regulations  which require an 
Appropriate Assessment to be carried out by a local planning authority before granting 
planning permission where a proposal, either alone or in combination, would be likely to 
have a significant effect on any European site. 

The application is also supported by a Flood Risk Assessment and Drainage Strategy 
which proposes a design to manage surface water run-off that incorporates a number of 
sustainable drainage features.

The impacts of the proposed development on ecology have been assessed and 
appropriate mitigation agreed which will ensure that the ecological interest of the site is not 
damaged by the development and is therefore acceptable.

Protected Species

Where developments affect European protected species (EPS), permission can be 
granted unless the development is likely to result in a breach of the EU Directive 

Page 76



Case No: 17/01528/OUT

underpinning the Habitats Regulations and is unlikely to be granted an EPS licence from 
Natural England to allow the development to proceed under derogation from the law. 

An EPS licence can only be granted if the development proposal is able to meet three 
tests:
1. The activity must be for imperative reasons of overriding public interest or for public 
health and safety
2. There must be no satisfactory alternative: and
3. Favourable conservation status of the species must be maintained.

In respect of this application the proposed development is considered to be imperative for 
reasons of overriding public interest as it is providing much needed housing including 40% 
affordable housing, employment land to replace that lost under policy NA2 on The Dean in 
Alresford which has now been largely redeveloped for housing and open space that will 
improve the amenities of Alresford. 
There is no satisfactory alternative because the site is allocated in LPP2 and has been 
identified as being the most suitable and available site to provide this quantum of 
development required for Alresford.
The favourable conservation status of the species will be maintained through the package 
of mitigation which will be secured by legal agreement and conditions. 
It is considered that the requirements of the derogation tests have been met. The impact of 
the proposed development on ecology is therefore considered to be acceptable. 

Affordable Housing.
Whilst the application is submitted in outline it is supported by an Affordable Housing 
Statement which explains how it is proposed to provide affordable housing as part of the 
proposed development. 

The National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF) requires Local Authorities to plan for a 
sufficient number of home both market and affordable to meet the objectively assessed 
housing need in their area. 

The application site has been allocated through LPP2 and policy NA3 will provide for up to 
325 homes 40% of which will be affordable. The tenure split is proposed to be 70% 
affordable rent and 30% intermediate housing which is in accordance with policy. The 
proposed tenure split will enable the delivery of a variety of affordable housing tenures to a 
wide range of households in need of affordable housing, assisting with the creation of a 
balanced and sustainable community; this is particularly important on a site of this scale.
The affordable housing is proposed in a range of 1, 2, 3, and 4 bedroom homes, with the 
majority to be provided as 2 and 3 bedroom accommodation.

The affordable dwellings will also be compliant with the Nationally Described Space 
Standards and policy DM2.

The affordable housing proposals put forward as part of the outline application are in 
accordance with National and local plan policy and therefore are acceptable in principle. 
The provision and retention of affordable housing will have to be covered in the S106 
agreement which will form part of the outline planning permission and will ensure that 
provision is in accordance with the Affordable Housing Statement. The principle of the 
affordable housing offer is therefore acceptable. 

Page 77



Case No: 17/01528/OUT

Recommendation:

That planning permission be GRANTED subject to a s106 Legal Agreement (the terms 
of which are to be approved by the Legal Services Manager) 
(Note: If the Legal Agreement is not completed within 6 months then the application 
may be refused without further reference to Committee)

Planning Obligations/Agreements (Heads of Terms) to secure financial 
contributions and the following: 

1. Delivery of the new roundabout on the A31 as indicated on Iceni drawing number 
16-T081 02 dated 13/7/16 and 16-T081 23 rev A dated 27/9/17 via a S278 
agreement with Hampshire County Council to be delivered prior to any other 
development on site. 

2. Delivery of the realigned Sun Lane and provision of a new school access,  with full 
facilities for turning coaches as indicated on Pell Frischmann drawing 16-T081-002 
Rev A dated 8/2/18 via a S278 agreement and details of how  the long term 
arrangements for the new school access on land to the west of the re-aligned Sun 
Lane  will be delivered and secured.

3. Details of delivery and position of a crossing  point to allow school children to cross 
Sun Lane when utilising the “park and stride” facility to be agreed with Hampshire 
County Council.

4. Delivery of a new roundabout to access the residential development, to include for 
pedestrian provision as indicated on Pell Frischmann drawing 16-T081-002 Rev A 
dated 8/2/18 via a S278 agreement.

5. Provision of a realigned Sun Lane, gateway access into the proposed business park 
from Sun Lane, internal roads of the business park and new connection and 
stopping up of Whitehill Lane as indicated on Iceni drawing number 16-T081 30 
dated 14/2/18 and 16-T081 25 Rev B dated 3/11/17 via a S278 agreement. As  the 
revised connection to Whitehill Lane from the new business park is indicative, the 
final realignment will need to be addressed as part of the S278 process. 

6. Implementation of both a Residential Travel Plan and workplace travel plan.
7. Payment of the Travel Plan approval and monitoring fees, and provision of a surety 

mechanism to ensure implementation of both Travel Plans.
8. A contribution of £20,000 for improvement to pedestrian facilities between the site 

and the centre of Alresford to be paid  to Hampshire County Council prior to 
commencement on site. 

9. Submission of a Service Delivery Management Plan which should also include 
measures to prevent any employment zone associated HGV traffic from heading 
north out of the employment zone.

10.Appropriate signing to restrict HGV’s to be placed on surrounding roads details to 
be agreed with HCC as part of a S278 agreement. 

11.Adherence to the illustrative masterplan, parameters plan and phasing plan.
12.  Requirements to provide, lay out and maintain in perpetuity the on-site open space of 

approximately 16.84 hectares as shown on the Framework masterplan including the 
necessary commuted payments;

13.  Securing the amount, type and tenure of affordable housing required by policy CP3; 
40% affordable housing provided on site 70/30 split between affordable rent and a 
form of intermediate tenure possible incorporating starter homes. Adherence to AH 
strategy. 

Page 78



Case No: 17/01528/OUT

14.  Connection to / upgrading of the sewerage network at a suitable point, in consultation 
with Southern Water, and measures for protecting the Groundwater Protection Zone;

15.A financial contribution of £1,780,768 to HCC for the expansion of the Sun Hill Infants 
and Junior Schools, including details of the scale and timing of any works or financial 
contributions; 

16.The provision of land for use as a burial ground as indicated on the framework 
masterplan and details/ arrangements for long term maintenance of the burial ground 

17.  Safeguarding of land for use as a car park for the bowls club as shown on the 
framework masterplan.

18.Submission of a play strategy for the site.
19.Securing public rights of way in perpetuity over the site as shown on the framework 

masterplan.
20.Submission of a SuDs strategy including future maintenance. 
21.Provision of Park and Stride for the school in a location to be agreed by HCC and 

arrangements for its maintenance to be agreed.
22.Developer is required to build the residential access, roundabout, realigned sun lane 

adjacent to the school, connection to sun lane from the business park, business park 
roads including connection to White Hill Lane and the new A31 junction to adoptable 
standards. The above to be offered for adoption with necessary land being dedicated 
as highway. 

The Local Planning Authority has had regard to the tests laid down in para 204 of the NPPF  
which requires the obligations to be necessary; relevant to planning; directly related to the 
proposed development; fairly and reasonably related in scale and kind to the proposed 
development and reasonable in all other respects.

- and subject to the following conditions and informatives (with authority being 
delegated to the Head of Development Management in consultation with the 
Chairman to review and update the conditions prior to issue of the planning 
permission hereby approved):

Conditions and reasons; 

01 The development hereby permitted shall be begun either before the expiration of five
years from the date of this permission or before the expiration of two years from the date 
of approval of the last of the reserved matters to be approved, whichever is the later.

Application for approval of the reserved matters shall be made to the Local Planning
Authority before the expiration of three years from the date of this permission. The
development hereby permitted shall begin before the expiration of two years from the date 
of approval of the last of the reserved matters to be approved.

01 Reason: To comply with the provisions of Section 92(2) of the Town and Country 
Planning Act 1990 (as amended).

Reserved Matters

Page 79



Case No: 17/01528/OUT

02 Plans and particulars showing the detailed proposals for all the following aspects of the
development (hereinafter called "the reserved and other matters") shall be submitted to 
and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority before any development is 
commenced.

The approved details shall be carried out as approved and fully implemented before the
building(s) is/are occupied.

Reserved and other Matters:
03 The layout including the positions and widths of roads and footpaths.
03 The details of materials/treatment to be used for hard surfacing.
03 The layout of foul sewers and surface water drains.
03 The manner of treatment of any existing water courses and ditches.
03 The provision to be made for the parking, turning, loading and unloading of vehicles.
03 The alignment, height and materials of all walls and fences and other means of
enclosure.
03 The provision to be made for the storage and disposal of refuse.
03 The finished levels, above ordnance datum, of the ground floor of the proposed
building(s), and their relationship to the levels of any existing adjoining buildings.
03 Details of the siting, external appearance and materials to be used for any statutory
undertakers or service providers equipment such as electricity sub- stations, gas 
governors, telecommunication cabinets.
03 The provision to be made for street lighting.
03 The provision to be made for contractors vehicles parking and plant, storage of building
materials and any excavated materials, huts and all working areas.
03 The design of all buildings, plant and tanks, including the colour and texture of external
materials to be used together with samples of all external facing and roofing materials.
03 Landscape considerations including:
(i) an accurate plan showing the position, type and spread of all the trees on the site and
a schedule detailing the size and physical condition of each tree and, where appropriate, 
the steps to be taken to bring each tree to a satisfactory condition; and also details of any
proposals for the felling, pruning, trimming or uprooting of any trees;
(ii) a landscape scheme showing the planting proposed to be undertaken, the means of
forming enclosures, the materials to be used for paved and hard surfaces and the finished
levels in relation to existing levels;
(iii) the arrangements to be made for the future maintenance of landscaped and other 
open areas.

03 Reason: To comply with the provision of Section 92(2) of the Town and Country 
Planning Act 1990 (as amended).

Pre commencement conditions;

04 Prior to any work commencing on site, details of a scheme for protecting the proposed
dwelling from external noise shall be submitted, and approved in writing by the Local 
Planning Authority. Such a scheme shall ensure that, upon completion of the development, 
the following noise criteria (as recommended in BS8233:2014) shall be met:
i. all bedrooms shall achieve an 8-hour LAeq (23:00 to 07:00) of 30dB(A)

Page 80



Case No: 17/01528/OUT

ii. all living rooms and bedrooms shall achieve a 16-hour LAeq (07:00 to 23:00) of
35dB(A)
iii. all private amenity spaces shall achieve a 16-hour LAeq (07:00 to 23:00) of 55dB(A)

04 Reason To ensure that acceptable noise levels within the dwellings and the curtilages 
of the dwellings are not exceeded.

05 Prior to work commencing on the site, including demolition, a Construction 
Management Plan shall be submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning 
Authority. The Construction Management Plan shall include the following details:
• Development contacts, roles and responsibilities
• construction traffic routes, 
• programme for construction
• measures to avoid or mitigate impacts on species and habitats.
• Public communication strategy, including a complaints procedure.
• Dust suppression, mitigation and avoidance measures.
• Noise reduction measures, including use of acoustic screens and enclosures, the 

type of equipment to be used and their hours of operation.
• Use of fences and barriers to protect adjacent land, footpaths and highways.
• Details of parking and traffic management measures.
• Avoidance of light spill and glare from any floodlighting
• Pest Control
• Chemical and/or fuel run-off
• Waste disposal;
• Storage of materials/chemicals;
• Increased light disturbance to species (including after daylight hours)
• Protection of BMV land (see below for more information)
• Soil Resource Plan to inform soil management;
• Toolbox talks to staff;
• Storage of materials or equipment should occur on dedicated construction sites only 

to avoid soil compaction;
• Appropriate storage of fuel and chemicals to avoid spillages;
• Erection of protective fencing or barrier tape and exclusion signs along the 

boundaries between construction and open space areas of the site to protect these 
soils from construction activities and avoid indiscriminate vehicle movements

• Details of the provisions to be made for the parking and turning on site of operatives 
and construction vehicles

• Details of measures to be taken to prevent mud from vehicles leaving the site during 
construction works and being deposited on the public highway.

Once approved, the CEMP should be adhered to at all times, unless otherwise first agreed 
in writing with the Local Planning Authority
The approved measures shall be retained throughout the construction period.

Note to applicant: Further information and guidance for developers on the bullet points 
above can be found on the Winchester City Council website:
http://www.winchester.gov.uk/environment/pollution/construction-sites/

05 Reason: To ensure that all demolition and construction work in relation to the 
application does not cause materially harmful effects on nearby land, properties and 
businesses and to ensure the protection of ecology and in the interests of highways safety.

Page 81



Case No: 17/01528/OUT

06 Prior to the commencement of the development hereby permitted (or within such
extended period as may be agreed with the Local Planning Authority), a scheme to deal 
with contamination shall be submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning 
Authority.

The scheme shall conform to current guidance and best practice as set out in 
BS10175:2001Investigation of potentially contaminated sites - code of practice and 
Contaminated Land Reports 7 to 11, or other supplementary guidance and include the 
following phases, unless identified as unnecessary by the preceding stage and agreed in 
writing by the LPA:
a) A desk top study and conceptual model documenting all the previous and existing land 
uses of the site and adjacent land;
b) A site investigation report documenting the ground conditions of the site and 
incorporating chemical and gas analysis identified as appropriate by the desk top study;
c) A remedial strategy detailing the measures to be undertaken to avoid risk from
contaminants and/or gases when the site is developed and proposals for future 
maintenance and monitoring. Such scheme shall include nomination of a suitably qualified 
person to oversee the implementation of the works.

06 Reason: In order to secure satisfactory development and in the interests of the safety 
and amenity of the future occupants.

07 No development or any works of site preparation shall take place until the applicant or
their agents or successors in title have implemented of a programme of archaeological
mitigation works, in accordance with a Written Scheme of Investigation that has been
submitted to and approved by the local planning authority in writing. No development or 
site preparation shall take place other than in accordance with the Written Scheme of 
Investigation approved by the LPA. The Written Scheme of Investigation shall include:

 The programme and methodology of site investigation and recording
 Provision for post investigation assessment, reporting and dissemination
 Provision to be made for deposition of the analysis and records of the site 

investigation
 (archive)
 Nomination of a competent person or persons/organisation to undertake the works 

set
 out within the Written Scheme of Investigation.

07 REASON: To mitigate the effect of the development upon any heritage assets and  to
ensure that information regarding these heritage assets is preserved by record for future
generations
Policy DM26 Winchester District Local Plan Part 2; Policy CP20 of the Winchester District
Joint Core Strategy

08 Prior to any works commencing on site a Biodiversity Mitigation and Enhancement Plan
(BMEP) shall be submitted to and approved in writing by the local planning authority.
The BEMP shall include the following;

 the planting of woodland features and native hedgerows
 Use of native wildflower seed mixes which encourage wildlife
 incorporation of bat and bird boxes

Page 82



Case No: 17/01528/OUT

 the addition of features such as log piles for reptiles and amphibians
 the long term management for the white Helleborine population.

08 Reason: To ensure that the biodiversity interest on the site are maintained and 
enhanced.

09 Prior to any development commencing on site a drainage strategy detailing the 
proposed means of foul disposal and an implementation timetable shall be submitted to 
and approved in writing by the local planning authority in consultation with the sewerage 
undertaker. The development shall be carried out in accordance with the approved 
scheme and timetable.

09 Reason: To ensure that the site is adequately drained in the interests of the amenities 
of the area.

10 Prior to the commencement of any work on site a plan showing the species and 
location of all of the trees to be retained and measures to protect them from damage 
during construction shall be submitted to and approved in writing by the local planning 
authority. The protection measures shall be retained for the full construction period.

10 Reason: To ensure that the trees to be retained are not damaged during construction in 
the interests of the amenities of the area.

11The new roundabout on the A31 hereby approved shall be completed prior to any other 
development on the site. The access from the new roundabout is to be used for all
construction traffic for the remainder of the site.

11 Reason: To comply with the requirements of the local plan examination and reduce the
impact of construction traffic.

During construction:

12Development shall cease on site if, during any stage of the works, potential 
contamination is encountered which has not been previously identified, unless otherwise 
agreed in writing with the Local Planning Authority. Works shall not recommence before an 
assessment of the potential contamination has been undertaken and details of the findings 
along with details of any remedial action required (including timing provision for 
implementation), has been submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning 
Authority. The development shall not be completed other than in accordance with the 
approved details.

12 Reason: In order to secure satisfactory development and in the interests of the safety 
and amenity of future occupants.

13 Development shall cease on site if, during any stage of the works, unexpected ground
conditions or materials which suggest potential contamination are encountered, unless
otherwise agreed in writing with the Local Planning Authority. Works shall not recommence
before a site assessment has been undertaken and details of the findings along with 
details of any remedial action required (including timing provision for implementation), has 
been submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. The 
development shall not be completed other than in accordance with the approved details. 

Page 83



Case No: 17/01528/OUT

NB – potentially contaminated ground conditions include infilled ground, visual evidence of 
contamination or materials with an unusual odour or appearance.

13 Reason: In order to secure satisfactory development and in the interests of the safety 
and amenity of future occupants.

14 Following completion of archaeological fieldwork, within 9 months (unless otherwise
agreed in writing) a report will be produced in accordance with an approved programme
including where appropriate post-excavation assessment, specialist analysis and reports 
and publication. The report shall be submitted to and approved by the local authority.

14 REASON: To ensure that evidence from the historic environment contributing to our
knowledge and understanding of our past is captured and made publicly available.
Policy DM26 Winchester District Local Plan Part 2; Policy CP20 of the Winchester District
Joint Core Strategy.

Prior to occupation:

15 A noise validation report, demonstrating compliance with these noise criteria, shall be
submitted to and approved by the Local Planning Authority before any dwelling is 
occupied.
This assessment shall be conducted with windows open for ventilation, unless mechanical
ventilation has been provided, in which case these tests shall be performed with such
mechanical ventilation running. Such noise protection measures shall thereafter be 
maintained and operated in accordance with the approved scheme.

15 Reason: To ensure that acceptable noise levels within the dwellings and the curtilages 
of the dwellings are not exceeded.

16 Prior to the occupation of the development hereby permitted, written verification 
produced by the suitably qualified person approved under the provision of E110c) shall be 
submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. The report must 
demonstrate that the remedial strategy approved under the provisions of conditions 
E110c) has been implemented fully, unless varied with the written agreement of the Local 
Planning Authority in advance.

16 Reason: In order to secure satisfactory development and in the interests of the safety 
and amenity of future occupants.

17 Each phase of the development hereby permitted shall not be occupied or brought into
use until the archaeological site investigation and post investigation assessment has been
completed in accordance with the programme set out in the Written Scheme of 
Investigation approved under condition 15 and that provision for analysis, publication and 
dissemination of results and archive deposition has been secured.

17 REASON: To ensure that the archaeological and historical interest of the site is
safeguarded and recorded to comply with the National Planning Policy Framework and in
accordance with DM26 Winchester District Local Plan Part 2; Policy CP20 of the 
Winchester District Joint Core Strategy.

Page 84



Case No: 17/01528/OUT

18 The connection from Sun Lane to the new A31 roundabout, the Sun Lane residential 
access roundabout and new school accessas indicated on plan reference Iceni drawing 
number 16-T081 30 dated 14/2/18 and 16-T081 25 Rev B dated 3/11/17 shall be provided 
prior to occupation of any residential dwellings. Access to the school shall be maintained 
at all times during construction. 

18 Reason: In the interests of highways safety and to provide a suitable access.

19 The new connection from Whitehill Lane to the business park as indicated on plan 
reference Iceni drawing number 16-T081 30 dated 14/2/18 and 16-T081 25 Rev B dated 
3/11/17 shall be provided prior to occupation of any residential dwellings or occupation of 
the business park. 

19 Reason: In the interests of highways safety and to provide a suitable access.

Prior to installation:

20 Before telecommunications/air conditioning/refrigeration/compressing equipment is
installed and operated on the premises, a full acoustic report (with a scheme of attenuation
measures) shall be submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. 
The equipment shall be installed and maintained in accordance with the approved 
scheme.

20 Reason: To protect the amenities of the occupiers of nearby properties.

General restrictions Employment land:

21 No machinery shall be operated, no process shall be carried out and no deliveries 
taken at or dispatched from the site except between the hours of 0800 and 1800 Monday 
to Friday and 0800 and 1300 on Saturdays and at no time on Sundays and recognised 
public holidays, unless otherwise agreed in writing by the Local Planning Authority.

21Reason: To protect the amenities of the occupiers of nearby properties.

22 No works, storage or operations shall take place outside the B1, B2 and B8 use class 
buildings.

22 Reason: To protect the amenities of the occupiers of nearby properties.

23 No materials shall be burnt on site at any time during the construction period.
23 Reason: To protect the amenity of occupiers of nearby premises and in the interest of
public health.

24 No infiltration of surface water drainage into the ground is permitted other than with the
written consent of the Local Planning Authority. The development shall be carried out in
accordance with the approved details.

24 To reduce surface water infiltration from the proposed sustainable drainage system
(SuDS) leading to pollution of controlled waters. Controlled waters are particularly 
sensitive in this location because the proposed development site is within Source 
Protection Zone 1 and is located upon a Principal aquifer.

Page 85



Case No: 17/01528/OUT

25  The proposed development shall be carried out in accordance with the details in the 
following documents and plans submitted in support of the application and hereby 
approved;

• An Environmental Statement prepared in accordance with the Environmental Impact 
Regulations 2017;
• Plans including an illustrative Masterplan, Parameters Plan and Phasing Plan and 
detailed junction drawings;
• Planning Statement;
• Design & Access Statement;
• Air Quality Assessment;
• Affordable Housing Statement;
• Arboricultural Impact Assessment;
• Archaeological Report;
• Construction Method Statement;
• Development Timetable;
• Ecological Report;
• Economic and Employment Report;
• Habitat Regulations Assessment;
• Lighting Assessment;
• Noise and Vibration Assessment;
• Open Space Assessment;
• Outline Construction Environmental Management Plan;
• Site Waste Management Plan;
• Transport Assessment and Draft Travel Plan;
• Landscape and Visual Impact Assessment (Contained within the Environmental 
Statement);
• Heritage Impact Assessment;
• Utilities Statement;
• Flood Risk Assessment and Drainage Strategy;

25  Reason: For the avoidance of doubt and to ensure that the development is completed 
in accordance with the plans and mitigation proposed in the supporting documents in the 
interests of the amenities of the area, existing residents and future occupiers of the site.

26  No lighting above 10 lux or above 500 lumens shall be provided on the site without the
prior written consent of the local planning authority.

26 Reason: To ensure that the area and in particular the South Downs National Park is not 
adversely affected by light spill detrimental to the character and amenities of the area and 
Dark Skies Reserve and biodiversity interests in the locality.

Informatives:

In accordance with paragraphs 186 and 187 of the NPPF Winchester City Council (WCC) 
take a positive and proactive approach to development proposals focused on solutions.  
WCC work with applicants/agents in a positive and proactive manner by;

- offering a pre-application advice service and,

Page 86



Case No: 17/01528/OUT

- updating applicants/agents of any issues that may arise in the processing of their 
application and where possible suggesting solutions.

In this instance the applicant was updated of any issues after the initial site visit.

02. This permission is granted for the following reasons:
The development is in accordance with the Policies and Proposals of the Development 
Plan set out below, and other material considerations do not have sufficient weight to 
justify a refusal of the application. In accordance with Section 38(6) of the Planning and 
Compulsory Purchase Act 2004, planning permission should therefore be granted.

03. The Local Planning Authority has taken account of the following development plan 
policies and proposals:-
 
Local Plan Part 1 - Joint Core Strategy: DS1 - Development Strategy and Principles 
adopted March 2013.
MTRA1 - Development Strategy for Market Towns and Rural Area
MTRA2 - Market Towns and Larger Villages
MTRA4 - Development in the Countryside
CP1 - Housing Provision
CP2 - Housing Mix
CP3 - Affordable Housing
CP6 - Local Facilities and Services
CP7 - Open Space, Sport & Recreation
CP8 - Economic Growth
CP10 - Transport
CP11 - Sustainable Low and Zero Carbon Built Development
CP13 - High Quality Design
CP14 - Effective Uses of Land
CP15 - Green Infrastructure
CP16 - Biodiversity 
CP17 - Flooding
CP20 - Heritage and Landscape Character 
CP21 - Infrastructure and Community Benefit

Local Plan Part 2 - Joint Core Strategy: Development Management and Site Allocations: 
Adopted April 2017.
NA3 - Sun Lane Mixed Use Allocation
DM2 - Dwelling Sizes
DM6 - Open Space Provision
DM15 - Local Distinctiveness
DM16 - Site Design Criteria
DM17 - Site Development Principles
DM18 - Access and Parking
DM26 - Archaeology 

Hampshire Minerals and Waste Plan:
The application site lies outside the Minerals Safeguarding Area as identified in the 
Minerals and Waste Plan. 

National Planning Policy Framework:

Page 87



Case No: 17/01528/OUT

The NPPF promotes a presumption in favour of sustainable development, but substantial 
weight should be given to Local Plan policies where the Council can show an adequate 
and up to date supply of housing land (NPPF paragraph 49). The Council is currently able 
to demonstrate a 5-year supply of housing land (including a 5% 'buffer'), and the other 
requirements of paragraph 47 (objectively assessed need, land supply, etc) are satisfied. 
NPPF paragraph 14 is clear that the presumption in favour of sustainable development 
relates to proposals that accord with the development plan.  As LPP1 and LPP2 are 
relevant and up to date, the final bullet point of paragraph 14 does not apply.

The Alresford Town Design Statement was adopted as a Supplementary Planning 
Document in 2008 and is a material consideration.  SPDs have also been adopted in 
relation to Affordable Housing, Residential Parking Standards, and High Quality Places, 
which are also material planning considerations.

04. All building works including demolition, construction and machinery or plant operation
should only be carried out between the hours of 0800 and 1800 hrs Monday to Friday and
0800 and 1300 hrs Saturday and at no time on Sundays or recognised public holidays. 
Where allegations of noise from such works are substantiated by the Environmental 
Protection Team, a Notice limiting the hours of operation under The Control of Pollution 
Act 1974 may be served.

05. During Construction, no materials should be burnt on site. Where allegations of
statutory nuisance are substantiated by the Environmental Protection Team, an Abatement
Notice may be served under The Environmental Protection Act 1990. The applicant is
reminded that the emission of dark smoke through the burning of materials is a direct 
offence under The Clean Air Act 1993.

06 Within each development phase archaeological works should be planned and 
completed to avoid conflict with other intrusive site preparation or enabling works (e.g. for 
ecological mitigation, highways works, service and other infrastructure works etc).
Archaeological mitigation work secured under condition 15 should include any off-site 
works, (e.g. for the Rising Main - Aksward Construction Consultants, Jan 17, Utilities 
Assessment. Ref. S128068).

07 The applicant/developer should enter into a formal agreement with Southern Water to
provide the necessary sewerage infrastructure required to service this development. The
applicant/developer should contact Southern Water, Sparrowgrove House, Sparrowgrove,
Otterbourne, Hampshire SO21 2SW (Tel: 0330 303 0119) or www.southernwater.co.uk' in
order to progress the required infrastructure.

08 A formal application for connection to the water supply is required in order to service 
this development. Please contact Southern Water, Sparrowgrove House, Sparrowgrove,
Otterbourne, Hampshire SO21 2SW (Tel: 0330 303 0119) or www.southernwater.co.uk".
Any works within highway/ access road will require to protect public apparatus and the
protection details need to be submitted to, and approved by Southern Water under 
NRSWA enquiry.

09. The applicant is advised that one or more of the Conditions attached to this permission
need to be formally discharged by the Local Planning Authority before works can 
commence on site. Details, plans or samples required by Conditions should be submitted 
to the Council at least 8 weeks in advance of the start date of works to give adequate time 

Page 88



Case No: 17/01528/OUT

for these to be dealt with. If works commence on site before all of the pre-commencement 
conditions are discharged then this would constitute commencement of development 
without the benefit of planning permission and could result in Enforcement action being 
taken by the Council.

The submitted details should be clearly marked with the following information:
The name of the planning officer who dealt with application
The application case number
Your contact details
The appropriate fee.
Further information, application forms and guidance can be found on the Council's website 
www.winchester.gov.uk.

Page 89



This page is intentionally left blank



Case No: 18/00616/HOU

Case No: 18/00616/HOU
Proposal Description: Installation of wooden electric sliding gate.  Increase brick wall 

by four courses across 2.2m.
Address: 7 Arthur Road, Winchester, Hampshire, SO23 7EA
Parish, or Ward if within 
Winchester City:

St Bartholomew

Applicants Name: Mr Frederick Algate
Case Officer: Catherine Watson
Date Valid: 08.05.2018

 

Recommendation: Application Permitted

© Crown Copyright and database rights Winchester City Council License 100019531

Page 91

Agenda Item 8



Case No: 18/00616/HOU

General Comments

Application is reported to Committee due to the number of objections received, 
contrary to the officer’s recommendation to permit.

Site Description

The existing dwelling is a detached, two storey property situated on Arthur Road and is 
within the suburb of Hyde in the Winchester Conservation Area.

Proposal

The application results from an enforcement enquiry into the unauthorised construction of 
a sliding gate and and an increase in height of the existing boundary wall either side of 
the gate by four brick courses.  Folllowing the installation of the gate, the wall has been 
made good to either side and has been cleaned and repointed using lime mortar.  

Relevant Planning History

18/00003/WKS - Alleged unauthorised demolition of wall.

Consultations

Historic Environment.
The application was submitted in response to a recent enforcement case.  Discussions 
were undertakenwith the applicant via colleagues in Enforcement and the details have 
been previously agreed in advance.  Consequently, there are no objections to the current 
application in Historic Environment terms and no special conditions are recommended.

Representations:

City of Winchester Trust:  The Trust has no comment to make on this application.

6 letters received objecting to the application for the following reasons: 

 Why was permission not sought for the demolition of the wall,
 Out of character with the surrounding area
 Loss of an on-road parking space

Reasons aside not material to planning and therefore not addressed in this report:

 How were agreements between case officer and Historic Environment Officer 
reached without public consultation.

 Lack of oversight by the Council sets an unwelcome precedent for the area

2 letters of support received.

 In policy terms, the works do not contravene saved policies.
 Development does not detract from the Conservation Area.
 Development is a positive change in an area where few homes are able to park off 

road.

Page 92



Case No: 18/00616/HOU

Relevant Planning Policy:

Winchester Local Plan Part 1 – Joint Core Strategy
 Policy DS1 – Development Strategy and Principles;
 Policy CP13 – High Quality Design;
 Policy CP20 – Heritage and Landscape Character.

Winchester Local Plan Part 2 – Development Management and Site Allocations.

 Policy DM1 – Location of New Development;
 Policy DM15 – Local Distinctiveness;
 Policy DM16 – Site Design Criteria;
 Policy DM17 – Site Development Principles;
 Policy DM18 – Access and Parking;
 Policy DM27 – Development in Conservation Areas

Supplementary planning documents.

 High Quality Places SPD.

National Planning Policy Guidance/Statements:
National Planning Policy Framework

Planning Considerations

Principle of development

Alterations to boundaries associated with dwellings within the settlement boundary of 
Winchester are acceptable in principle, subject to compliance with relevant planning policy.

The site is situated in the Winchester Conservation Area and therefore the impact of the 
development on the character of the Conservation Area is an important consideration. 
Key Issues in this respect are (S.72 P(LBCA) Act 1990; Policies DM27 & DM28 of the 
Winchester District Local Plan Part 2 Adopted 2017; Policy CP20 Winchester District 
Joint Core Strategy; NPPF Section 12).  The existing dwelling is a detached, two storey 
property situated on Arthur Road. 

Works comprise a sliding gate and and an increase in height of the existing boundary wall 
either side of the gate by four brick courses, to upgrade the pedestrian access to 
vehicular.  Folllowing the installation of the gate, the wall has been made good to either 
side and has been cleaned and repointed using lime mortar.  The creation of a new 
access into the existing wall is considered to be an alteration, rather than demolition and 
therefore, does not require planning permission.

The wall is not considered to be of any significant historic merit and it is not considered 
that the gate causes any significant visual harm to the character of the existing dwelling 
and the wider area and it is notable that the adjacent property, 50B Hyde Street has a 
similar gate within the same wall, which was granted permission in 2015 (15/00096/FUL).  
The proposal is therefore considered to conserve the character of the conservation area 

Page 93



Case No: 18/00616/HOU

in line with the key issues.

Parking and neighbour amenity.

The kerb outside the gate has been dropped with agreement from Hampshire County 
Council Highways department and is not part of this planning application.  A number of 
local residents and the ward member have raised concerns, both regarding the 
appearance of the gate and the potential impact upon the availability of street parking.  
The surrounding area primarily consists of Victorian and Edwardian terraced streets 
where off-road parking is not usually an option and permit parking is in force.  The 
nature of the residents' concern is the effective removal of on-street parking to facilitate 
the addition of private residential parking.  It is not considered that the removal of a 
single street parking space to allow for the access in and out of the curtilage would 
cause such significant overall harm to the on-street parking capacity as to justify the 
refusal of the application and therefore, the proposal is acceptable in terms of its impact 
upon neighbour amenity and parking.
 

Recommendation
Application Permitted. Application is retrospective therefore no conditions are necessary.

Informatives:

1. In accordance with paragraphs 186 and 187 of the NPPF, Winchester City Council 
(WCC) take a positive and proactive approach to development proposals, working with 
applicants and agents to achieve the best solution. To this end WCC:
- offer a pre-application advice service and,
- update applicants/agents of any issues that may arise in the processing of their 
application, where possible suggesting alternative solutions.

2. The Local Planning Authority has taken account of the following development plan 
policies and proposals:-
Local Plan Part 1 - Joint Core Strategy: DS1, CP13 and CP20
Local Plan Part 2 – Development Management and Site Allocations: DM1, DM15, DM16, 
DM17, DM27
High Quality Places SPD.

3. This permission is granted for the following reasons:
The development is in accordance with the Policies and Proposals of the Development 
Plan set out above, and other material considerations do not have sufficient weight to 
justify a refusal of the application. In accordance with Section 38(6) of the Planning and 
Compulsory Purchase Act 2004, planning permission should therefore be granted.

Page 94



Case No: 17/01175/FUL

Case No: 17/01175/FUL 
Proposal Description: (AMENDED PLANS DESCRIPTION) Full Planning Application 

for the demolition of the existing bungalow and the 
redevelopment of the site together with land to the rear of 
Gwenda and Nikendi to include 7 residential units (THIS 
APPLICATION MAY AFFECT THE SETTING OF A PUBLIC 
RIGHT OF WAY)

Address: Edenwood  Broad Lane Swanmore SO32 2PD 
Parish, or Ward if within 
Winchester City:

 Swanmore

Applicants Name: Mr & Mrs Mark Enfield
Case Officer: Mr Simon Avery
Date Valid: 17 May 2017
Site Factors:  
Recommendation: Application Permitted

AMENDED PLANS DATE:-  6th February 2018

© Crown Copyright and database rights Winchester City Council License 100019531

Page 95

Agenda Item 10



Case No: 17/01175/FUL

General Comments

Application is reported to Committee as the number of objections, received was 25.

Amended plans have been received reducing the number dwellings from 10 to 7 and 
changing the layout and detailed design of the buildings.

Site Description

This site is within the village of Swanmore and consists of an existing property called 
Edenwood and its curtilage plus the rear gardens of the neighbouring properties to the 
north west called Gwenda and Nikendi. The curtilage land is relatively flat and mostly 
clear apart from a few small outbuildings to the rear of the dwelling and some small scale 
garden planting. It is enclosed by a mixture of close boarded fencing and hedgerows. 
There are trees and more substantial planting in neighbouring gardens.  

To the south east on the other side of Broad Lane is Swanmore recreation ground. There 
are other dwellings on either side of the site facing the recreation ground. These 
properties vary in size and style, although most are detached. There are large detached 
properties set in large gardens to the rear located on a cul-de-sac called Church Road.

Broad Lane is an unadopted road linking New Road to Lower Chase Road. It is fairly 
narrow and leafy in character with no footway. A public footpath (Footpath 8) runs 
through Broad Lane. 

Proposal

The application as revised is to demolish the existing bungalow on site and construct 7 
detached dwellings. These will consist of 3 four bedroom houses and 4 three bedroom 
houses as follows:

 Plot 1 - 4 bedroom house 162 m²
 Plot 2 - 3 bedroom house 136 m² 
 Plot 3 - 3 bedroom house 138 m² 
 Plot 4 - 3 bedroom house 136 m² 
 Plot 5 - 4 bedroom house 150 m² 
 Plot 6 - 3 bedroom house 115 m² 
 Plot 7 - 4 bedroom house 142 m²

Each house will have private garden and off-street parking spaces (26 in total). The 
houses are all two storey in height.

Relevant Planning History

16/02046/FUL - Ground floor extension and addition of first floor to Edenwood. PER 15th 
November 2016.

Consultations

WCC Engineers: Drainage
 This is a significant increase in loading for foul drainage therefore we will need to 

see confirmation from Southern Water that the system has enough capacity, along 

Page 96



Case No: 17/01175/FUL

with permission to connect.
 There is no risk of flooding so no need for a Flood Risk Assessment and no 

groundwater issues either.
 More details of surface water are required but these can be dealt with by condition.

WCC Engineers: Highways
 No objections.

WCC Head of Environmental Protection
 No objections.

WCC Head of Landscape  - Ecology
 The submitted ecology report concludes that no roosting bats have been identified.  
 Recommendations within the report shall be adhered to. 
 Enhancement measures have been stated to provide net biodiversity gain, 

including provision for crevice-roosting bats.

WCC Head of Landscape
 This proposal is a significant improvement on the previous plans. The current 

scheme has been reduced from 10 to 7 dwellings. The street scene has been 
reduced from 4 to 3 dwellings, there is now a green frontage to the site and the 
amount of focal green space has been enlarged.

WCC Head of Landscape – Arboriculture
 Tree protection measures should be conditioned to be submitted and approved by 

the LPA before any works starting on site.

WCC Head of Historic Environment - Urban Design
 The siteplan has evolved and positively improved, however the elevations will 

need significant design development. 
 Most elevations are discordantly designed with disproportionate and repetitive 

windows and the floor to ceiling heights will need revisiting to avoid unnecessary 
false gables. Further information on the materials is required.

WCC Head of Historic Environment - Archaeology
 No objections and no conditions required.

Hampshire County Council Countryside Services
 Objection on the grounds that this proposal would lead to the increased vehicular 

use of Broad Lane, to the detriment of walkers in terms of space, noise and 
exhaust fumes. 

 However, if permission is granted a traffic management system must be secured 
and implemented through condition, involving the erection of signs warning drivers 
of the presence of pedestrians and the need to give way, the implementation of a 
low-speed limit, and the use of banksmen.

Page 97



Case No: 17/01175/FUL

Southern Water
 No objections

Representations:

Swanmore Parish Council
Comments on revised scheme:

 All outstanding concerns have been addressed therefore we support the 
application.

15 letters received from 13 households objecting to the application for the following 
reasons: 

 Overdevelopment / cramped site. 
 Development of this scale and density will have a harmful impact on the rural the 

character and appearance of the lane.
 Inadequate provision or space on site for visitor car parking or refuse or 

emergency vehicle turning / overspill parking will occur in the lane.
 3 storeys is unacceptable and second floor accommodation /  rooflights / dormers 

are alien features which result in overlooking and poor design.
 The overall design of the houses is poor and uninspiring. 
 The loss of frontage vegetation will be harmful to rural character.
 Landscape proposal need to be improved and hedgerows enclose boundaries.
 The additional volume of traffic will create a safety risk for the users of Broad Lane 

which is a footpath as well as a road. 
 Concerns about viability of drainage / sewerage.
 Plot 1 is forward of the building line and will present a dominant feature along the 

lane.
 Inadequate bin storage.
 The proposed development contains too many houses which will dominate 

neighbouring properties and significantly reduce privacy in homes and gardens. 
 Adverse impact on local natural environment / woodland / meadows
 Concerns about overlooking / overbearing impact / loss of light / noise from new 

residents
 Concern about inaccuracies on the plans, especially roof heights on the street 

view elevations.
 Increase in noise and exhaust fumes from the traffic.
 Conflict with Swanmore Village Design Statement
 Lack of recreational facilities in the village for new development.
 Proposal need to be designed to avoid light pollution.
 The development should provide affordable housing as it exceeds 1,000sqm.
 Will new occupiers contribute to the maintenance of the private lane.

15 Further letter received from 14 households objecting to the application as revised. 
6 of these came from previous objectors, 10 from new objectors, 9 local residents who 
objected previously have not commented on the new plans. 

The total number of objectors is therefore 25 from 23 households.
The additional letters acknowledged that the revised scheme is an improvement but 
generally the same concerns have been raised, as follows:

Page 98



Case No: 17/01175/FUL

 The turning space still looks too tight.
 Inadequate drainage details.
 Impact on green corridor.
 Light pollution.
 Overdevelopment / loss of greenery.
 Lack of room for substantial planting.
 Impact on traffic and parking.
 Precedent will be set for more backland development.
 Concern about overshadowing / overlooking / loss of privacy.
 Loss of boundary vegetation.
 Conflict with Swanmore Village Design Statement.
 Strict conditions controlling construction operation are needed due to the nature of 

the lane.

1 letter of support received for the revised scheme:
 Need for new homes in the heart of the village. 
 The applicant has addressed all issues and submitted a well thought out plan. 
 The scheme adheres to policy and the Village Design Statement 
 The applicant has reduced the number of homes, lowered roof heights and 

designed a sympathetic street view. 

Relevant Planning Policy:

Winchester Local Plan Part 1 – Joint Core Strategy (LPP1)
DS1 – Development Strategy and Principles
CP1 – Housing Provision
CP2 – Housing Mix
CP3 – Affordable Housing
CP7 – Open Space, Sport & Recreation
CP10 – Transport
CP11 – Sustainable Low and Zero Carbon Built Development
CP13 – High Quality Design
CP14 – Effective Uses of Land
CP15 – Green Infrastructure
CP16 – Biodiversity
CP17 – Flooding, Water Environment
CP20 – Heritage and Landscape
CP21 – Infrastructure and Community Benefit

Winchester Local Plan Part 2 – Development Management and Site Allocations (LPP2)
DM1 – Location of New Development
DM6 – Open Space Provision for New Developments
DM15 – Local Distinctiveness
DM16 – Site Design Criteria
DM17 – Site Development Principles
DM18 – Access and Parking
DM20 – Development and Noise 
DM21 – Contaminated Land 
DM26 – Archaeology

Page 99



Case No: 17/01175/FUL

Supplementary Planning Guidance:
 Residential Parking Standards December 2009
 High Quality Places March 2015
 Swanmore Village Design Statement

National Planning Policy Guidance/Statements:
 National Planning Policy Framework

Planning Considerations

 Principle of development
 Design / layout
 Impact on character of area and neighbouring property
 Landscape / trees
 Highways / parking
 Other matters
 Conclusion

Principle of development
This site is within the settlement boundary of Swanmore where residential development is 
acceptable in principle.

Policy CP2 of the LPP2 requires the majority of units in a development to be 2 and 3 
bedroomed houses. The scheme proposes 4 three bedroom houses and 3 four bedroom 
houses. As such, it is providing a majority of 3 bedroom dwellings and so is satisfactory in 
terms of policy CP2. 

Current Government guidance says that contributions towards affordable housing should 
not be sought from small-scale developments of 10-units or less, and which have a 
maximum combined gross floorspace of no more than 1,000 square metres (gross 
internal area). The scheme falls below these thresholds and therefore provision towards 
affordable housing is not required. 

Design/layout
The layout of the development has been revised considerably from the scheme first 
submitted. The original scheme proposed 10 houses with four along the frontage and 6 
set back in the site. This was considered to be overdevelopment, evidenced by the 
cramped arrangement of the houses and other facilities, lack of an adequate turning 
area, lack of the required number of parking spaces, and inadequate space for suitable 
planting. Some of these proposed properties were also two and a half storeys in height 
which was considered to be too tall and prominent in this context and contrary to the 
Swanmore Village Design Statement which expects new houses to be no more then two 
storeys high.

The revised scheme now only proposes 7 dwellings which is a significant reduction. 

It shows only 3 dwellings along the frontage. These are suitably spaced out from each 
other and the neighbouring properties either side. To the rear 4 dwellings are now 
proposed rather than 6. These will sit around a small green space with the back 3 of 
these units arranged in a small semi-circle and the central house siting side on in the 

Page 100



Case No: 17/01175/FUL

site adjacent to the central green space. This space will contain a reasonable sized tree 
and will act as a focal point, both in terms of the vista from Broad Lane and when within 
the site itself. The houses will all have private rear gardens and off street parking, either 
to the side of the houses or in garages which are set back within the plots of the 3 rear 
dwellings.

In terms of scale the properties are all now at a maximum of two storeys in height with 
no rooms in the roof. The three houses to the rear are smaller still with lower eaves and 
ridgelines. In appearance the houses are traditional in form but will have a distinctive 
style of architecture with the houses at plots 1, 3, 5, 6 and 7 all having asymmetrical 
front gables and the two houses at plots 2 and 4 having split level roofs. Features such 
as chimneys, dormer windows, flat roofed porches and narrow vertical windows are 
ordered and well proportioned. The houses are proposed to be finished in good quality 
traditional materials. This accords with the Swanmore Village Design Statement 2001 
which says that ‘architects should be encouraged to use natural materials to continue 
the tradition of interesting detail to relieve architectural blandness.’

The Village Design Statement also says that: 

‘The relationship between the extent of the building(s) and the plot (the plot ratio) should 
not be increased to a point where garden space is significantly reduced, or where trees, 
hedges, views and space between buildings are compromised.’

While the revised scheme remains a tight-knit development, it is considered that the 
reduction in numbers and scale of the houses and the thoughtful layout allows this 
number of units to be accommodated on this site in a sympathetic way which accords 
with the Village Design Statement on this point. It also makes an effective use of land as 
required by policy CP14 of the LPP1.

The development is therefore considered to be respectful of its context. The two storey 
houses proposed along the frontage will fit comfortably within the street scene of 
houses along this part of Broad Lane. The layout of buildings to the rear forms a strong 
enclosure to this semi-public space but also has a more relaxed feel due to the curved 
building line of the back 3 dwellings. This form of development is not uncharacteristic of 
the village as there are various examples of backland development nearby, particularly 
as you get closer to the centre. This scheme itself backs onto a development of houses 
in a backland arrangement to the north off Church lane. It therefore adheres to further 
guidance in the Design Statement which says that ‘new houses should merge with the 
existing residential pattern and be no more than two storeys high. Preferably set back 
from the road, the building form should respect existing building lines’.

Overall, it is considered that the design and layout of the proposal is of high quality. As 
such it is considered to be in accordance with the Council’s adopted design policy CP13 
of the LPP1, policies DM15 to DM17 of the LPP2 and the guidance found in the 
Councils High Quality Places SPD and the Swanmore Village Design Statement. 

Impact on character of area and neighbouring property
Given the conclusions above it is considered that the proposed development will make a 
positive contribution to the character of the local area as it will be sympathetic to its 
surroundings but will have a distinct identity, character and sense of place. 

Page 101



Case No: 17/01175/FUL

In terms of impacts on neighbouring property the scheme has been carefully designed to 
avoid adverse impacts on the surrounding existing properties and to ensure that the new 
houses within the site itself are suitably related to each other.

The 3 houses proposed along the front of the site will sit in the line of buildings here and 
so flank each other and the neighbouring houses on either side. These new houses are 
suitably spaced out in this arrangement from each other and the existing properties either 
side to avoid them being overbearing on each other. The existing properties have side 
windows facing the site and views from these would change and become more obscured 
by the new buildings. However, this is a normal street arrangement for buildings to flank 
each other and so this change of outlook is not considered unacceptable. 

In terms of inter-visibility between side windows, ground floor windows would be 
screened by fencing or other boundary treatment while the first floor side windows on the 
3 new houses would be limited to small ones serving bathrooms, a stairwell and one 
bedroom window on plot 7 which will only look towards a bathroom window on the side of 
plot 1 which would be obscure glazed. The neighbouring properties either side have 
upper windows facing the site but they won’t look into or be overlooked by any windows.

These 3 houses at the front will have windows facing to the rear but these will look over 
their own private back gardens.

The 4 houses proposed to be located further back into the site would be visible from 
existing properties and their gardens. However, these proposed buildings are all set in 
sufficiently from the boundaries to ensure that they would not appear unduly overbearing 
or intrusive when viewed from neighbouring properties, nor will they result in any loss of 
light. The closest houses to boundaries will be at plot 3 and 4 where the new dwellings 
will be 5 metres from the rear boundaries of the site. However, the neighbouring 
properties to the rear are sat within fairly large plots and the fairly modest scale houses 
being proposed would not appear overbearing or unduly intrusive in this arrangement. 
Long rear gardens flank the site at either side and the development would not have an 
unacceptable impact on these. Garages are located closer to boundaries but these are 
smaller structures and will not have an unacceptable impact on neighbouring amenity.

These 4 houses have also all been designed as primarily single-aspect buildings at first 
floor level so none of them have first floor rear windows and only the house proposed at 
plot 5 has a side window (serving a bathroom). Therefore, apart from this bathroom 
window, all of the first floor windows from these houses face forwards and will overlook 
the shared driveway / central space within this development. There will therefore be no 
overlooking of neighbouring properties to the rear.

Therefore, it is not considered that the development would result in any adverse impacts 
on residential amenity.

Landscape/Trees
The revised layout provides for a suitable degree of planting. There will be a strong 
green edge to the site with trees and planting along the frontage. The driveway into the 
site will be softened by some planting either side. Within the centre of the site will be a 
small area of green designed to accommodate a reasonable sized tree.  The various 
private gardens also provide opportunity for more planting. This landscape strategy is 
considered to be appropriate, reflecting the green frontages of other properties on the 

Page 102



Case No: 17/01175/FUL

lane and compensating for the increased amount of built form through good planting 
within the site.

In terms of existing trees, there are only small garden trees in the site which do not 
need to be retained. There are larger trees in surrounding gardens but these would not 
be affected by the new dwellings or garages and can be protected from construction 
activity by standard tree protection measures. 

Highways/Parking
The design layout is acceptable from a highway point of view. The proposed access 
onto Broad Lane is acceptable and the revised scheme ensures that there is sufficient 
turning on site to accommodate the typical swept path of a large refuse freighter. 

The layout provides 26 parking spaces which is ample in terms of meeting the Council’s 
Residential Parking Standards. 

HCC Countryside Services have objected on the grounds that this proposal would lead 
to the increased vehicular use of Broad Lane. Swanmore Footpath 8, which is a public 
right of way, runs through this lane with no separate footpath and the concern is that 
additional traffic would be to the detriment of walkers in terms of space, noise and 
exhaust fumes. However, this route already acts as a roadway serving numerous 
dwellings and a reason for refusal based on the impacts of this additional traffic would 
not be sustainable. Use of the lane by construction traffic would be controlled through a 
construction management plan which is required by condition 3.

Other Matters
Drainage
This site is not in an area at risk of flooding and there are no groundwater issues. 
Further details of drainage are required through condition 11.

Ecology
An ecological report has been submitted in support of the application which clarifies that 
the development will not have any adverse impacts on biodiversity but makes some 
general recommendations for contractors to follow. Condition 17 requires the measures 
to be adhered to and condition 14 requires a biodiversity enhancement plan to be 
submitted for approval.

Contamination
This site is located in an area known for brick and tile manufacture, with a number of 
sand and clay pits shown on the historic maps within the vicinity of this property.  Given 
this, there is a potential for contamination associated with made ground and the former 
brick works to exist in this area and it is recommended that a safeguarding condition be 
attached (condition 18) requiring the developer to cease development if ground 
conditions or materials suggest potential contamination.

Conclusion
This site is within the settlement boundary for Swanmore where development is 
acceptable in principle and the revised scheme is of high quality and will make a 
positive contribution to the character of the local area  and help provide much needed 
housing.

Page 103



Case No: 17/01175/FUL

Recommendation
Application Permitted subject to the following conditions:

Time Limit

1   The development hereby permitted shall be begun before the expiration of three years 
from the date of this permission.

Reason:  To comply with the provisions of Section 91 (1) of the Town and Country 
Planning Act 1990 (as amended).

Approved Plans

2   The development hereby approved shall be carried out in accordance with the following 
plans and documents:

 Proposed Site Plan 7 Dwellings 448.180 Rev L
 Proposed Traffic Plan and Refuse Plan 448.180.1 Rev L
 Proposed Site Plan 7 Dwellings Street View Elevations 448.181 Rev L
 Proposed Street View 448.182 Rev L
 Plot 1 Five Bedroom House 448.250 Rev L
 Plot 2 Three Bedroom House 448.251 Rev L
 Plot 3 Three Bedroom House 448.252 Rev L
 Plot 4 Three Bedroom House 448.253 Rev L
 Plot 5 Four Bedroom House 448.254 Rev L
 Plot 6 Three Bedroom House 448.255 Rev L
 Plot 7 Four Bedroom House 448.256 Rev L
 Plot 1 Elevations 448.350 Rev L
 Plot 2 Elevations 448.351 Rev L
 Plot 3 Elevations 448.352 Rev L
 Plot 4 Elevations 448.353 Rev L
 Plot 5 Elevations 448.354 Rev L
 Plot 6 Elevations 448.355 Rev L
 Plot 7 Elevations 448.356 Rev L
 Design & Access Statement Revision 1 141/P/448 February 2018
 Ecological Report by Johns Associates J00282/V2 7th June 2018

Reason:   To define the scope of this permission.

Conditions to be discharged before Development Commences

3   Prior to development starting on site, or other works such as demolition, clearance, 
groundwork or site preparation, a Construction Management Plan shall be submitted to 
and approved in writing by the local planning authority. The Construction Management 
Plan shall include the following details:

a) A schedule for all pre-commencement works including any ecological mitigation 
measures, tree and hedgerow protection, highway and access works and drainage or 
other utilities works. The schedule shall specify timings and dates and provide a 
methodology for co-ordinating these activities. 

Page 104



Case No: 17/01175/FUL

b) A schedule for further stages of the development, including land restoration at the 
completion of construction works. The schedule shall specify timings and dates and 
methods of construction.

c) Measures to be undertaken to minimise impacts on surrounding land.
d) Measures to be taken to prevent mud from vehicles leaving the site during construction 

works being deposited on the public highway.
e) Provisions to be made for the parking and turning of operative and construction 

vehicles during the period of development including times of movement so as to avoid 
peak period traffic, neighbour notification, use of pointsmen etc.

f) Dust suppression, mitigation and avoidance measures.
g) Measures for minimising construction waste and provision for the re-use and recycling 

of materials.
h) Noise reduction measures, including use of acoustic screens and enclosures, the type 

of equipment to be used and their hours of operation.
i) A traffic management plan for construction vehicles entering and leaving the site, 

including details of construction access, times of movement so as to avoid peak period 
traffic, neighbour notification, use of pointsmen etc.

j) Floodlighting and security lighting. (note: this must be directed in such a way as not to 
cause nuisance to adjoining properties or adjacent highway).

k) Code of Construction Practice for all works and operations on the site.
l) Measure to be taken to prevent contaminants from entering watercourses or the water 

environment and to protect drainage infrastructure.
m) Use of fences and barriers to protect adjacent land, footpaths and highways.

The Construction Management Plan shall be adhered to throughout the duration of the 
construction period. 

Reason: To ensure that all demolition and construction work in relation to the application 
does not cause materially harmful effects on nearby land, properties and businesses.

4   Prior to development starting on site, or other works such as demolition, clearance or 
site preparation, details, including plans and cross sections of the existing and proposed 
ground levels of the development and the boundaries of the site and the height of the 
ground floor slab and damp proof course, shall be submitted to and approved in writing by 
the local planning authority. The works hereby permitted shall be carried out in accordance 
with the approved details.

Reason:  To ensure a satisfactory relationship between the new development and 
adjacent buildings and amenity areas.

5   Prior to development starting on site, or other works such as demolition, clearance or 
site preparation, tree protection measures (which accord with BS5837:2012 Trees in 
relation to design, demolition and construction) shall be installed in accordance with details 
first submitted to and approved in writing by the local planning authority. The tree 
protection measures shall remain in place for the duration of construction works.

Reason: to ensure protection and long term viability of retained trees and to minimise
impact of construction activity.

6   Prior to development starting on site, detailed information (in the form of SAP design 
stage data and a BRE water calculator) demonstrating that all homes meet the Code 4 

Page 105



Case No: 17/01175/FUL

standard for energy and water (as defined by the ENE1 and WAT 1 in the Code for 
Sustainable Homes) shall be submitted to and approved in writing by the local planning 
authority. The development shall be built in accordance with these findings unless 
otherwise agreed in writing by the local planning authority.

Reason: To ensure a sustainable form of development consistent with the objectives of 
The National Planning Policy Framework 2012 and to accord with the requirements of 
Policy CP11 of the Winchester District Local Plan Part 1 - Joint Core Strategy.

7   Prior to occupation of any of the dwellings, details of both on-site hard and soft 
landscape works shall be submitted to and approved in writing by the local planning 
authority.  These details shall include the following, as relevant:

 existing and proposed finished levels or contours
 means of enclosure
 hardsurfacing materials
 minor artefacts and structures (eg. street furniture, play equipment, refuse or other  

storage units, signs, lighting etc)
 proposed and existing functional services above and below ground (eg. drainage, 

power, communications cables, pipelines, intruder alarm boxes, communal aerials, 
including lines, manholes, supports etc)

Soft landscape details shall include the following as relevant:

 planting plans
 written specification (including cultivation and other operations associated with plant 

and grass establishment
 schedules of plants, noting species, plant sizes and proposed numbers / densities 

where appropriate
 retained areas of grassland, hedgerow and trees
 implementation programme:

All hard and soft landscape works shall be carried out in accordance with the approved 
details. Hard landscaping works shall be completed prior to the occupation of the 
dwellings. The soft landscaping shall be carried out in the first planting season following 
the occupation of the building or the completion of the development whichever is the 
sooner. If within a period of 5 years from the date of planting, any trees, shrubs or plants 
die, are removed or, in the opinion of the local planning authority, become seriously 
damaged or defective, others of the same species and size as that originally planted shall 
be planted at the same place, in the next planting season, unless the local planning 
authority gives its written consent to any variation.

Reason:  To improve the appearance of the site in the interests of visual amenity.

Conditions to be discharged Prior to Construction above Slab Level

8   Prior to construction above slab level, samples of all the external materials of the 
building, walls and other structures and external hard landscaping surfaces shall be 
submitted to and approved in writing by the local planning authority. The materials shall 
meet the following criteria:

Page 106



Case No: 17/01175/FUL

 Roof materials shall be clay plain tiles and/or natural slates.
 'Soft stock' type bricks shall be used for the buildings and boundary walls shall be 

constructed in matching brick.
 Tile hanging and dormer roofs shall be finished in tiles to match the main roof of 

each dwelling.
 No GRP shall be used on the external faces of chimneys, porches, canopies or bay 

windows.
 All windows frames shall be recessed from the elevations by a minimum of 75mm 

and details of the colour of the windows, doors, garage doors, fascias, soffits and 
rainwater goods shall be submitted for approval. 

The development shall be built in accordance with these approved details.
 
Reason:  To ensure that the external appearance of the building are of a high order on this 
sensitive edge of village site and in order to comply with the guidance in High Quality 
Places Supplementary Planning Guidance March 2015.

9   Prior to construction above slab level, details of the design, materials, colour and 
position of the following features shall be submitted to an approved in writing by the local 
planning authority:

Solar panels and their fixings.
Metre boxes/cabinets.
Gas pipes on external walls seen from the public realm.

Works shall be undertaken in accordance with the approved details before each building is 
occupied.

Reason:  To ensure that the external appearance of the building from the public realm is of 
a high order on this sensitive edge of village site.

Conditions to be discharged prior to the Occupation of the Dwellings

10   Prior to occupation of each dwelling, detailed information (in the form of SAP "as built" 
stage data and a BRE water calculator) demonstrating that the home meets the Code 4 
standard for energy and water (as defined by the ENE1 and WAT 1 in the Code for 
Sustainable Homes) shall be submitted to and approved in writing by the local planning 
authority. The development shall be occupied in accordance with these findings.

Reason: To ensure a sustainable form of development consistent with the objectives of 
The National Planning Policy Framework 2012 and to accord with the requirements of 
Policy CP11 of the Winchester District Local Plan Part 1 - Joint Core Strategy.

11   Prior to occupation of any of the dwellings, a scheme for the disposal of foul and 
surface water shall be fully implemented, managed and maintained in accordance with 
details first submitted to and approved in writing the local planning authority. The scheme 
shall include:

a) Confirmation from Southern Water that capacity exists in the foul system for foul 
drainage and confirmation of permission to connect to this system. 

b) Drainage plans and calculations for the surface water drainage.  

Reason: To ensure satisfactory provision of drainage.

Page 107



Case No: 17/01175/FUL

12   Prior to occupation of any of the dwellings, a Lighting Scheme shall be submitted to 
and approved in writing by the local planning authority. All lighting shall be installed, 
maintained and operated in accordance with the approved Lighting Scheme. 

Reason: To prevent light pollution in the interests of the appearance of the area, 
biodiversity and residential amenity.

13   Prior to occupation of any of the dwellings, a landscape management plan, including 
long term design objectives, management responsibilities and maintenance schedules for 
all landscape areas, other than small, privately owned, domestic gardens, shall be 
submitted to and approved in writing by the local planning authority. The landscape 
management plan shall be carried out in accordance with the approved details.

Reason: To ensure that due regard is paid to the continuing enhancement and 
maintenance of amenity afforded by landscape features of communal, public or nature 
conservation significance.

14   Prior to occupation of any of the dwellings, a biodiversity enhancement plan shall be 
submitted to and approved in writing by the local planning authority. This shall include 
details of how the enhancement features shall be managed and retained. Works shall be 
undertaken and maintained in accordance with these approved details.

Reason: In the interests of biodiversity.

15   Prior to occupation of any of the dwellings, the parking areas including garages shall 
be provided in accordance with the approved plans and thereafter permanently retained 
and used only for the purpose of accommodating private motor vehicles or other storage 
purposes incidental to the use of the dwelling houses as residences.

Reason: To ensure the permanent availability of parking for the property.

16   Prior to occupation of any of the dwellings, the proposed access and drive, including 
the footway crossing shall be laid out and constructed in accordance with specifications to 
be first submitted to and approved in writing by the local planning authority.

NOTE – A licence is required from Hampshire Highways Winchester, Bishops Waltham 
Depot Botley Road, Bishops Waltham, SO32 1DR prior to commencement of access 
works.

Reason: To ensure satisfactory means of access.

Development limits

17   Works shall be carried out in full accordance with the specific recommendations, 
mitigation measures and timetable as set out in Section 4.0 of the Ecological Report by 
Johns Associates J00282/V2 Dated 07.06.18.

Reason: in order to secure adequate ecological mitigation and enhancement, including 
with regards to protected species.

Page 108



Case No: 17/01175/FUL

18   Development shall cease on site if, during any stage of the works, unexpected ground 
conditions or materials which suggest potential contamination are encountered, unless 
otherwise agreed in writing with the local planning authority. Works shall not recommence 
before a site assessment has been undertaken and details of the findings along with 
details of any remedial action required (including timing provision for implementation), has 
been submitted to and approved in writing by the local planning authority. The 
development shall not be completed other than in accordance with the approved details.  
NB - potentially contaminated ground conditions include infilled ground, visual evidence of 
contamination or materials with an unusual odour or appearance.

Reason: In order to secure satisfactory development and in the interests of the safety and 
amenity of future occupants.

Informatives

1   In accordance with paragraphs 186 and 187 of the NPPF Winchester City Council 
(WCC) take a positive and proactive approach to development proposals focused on 
solutions. WCC work with applicants/agents in a positive and proactive manner by;
- offering a pre-application advice service and, 
- updating applicants/agents of any issues that may arise in the processing of their 
application and where possible suggesting solutions.

In this instance the applicant was updated of any issues after the initial site visit.

2   This permission is granted for the following reasons:

The development is in accordance with the Policies and Proposals of the Development 
Plan set out below, and other material considerations do not have sufficient weight to 
justify a refusal of the application. In accordance with Section 38(6) of the Planning and 
Compulsory Purchase Act 2004, planning permission should therefore be granted.

3   The Local Planning Authority has taken account of the following development plan
policies and proposals:-

Winchester Local Plan Part 1 – Joint Core Strategy (LPP1)
DS1 – Development Strategy and Principles
CP1 – Housing Provision
CP2 – Housing Mix
CP3 – Affordable Housing
CP7 – Open Space, Sport & Recreation
CP10 – Transport
CP11 – Sustainable Low and Zero Carbon Built Development
CP13 – High Quality Design
CP14 – Effective Uses of Land
CP15 – Green Infrastructure
CP16 – Biodiversity
CP17 – Flooding, Water Environment
CP20 – Heritage and Landscape
CP21 – Infrastructure and Community Benefit

Winchester Local Plan Part 2 – Development Management and Site Allocations (LPP2)

Page 109



Case No: 17/01175/FUL

DM1 – Location of New Development
DM6 – Open Space Provision for New Developments
DM15 – Local Distinctiveness
DM16 – Site Design Criteria
DM17 – Site Development Principles
DM18 – Access and Parking
DM20 – Development and Noise 
DM21 – Contaminated Land 
DM26 – Archaeology

Supplementary Planning Guidance:
 Residential Parking Standards December 2009
 High Quality Places March 2015
 Swanmore Village Design Statement

National Planning Policy Guidance/Statements:
 National Planning Policy Framework

4   All building works including demolition, construction and machinery or plant operation 
should only be carried out between the hours of 0800 and 1800 hrs Monday to Friday and 
0800 and 1300 hrs Saturday and at no time on Sundays or recognised public holidays. 
Where allegations of noise from such works are substantiated by the Environmental 
Protection Team, a Notice limiting the hours of operation under The Control of Pollution 
Act 1974 may be served.

5   During Construction, no materials should be burnt on site. Where allegations of 
statutory nuisance are substantiated by the Environmental Protection Team, an Abatement 
Notice may be served under The Environmental Protection Act 1990. The applicant is
reminded that the emission of dark smoke through the burning of materials is a direct 
offence under The Clean Air Act 1993.

6   Please be respectful to your neighbours and the environment when carrying out your 
development. Ensure that the site is well organised, clean and tidy and that facilities, 
stored materials, vehicles and plant are located to minimise disruption. Please consider 
the impact on your neighbours by informing them of the works and minimising air, light and 
noise pollution and minimising the impact of deliveries, parking and working on public or 
private roads. Any damage to these areas should be remediated as soon as is practically 
possible.

For further advice on this please refer the Construction Code of Practice
http://www.ccscheme.org.uk/index.php/ccs-ltd/what-is-the-ccs/code-of-considerate-
practice

7   The applicant is advised that one or more of the Conditions attached to this permission
need to be formally discharged by the Local Planning Authority before works can 
commence on site. Details, plans or samples required by Conditions should be submitted 
to the Council at least 8 weeks in advance of the start date of works to give adequate time 
for these to be dealt with. If works commence on site before all of the pre-commencement 
conditions are discharged then this would constitute commencement of development 
without the benefit of planning permission and could result in Enforcement action being 
taken by the Council.

Page 110

http://www.ccscheme.org.uk/index.php/ccs-ltd/what-is-the-ccs/code-of-considerate-practice
http://www.ccscheme.org.uk/index.php/ccs-ltd/what-is-the-ccs/code-of-considerate-practice


Case No: 17/01175/FUL

The submitted details should be clearly marked with the following information:
- The name of the planning officer who dealt with application
- The application case number
- Your contact details
- The appropriate fee.

Further information, application forms and guidance can be found on the Council's website 
www.winchester.gov.uk

8   A formal application for connection to the public sewerage system is required in order 
to service this development. The applicant is required to initiate a sewer capacity check to
identify the appropriate connection point for the development, please contact Southern
Water, Sparrowgrove House Sparrowgrove, Otterbourne, Hampshire SO21 2SW (Tel: 
0330 303 0119) or www.southernwater.co.uk”.

9   There must be no surface alterations to the right of way, nor any works carried out 
which affect its surface, without first seeking the permission of Hampshire County Council, 
as Highway Authority. For the purposes of this proposal that permission would be required from 
this department of the County Council. To carry out any such works without this permission 
would constitute an offence under S131 Highways Act 1980, and we would therefore encourage 
the applicant to contact us as soon as possible to discuss any works of this nature.

10   Nothing connected with the development or its future use should have an
adverse effect on the right of way, which must remain available for public use at
all times.

11   No builders or contractors vehicles, machinery, equipment, materials, scaffolding
or anything associated with the works should be left on or near the footpath so as
to obstruct, hinder or provide a hazard to walkers.

12   If there is likely to be an effect on the footpath in terms of dust, noise or other obstruction 
during the period of the works, we suggest that a Health and Safety
Risk Assessment be carried out, and if there is deemed to be a risk to users of the footpath, the 
applicant should contact the County Council directly to discuss
the Temporary Closure of the footpath for the duration of the works. Temporary
Closure Orders should be applied for at least 6 weeks prior to the commencement of works and 
details of how to apply can be found at http://www3.hants.gov.uk/row/making-changes/temp-
closures.htm

13   Hampshire County Council, as Highway Authority, is not obliged to provide a
surface suitable for the passage of vehicles. It only has a duty to maintain a right
of way to a standard commensurate with its expected normal public use.

14   All vehicles, including those of contractors and deliveries, which would be
accessing the site via a public right of way, should give way to public users at all
times.

15   Any damage caused to the surface of the public right of way by construction

Page 111

http://www.winchester.gov.uk/
http://www.southernwater.co.uk/


Case No: 17/01175/FUL

traffic will be required to be restored to the satisfaction of the Rights of Way Officer, to not less 
than its minimum width, on the completion of the build.

16   The minimum internal dimensions of the garage must be 3m by 6m and the minimum 
width of the entrance door to the garage should be a 2.44m.

Page 112



Case No: 18/00462/FUL

Case No: 18/00462/FUL 
Proposal Description: Small detached two bedroomed cottage in garden infill plot 

(AMENDED DESCRIPTION) (AMENDED PLANS RECEIVED 
20.4.18)

Address: Orchard House  Mount Pleasant Kings Worthy SO23 7QU 
Parish, or Ward if within 
Winchester City:

 Kings Worthy

Applicants Name: Mr Tim Mufushwa
Case Officer: Mrs Katie Nethersole
Date Valid: 20 February 2018
Site Factors:  

 
Recommendation:

© Crown Copyright and database rights Winchester City Council License 100019531

Page 113

Agenda Item 11



Case No: 18/00462/FUL

General Comments

Application is reported to Committee as the number of objections, received contrary 
to the officer’s recommendation

In order to try and address the Parish Council’s and the neighbours’ concerns, amended 
plans were received 20.04.2018 to reduce the overall footprint by making it a two bed 
rather than 3, to provide more outside space and additional space for car parking.

Since the amended plans have been submitted a further 11 objections (from the same 
addresses) have been received based on the same concerns and a further objection 
from the Parish Council plus 9 letters of support.

Site Description

The site is located on the northern side of Mount Pleasant which is situated within the 
settlement boundary of Kings Worthy. Mount Pleasant is a quiet residential road situated 
off Church Lane and the general character of the dwellings is of a traditional cottage 
style. 

Orchard House exists on the plot with a portion of garden to the side which is where the 
proposed dwelling is to be located. Orchard House will maintain garden areas to the rear 
and to the side of the dwelling and has its own off road car parking.

There is a line of mature trees along the rear boundary which backs on to Mortimer 
Close. One tree, a Yew is protected by a tree preservation order and will be retained as 
part of the proposal.

Proposal

It is proposed to construct a two storey two bedroom detached dwelling on land adjacent 
to Orchard House. The dwelling will have its own amenity space with off road parking to 
the front. It will be of a traditional design and will reflect the semi-rural character of the 
area. Access will be provided off from Mount Pleasant by way of a dropped kerb. There 
are three off road car parking spaces being provided which is above the standard for this 
size of property. The proposed materials are for matching brick, a slate roof and white 
upvc windows to match those of Orchard House. The proposed dwelling will be sited at a 
distance of approximately 14 metres from Orchard House and approximately 12 metres 
from Sunnyside. It will be set back from the road by about 3 metres.

Relevant Planning History

12/00752/FUL - Erection of 2 no. two bedroom semi-detached dwellings with associated 
parking and landscaping (RESUBMISSION). REF 12th June 2012.

Consultations

Engineers: Drainage: No objection

Engineers: Highways: No objection subject to conditions

Page 114



Case No: 18/00462/FUL

Southern Water: No response received

Ecology: No objection subject to condition

Trees: No objection subject to conditions

Representations:

Headbourne Worthy Parish Council
 Proposal does not comply with the Springvale Road Local Area Design Statement 

based on its impact on the character of the area, loss of existing hedgerow, 
inadequate car parking, no cycle parking.

 Further comments to amended plans – still does not fully comply with the LADS 
although improvements have been made: plot is too small, impact on character of 
area, visibility of car parking, adequate cycle storage now provided.

13 letters received objecting to the application for the following reasons: 
 Overdevelopment
 Traffic safety
 Parking concerns
 Overlooking
 Urbanisation
 Close proximity to trees

14 letters of support received.
 Sustainable development
 Appropriate infill development
 Good design
 In keeping with local character
 Sufficient car parking being provided

Relevant Planning Policy:

Winchester Local Plan Part 1 – Joint Core Strategy
MTRA2, CP11, CP13
Winchester Local Plan Part 2 – Development Management and Site Allocations
DM1, DM16, DM17, DM18
National Planning Policy Guidance/Statements:
National Planning Policy Framework

Supplementary Planning Guidance
SPD – High Quality Places
Springvale Road Local Area Design Statement (2007)
Other Planning guidance

Planning Considerations

Principle of development

Page 115



Case No: 18/00462/FUL

The site is located within the settlement boundary of Kings Worthy and is therefore 
subject to policies MTRA2 and DM1 which allows for new residential development within 
defined settlement boundaries provided it is appropriate in scale and design and 
conserves the settlement’s identity and setting. It is considered that the proposed 
dwelling is of a scale compatible with surrounding properties and the design reflects the 
character of the area.

DM16 supports new development that responds positively to the character, appearance 
and variety of the area in terms of scale, design and layout. It is considered, as above, 
that the proposed dwelling has been designed to reflect the existing character of the area.

DM18 ensures that adequate car parking and access is provided. The proposal is for a 
two bedroom dwelling and 3 car parking spaces are provided which is in excess of the 
parking standards. Added to this adequate cycle parking is being provided.

The Springvale Road Local Area Design Statement states that new development should 
be the same scale, height and mass of existing buildings. The proposed dwelling is two 
storeys and is of the same scale, height and mass of the surrounding buildings. New 
development should also retain the existing landscaping. In this case the existing trees 
are to be retained as is the existing hedgerow.

Design/layout
The proposed dwelling is a two bedroom two storey detached cottage style dwelling 
which will be set back from the road by approximately 3.2 metres. There is an existing 
hedgerow to the frontage which will largely be retained however a section will be 
removed to allow parking and pedestrian access. The design of the dwelling is fairly 
traditional in style and is considered to reflect the existing character of the area. It will be 
constructed in brick to the lower storey with render to the first floor with a natural slate 
roof and white upvc windows to match Orchard House. 

To the ground floor will be the main entrance, a W.C., lounge and kitchen/diner and to 
the first floor will be the two bedrooms which will both be served by an en-suite and a 
home working area to the landing.

There will be three off road car parking spaces to the front and cycle parking provided 
by a cycle store within the private garden.

Impact on character of area 
The design, scale and mass of the proposed dwelling is considered to reflect the existing 
character of the area and will not have a detrimental impact on the street scene. It 
complies with the guidelines within the LADS and the relevant planning policies in terms 
of its design and scale. The existing hedgerow to the frontage will largely be retained as 
will the trees to the rear so that the existing leafy character of the area is conserved.

The position of the proposed dwelling is in line with the adjacent dwellings Orchard 
House and Sunnyside and does not break the building line along Mount Pleasant. The 
proposed ridge level of the dwelling is to be 27.02 which is comparable to the surrounding 
properties and is actually slightly lower than the adjacent dwellings. The ridge height is 
approximately 6.8 metres.

Overall the design is traditional and reflects the character of the surrounding properties, 

Page 116



Case No: 18/00462/FUL

particularly the ones directly opposite the site.

Impact on neighbouring property
  There are no windows proposed to the side elevations of the dwelling so there will be no 
overlooking to the neighbouring properties either side of the site. To the rear there are no 
dwellings immediately opposite and there are existing mature trees on the boundary that 
will provide screening to the road behind. There is a distance of approximately 13 metres 
between the frontage of the dwelling and the frontage of the dwellings opposite which is 
considered to be a sufficient distance to ensure that there is no overlooking or 
overbearing. The proposed dwelling is also positioned to the north of the dwellings 
opposite so there will be no loss of sunlight to these properties.

Landscape/Trees
The existing hedgerow to the front will mostly be retained apart from a section being 
removed to provide access to the parking and a smaller section for pedestrian access. 
The existing mature trees to the rear are also to be retained. Therefore it is considered 
that the proposed dwelling will not have a significant impact on the landscape or existing 
trees.

The Tree Officer has reviewed the proposals and confirmed that there will be minimal 
impact to the existing trees and the submitted tree report is sufficient. Conditions 11 – 
17 are recommended to ensure the protection and retention of trees.

Highways/Parking
It is proposed to provide three off road car parking spaces which is in excess of the 
parking standards. Cycle parking will be provided by a cycle store that is proposed to 
the private garden of the dwelling.

Concern has been raised about the access and visibility of the car parking due to the 
narrowness of the road. The Highways Engineer has reviewed the proposals and 
concluded that there would be a modest increase in trips per day which is considered 
acceptable. It has also been concluded that there is sufficient room for the car parking 
and sufficient visibility.

Ecology
The Ecology Officer has assessed the proposal as there is evidence of Stag Beetles on 
site or within 50m of the site so it is important that rough habitat including deadwood is 
retained. Details of biodiversity enhancements are requested through condition 10.

Conclusion
It is considered that the proposed new dwelling has been designed in a sympathetic way 
and is reflective of the character of the existing area. The proposal is compliant with the 
relevant policies and guidelines within the Supplementary Planning Guidance and there is 
no sufficient reason to warrant a refusal of the dwelling.
 
Recommendation
  subject to the following condition(s):

Conditions

Page 117



Case No: 18/00462/FUL

01 The development hereby permitted shall be begun before the expiration of three years 
from the date of this permission.

01 Reason:  To comply with the provisions of Section 91 (1) of the Town and Country 
Planning Act 1990 (as amended).

02 No development shall take place until details and samples of the materials to be used 
in the construction of the external surfaces of the dwelling hereby permitted have been 
submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority.  Development shall 
be carried out in accordance with the approved details.

02 Reason:  To ensure that the development presents a satisfactory appearance in the 
interests of the amenities of the area.

03 Details of measures to be taken to prevent mud from vehicles leaving the site during 
construction works being deposited on the public highway shall be submitted to and 
approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority and fully implemented before 
development commences.  Such measures shall be retained for the duration of the 
construction period.  No lorry shall leave the site unless its wheels have been cleaned 
sufficiently to prevent mud being carried onto the highway.

03 Reason:  In the interests of highway safety.

04 Details of provisions to be made for the parking and turning on site of operative and 
construction vehicles during the period of development shall be submitted to and approved 
in writing by the Local Planning Authority and fully implemented before development 
commences.  Such measures shall be retained for the construction period.

04 Reason:  In the interests of highway safety.

05 No development shall commence until a Construction and Management Plan has been 
submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. This shall include a 
before and after survey to be undertaken of the surrounding road network and that any 
damage caused to property by delivery or contractors vehicles to the site is repaired at the 
applicants expense.

05 Reason: To ensure that road safety is maintained

06 No development shall commence until a tree method statement has been submitted 
and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. This shall include details of the 
planning, installation and maintenance of utility apparatus in proximity to the trees.

06 Reason: To ensure the protection and retention of trees

07 No development shall take place until there has been submitted to and approved in 
writing by the Local Planning Authority a plan indicating the positions, design, materials 
and type of boundary treatment to be erected.  The boundary treatment shall be completed 
before occupation.  Development shall be carried out in accordance with the approved 
details.

07 Reason:  In the interests of the visual amenities of the area.

Page 118



Case No: 18/00462/FUL

08 A detailed scheme for landscaping, tree and/or shrub planting shall be submitted to and 
approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority before development commences.  The 
scheme shall specify species, density, planting, size and layout.  The scheme approved 
shall be carried out in the first planting season following the occupation of the building or 
the completion of the development whichever is the sooner.  If within a period of 5 years 
from the date of planting, any trees, shrubs or plants die, are removed or, in the opinion of 
the Local Planning Authority, become seriously damaged or defective, others of the same 
species and size as that originally planted shall be planted at the same place, in the next 
planting season, unless the Local Planning Authority gives its written consent to any 
variation.

08 Reason:  To improve the appearance of the site in the interests of visual amenity.

09 Prior to the commencement of the development hereby permitted detailed information 
(in, the form of SAP design stage data and a BRE water calculator) demonstrating that all 
homes, meet the equivalent to Code 4 standard for energy and water (as defined by the 
ENE1 and WAT 1 in the, Code for Sustainable Homes) shall be submitted to and approved 
in writing by the Local, Planning Authority. The development shall be built in accordance 
with these findings.

09 Reason: To ensure a sustainable form of development consistent with the objectives of 
The National Planning Policy Framework 2012 and to accord with the requirements of 
Policy, CP11 of the Winchester District Local Plan Part 1 - Joint Core Strategy.

10 No development shall commence until biodiversity enhancements have been submitted 
to and approved in writing and shall be fully implemented before occupation.
10 Reason: To protect existing ecology on site and to comply with CP16 of the LPP2

11 Protective measures, including fencing and ground protection, in accordance with the 
Arboricultural Impact Appraisal and Method Statement - Ref: Helen Brown Treescapes ref. 
HBD1809IAMS 12th March 2018 , and submitted to the Local Planning Authority shall be 
installed prior to any demolition, construction or groundwork commencing on the site.

11 Reason: To ensure the protection and retention of trees on site

12 The Arboricultural Officer shall be informed once protective measures have been 
installed so that the Construction Exclusion Zone (CEZ) can be inspected and deemed 
appropriate and in accordance with Ref: HBD1809IAMS 12th March 2018 Telephone - 
Principal Tree Officer. 01962 848403

12 Reason: To ensure the protection and retention of trees on site

13 The Arboricultural Officer shall be informed prior to the commencement of construction 
of special surfacing under tree canopies so that a pre commencement site visit can be 
carried out. Telephone 01962 848403

13 Reason: To ensure the protection and retention of trees on site

14 No arboricultural works shall be carried out to trees other than those specified and in 
accordance with the Arboricultural Report ref: HBD1809IAMS 12th March 2018.

Page 119



Case No: 18/00462/FUL

14 Reason: To ensure the protection and retention of trees on site

15 Any deviation from works prescribed or methods agreed in accordance with the 
Arboricultural Impact Appraisal and Method Statement Ref:, HBD1809IAMS 12th March 
2018 shall be agreed in writing to the Local Planning Authority.

15 Reason: To ensure the protection and retention of trees on site

16 No development, or site preparation prior to operations which has any effect on 
compacting, disturbing or altering the levels of the site, shall take place until a person 
suitably qualified in arboriculture, and approved as suitable by the Local Planning 
Authority, has been appointed to supervise construction activity occurring on the site. The 
arboricultural supervisor will be responsible for the implementation, of protective 
measures, special surfacing and all works deemed necessary by the approved 
arboricultural method statement. Where ground measures are deemed necessary to 
protect root protection areas, the arboricultural supervisor shall ensure that these are 
installed prior to any vehicle movement, earth moving or construction activity occurring on 
the site and that all such measures to protect trees are inspected by the Local Planning 
Authority Arboricultural Officer prior to commencement of development work.

16 Reason: To ensure the protection and retention of trees on site

17 A pre-commencement meeting will be held on site before any of the site clearance and 
construction works begins. This will be affected by the site manager, the Arboricultural 
consultant and the LPA tree officer.
17 Reason: To ensure the protection and retention of trees on the site

18 Prior to the occupation of the dwelling hereby permitted detailed information (in the 
form, of SAP "as built" stage data and a BRE water calculator) demonstrating that all 
homes meet equivalent to the Code 4 standard for energy and water (as defined by the 
ENE1 and WAT 1 in the Code for, Sustainable Homes) shall be submitted to and approved 
in writing by the Local Planning, Authority. The development shall occupied in accordance 
with these findings.

18 Reason: To ensure a sustainable form of development consistent with the objectives of, 
The National Planning Policy Framework 2012 and to accord with the requirements of 
Policy, CP11 of the Winchester District Local Plan Part 1 - Joint Core Strategy.

Informatives:

In accordance with paragraphs 186 and 187 of the NPPF Winchester City Council (WCC) 
take a positive and proactive approach to development proposals focused on solutions.  
WCC work with applicants/agents in a positive and proactive manner by;

- offering a pre-application advice service and,

- updating applicants/agents of any issues that may arise in the processing of their 
application and where possible suggesting solutions.

In this instance the applicant was updated of any issues after the initial site visit.

Page 120



Case No: 18/00462/FUL

This permission is granted for the following reasons:
The development is in accordance with the Policies and Proposals of the Development 
Plan set out below, and other material considerations do not have sufficient weight to 
justify a refusal of the application. In accordance with Section 38(6) of the Planning and 
Compulsory Purchase Act 2004, planning permission should therefore be granted.

The Local Planning Authority has taken account of the following development plan policies 
and proposals:-

 
Winchester Local Plan Part 1 - Joint Core Strategy: MTRA2, CP11
Local Plan Part 2 - Joint Core Strategy: Development Management and Site 

Allocations: DM16, DM17, DM18
SPD High Quality Places

           Springvale Road Local Area Design Statement 2007

All building works including demolition, construction and machinery or plant operation 
should only be carried out between the hours of 0800 and 1800 hrs Monday to Friday and 
0800 and 1300 hrs Saturday and at no time on Sundays or recognised public holidays. 
Where allegations of noise from such works are substantiated by the Environmental 
Protection Team, a Notice limiting the hours of operation under The Control of Pollution 
Act 1974 may be served.

During Construction, no materials should be burnt on site. Where allegations of statutory 
nuisance are substantiated by the Environmental Protection Team, an Abatement Notice 
may be served under The Environmental Protection Act 1990. The applicant is reminded 
that the emission of dark smoke through the burning of materials is a direct offence under 
The Clean Air Act 1993.

The applicant is advised that one or more of the Conditions attached to this permission 
need to be formally discharged by the Local Planning Authority before works can 
commence on site.   Details, plans or samples required by Conditions should be submitted 
to the Council at least 8 weeks in advance of the start date of works to give adequate time 
for these to be dealt with.    If works commence on site before all of the pre-
commencement conditions are discharged then this would constitute commencement of 
development without the benefit of planning permission and could result in Enforcement 
action being taken by the Council.

The submitted details should be clearly marked with the following information:

         The name of the planning officer who dealt with application

         The application case number

         Your contact details

         The appropriate fee.

Further information, application forms and guidance can be found on the Council's website 
- www.winchester.gov.uk.

Page 121



Case No: 18/00462/FUL

Page 122



Case No: 18/00629/FUL

Case No: 18/00629/FUL 
Proposal Description: Redevelopment of the site following the demolition of existing 

dwelling house at 29 Downside Road and the erection of 2no. 
dwellings with associated landscaping, and parking

Address: Hazelwood  29 Downside Road Winchester SO22 5LT 
Parish, or Ward if within 
Winchester City:

St Barnabas 

Applicants Name: Mr Richard Wickins
Case Officer: Mrs Katie Nethersole
Date Valid: 9 March 2018
Site Factors:  

Recommendation: Application Refused

© Crown Copyright and database rights Winchester City Council License 100019531

Page 123

Agenda Item 12



Case No: 18/00629/FUL

General Comments

Application is reported to Committee due to the number of letters of support 
received contrary to the Officer’s recommendation

Another application for this site is being considered by this Committee under reference 
18/00630/FUL for 3 units.

Site Description

The site is currently occupied by a detached bungalow set within a spacious plot which is 
accessed by a shared driveway off Downside Road between 27 and 31 Downside Road. 
It is situated within the Teg Down area of Winchester and within the settlement boundary 
of Winchester. The site is well screened from Downside Road so that there are no public 
views of the bungalow and only glimpses of the site down the driveway. The site is 
bounded by mature landscaping and trees and is surrounded by other residential 
development. The character of the area is predominately detached dwellings in sizeable 
plots mostly being of two storey construction. There is no uniformity in the architecture of 
dwellings and there is an eclectic mix of styles and ages of dwellings.

Proposal

It is proposed to demolish the existing bungalow on site and construct two detached five 
bedroom dwellings with detached garages. The design of the proposed dwelling is 
traditional in style with the use of buff brick, slate roofs and timber casement windows.

The existing access will be used which will provide access to both dwellings and the 
garages to the front of the site. Plot 1 will have a triple garage whilst plot 2 would have a 
double garage. There will also be space for a turning area for vehicles to be able to leave 
the site in a forward gear.

Plot 1 measures a total of approximately 20 metres at it’s nearest to the rear boundary 
whilst Plot 2 would be approximately 17 metres at its nearest to the rear boundary. There 
will be a distance of about 6 metres between Plot 1 to the side boundary and about 1.8 
metres from the side of Plot 2 to the rear boundary. There will be a distance of about 20 
metres from the front of both plots to the front boundary.

Both plots will have sizeable rear gardens with new boundary hedges to divide the two 
amenity spaces. Bin stores will be provided to the front of each property and there will be 
sufficient space within the garages for cycle parking.

Plot 1 will have a total of 4 car parking spaces whilst Plot 2 will have 3 car parking 
spaces.

The density of the proposal would be 8 dph.

Relevant Planning History

The only planning history relates to extensions to the existing bungalow.

Consultations

Page 124



Case No: 18/00629/FUL

Engineers: Drainage: No objections

Engineers: Highways: No objections subject to conditions

Head of Landscape: No objections subject to conditions

Southern Water: No objection

Trees: No objection

Ecology: No objection subject to condition

Representations:

City of Winchester Trust: concern that the design is out of character with the area

27 letters received objecting to the application for the following reasons: 
 Design out of keeping
 Access and parking
 Overdevelopment 
 Reduction in green space
 Increase in traffic

6 letters of support received.
 Will provide needed housing
 Will enhance the area

Relevant Planning Policy:

Winchester Local Plan Part 1 – Joint Core Strategy
MTRA1, DS1, CP2, CP11, CP13
Winchester Local Plan Part 2 – Development Management and Site Allocations
DM1, DM15, DM16, DM17, DM18
National Planning Policy Guidance/Statements:
National Planning Policy Framework

Supplementary Planning Guidance
SPD – High Quality Place

Planning Considerations

Principle of development
CP2 allows for new residential development provided it meets a range of community 
housing needs. It should provide a range of dwelling types, tenure and sizes with the 
majority being two and three bedroom homes. As this proposal is for two 5 bedroom 
homes it is considered to be contrary to this policy.

CP13 sets out that new development is expected to be of high quality design.

CP14 seeks to ensure that land is used as effectively as possible. This means that 

Page 125



Case No: 18/00629/FUL

developments of higher densities will be supported if the site has good access to facilities 
and public transport. The development potential of all sites should be maximised and 
balanced against the need to promote high quality design. It is considered that this site is 
situated within an established urban residential area which has good access to local 
facilities and transport. The development of two dwellings is considered not to be an 
effective use of land as the site is capable of accommodating a greater number of units. 
The proposal is considered to not be compliant with this policy.

DM15 allows for new development provided it respects the qualities, features and 
characteristics that contribute to the distinctiveness of the area. Therefore the existing 
landscape character should be preserved and enhanced. The existing landscaping on 
site is to remain and therefore the existing landscape character will be preserved.

DM16 permits development which accords with the development plan provided it 
responds positively to the character of the area in terms of scale, layout and appearance. 
It should also use high quality materials that are durable and appropriate in the context of 
the development site.

DM17 permits development that is satisfactory in terms of its impact on and off site. It 
should not have an unacceptable adverse impact on adjoining land by reason of 
overlooking, overbearing or overshadowing.

DM18 seeks to ensure that adequate provision is made for parking and access. The 
parking should comply with the relevant standards and should also make provision for 
cycle parking.

Design/layout
The existing bungalow will be demolished and two detached 5 bedroom dwellings are 
proposed in its place. Each dwelling will have its own garage and parking spaces as 
well as a private rear garden.

They are traditionally designed and will be constructed in high quality materials using a 
combination of buff brick, timber sash windows and slate roofs.

There is no uniformity to the design and style of houses in the local area so it is not 
considered that this type of design is out of character with the area. Added to this, the 
site is so well screened that the dwellings will not be particularly visible in the street 
scene and are unlikely to have an impact on the character of the wider area.

The proposed dwellings are large detached set within large grounds with detached 
garages to the frontages and enclosed rear gardens. The gardens for each dwelling 
would be subdivided by hedgerow planting.

Impact on character of area 
The proposed development would be located down the existing driveway and set behind 
existing mature landscaping to the frontage of the plot. There is a drop in levels from the 
Downside Road to the site resulting in the built form not being prominent or particularly 
visible in the street scene. The existing landscaping to the boundaries would be retained 
and additional planting to the southern boundary and additional tree planting to the east 
boundary will provide additional screening to the neighbouring properties.

Page 126



Case No: 18/00629/FUL

It is considered that the existing verdant nature of the site will be retained and the 
proposed development is not considered to have a detrimental impact on the character of 
the area.

Although the design of the dwellings is neo-Georgian which is different to the surrounding 
properties, there is no uniformity to the character and design of the dwellings so they are 
not considered to be detrimental in terms of design in relation to the surrounding 
character.

Impact on neighbouring property 
The site is surrounded by neighbouring properties and rear gardens of these properties 
will abut the proposed site. The existing driveway currently serves the existing bungalow 
and no. 33 Downside Road so these will be the most affected in terms of access and 
vehicular movements. In terms of the built form the plot nearest to the boundary is set 
back from the built form of no. 33 so it is considered that there will be no direct 
overlooking into this property. The only first floor window to the southern elevation facing 
this property will serve a bathroom and will therefore be obscurely glazed. The impact on 
no. 33 Downside Road in terms of overbearing and overlooking will be minimal.

The properties to the rear, Sherwood and Merry Down are considered to not be adversely 
affected in terms of overbearing and overlooking, as these are a fair distance from the 
proposed dwellings – 48 metres and 60 metres respectively.

Equally the adjacent properties 27, 23 and 11 Downside Road are a sufficient distance 
away from the proposed dwellings to ensure that they will not cause overlooking or 
overbearing.

Added to this there is existing mature landscaping on all boundaries with additional 
planting proposed to the southern boundary which will ensure that there is sufficient 
screening to the adjacent properties.

Overall it is considered that the proposed development would not have an adverse impact 
on the amenities of the neighbouring properties.

Landscape/Trees
As mentioned above the existing landscaping to the boundaries will be retained with 
additional tree planting to the southern boundary as well as hedgerow planting to 
demark between the two plots.

The Landscape Officer has assessed the scheme and concluded that the proposal 
would not appear at odds with the surrounding nature of housing and open spaces. It is 
advised that native planting should be provided as part of the overall landscape 
scheme.

Highways/Parking
The existing access and driveway will be retained and utilised for the new development. 
This currently provides access for the existing bungalow and no. 33 Downside Road. 
There is mature landscaping to the side of the access which will be retained. The 
application has been supported by a transport statement together with a construction 
management plan which demonstrates how the affects of construction vehicles will be 
mitigated.

Page 127



Case No: 18/00629/FUL

Downside Road is a private road and therefore does not form part of the public highway. 
Whilst the driveway is narrow it is straight with very good forward visibility. The 
submitted information demonstrates that the development will only generate 1 additional 
traffic movement in each of the peak periods which is considered acceptable.

The proposal makes adequate provision for the parking and turning of vehicles in 
accordance with the adopted standards. There is adequate visibility from the access 
road junction with Downside Road which is in accordance with the manual for streets.

Parking will be provided by detached garages providing sufficient car parking spaces for 
each plot as well as space for turning vehicles so that they can leave the site in a 
forward gear.

Ecology
The application has been submitted with an Ecological Assessment which lists a 
number of recommendations to be adhered to, to ensure that the ecology is protected 
and enhanced on site. 

Housing mix and effective use of land
Policy CP2 requires that new development should meet a range of community housing 
needs and that the majority of housing should be 2 and 3 bedroom dwellings. This 
proposal is for 2 five bedroom dwellings and is therefore contrary to this policy. Added 
to this it is considered that the redevelopment of the site for two dwellings is not an 
effective use of land as it is capable of supporting a higher density which is supported 
by CP14, due to its proximity to local facilities and public transport.

Conclusion
It is concluded that the proposed development would be contrary to policy CP2 and 
CP14 in that the housing mix does not comply with the requirements of CP2 and does 
not provide an effective use of land contrary to CP14, and is therefore recommended for 
refusal based on the below reasons.

 
Recommendation
Refused due to the following reason(s):

Reasons

1. The proposed development is considered to be contrary to policy CP2 – Housing 
Provision and Mix in that it fails to provide a range of dwelling sizes nor does it meet 
the community housing needs.

2. The proposed development by virtue of the siting and number of dwellings would be 
contrary to policy CP14 – The Effective Use of Land leading to a site that fails to 
ensure the effective use of the land.

Informatives:

The Local Planning Authority has taken account of the following development 
plan policies and proposals:-
 

Page 128



Case No: 18/00629/FUL

Winchester District Local Plan Part 1 – Joint Core Strategy: CP2, CP13, CP14, CP16
Winchester District Local Plan Part 2 - Development Management and Site Allocations: 
DM15, DM16, DM17, DM18
SPD -High Quality Places

In accordance with paragraphs 186 and 187 of the NPPF Winchester City Council (WCC) 
take a positive and proactive approach to development proposals focused on solutions.  
WCC work with applicants/agents in a positive and proactive manner by;

- offering a pre-application advice service and,

- updating applicants/agents of any issues that may arise in the processing of their 
application and where possible suggesting solutions.

Page 129



This page is intentionally left blank



Case No: 18/00630/FUL

Case No: 18/00630/FUL 
Proposal Description: Redevelopment of the site following the demolition of existing 

dwelling house at 29 Downside Road and the erection of 3no. 
dwellings with associated landscaping, and parking

Address: Hazelwood  29 Downside Road Winchester SO22 5LT 
Parish, or Ward if within 
Winchester City:

St Barnabas 

Applicants Name: Mr Richard Wickins
Case Officer: Mrs Katie Nethersole
Date Valid: 9 March 2018
Site Factors:  

Recommendation: Permitted

© Crown Copyright and database rights Winchester City Council License 100019531

Page 131

Agenda Item 13



Case No: 18/00630/FUL

General Comments

Application is reported to Committee due to the number of objections received 
contrary to the Officer’s recommendation.

Another application for this site is being considered by this Committee under reference 
18/00629/FUL for 2 units.

Site Description

The site is currently occupied by a detached bungalow set within a spacious plot which is 
accessed by a shared driveway off Downside Road between 27 and 31 Downside Road. 
It is situated within the Teg Down area of Winchester and within the settlement boundary 
of Winchester. The site is well screened from Downside Road so that there are no public 
views of the bungalow and only glimpses of the site down the driveway. The site is 
bounded by mature landscaping and trees and is surrounded by other residential 
development. The character of the area is predominately detached dwellings in sizeable 
plots mostly being of two storey construction. There is no uniformity in the architecture of 
dwellings and there is an eclectic mix of styles and ages of dwellings.

Proposal

It is proposed to demolish the existing detached bungalow and construct three dwellings 
comprising of two three bed semi detached and one five bed detached and detached 
garages. The design of the dwellings is traditional in style with the use of a combination of 
buff brick and red brick, timber casement windows and slate roofs.

The existing access, which currently serves the bungalow and no. 33 Downside Road, 
will be retained and used for the proposed dwellings. Plot 1, the detached five bedroom 
dwelling, will have a detached triple garage to the front of the plot with turning space. 
Plots 2 and 3, the semi detached three bedroom dwellings, will have a detached double 
garage with another parking space to the side of this and room for turning. There will also 
be additional parking space immediately to the front of each plot.

Each plot will have its own private rear garden separated by hedgerow planting and side 
access.

The density of the proposed development would be 12 dph.

Relevant Planning History

The only planning history for the site relates to extensions to the existing bungalow.

Consultations

Engineers: Drainage: No objections

Engineers: Highways: No objections subject to conditions

Head of Landscape: No objections subject to conditions

Page 132



Case No: 18/00630/FUL

Southern Water: No objection

Trees: No objection

Ecology: No objection subject to condition

Representations:

City of Winchester Trust: considers that 3 units would overcrowd the site and design not 
considered to be appropriate

24 letters received objecting to the application for the following reasons: 
 Overdevelopment
 Loss of green space
 Traffic
 Out of character
 Impact on trees

No letters of support received.

Relevant Planning Policy:

Winchester Local Plan Part 1 – Joint Core Strategy
CP2, CP11, CP13, CP14
Winchester Local Plan Part 2 – Development Management and Site Allocations
DM15, DM16, DM17, DM218
National Planning Policy Guidance/Statements:
National Planning Policy Framework

Supplementary Planning Guidance
High Quality Places SPD

Other Planning guidance

Planning Considerations

Principle of development
CP2 allows for new residential development provided it meets a range of community 
housing needs. It should provide a range of dwellings types, tenure and sizes with the 
majority being two and three bedroom homes. The proposal is for 1 five bed and 2 three 
bed homes, and whilst this is not strictly in accordance it is considered that the mix 
provided is appropriate for the character of the area.

CP13 sets out that new development is expected to be of high quality design. The design 
of the dwellings is traditional and well designed utilising high quality traditional materials.

CP14 seeks to ensure that land is used as effectively as possible. This means that 
developments of higher densities will be supported if the site has good access and 
facilities and public transport. The development potential of all sites should be maximised 

Page 133



Case No: 18/00630/FUL

and balanced against the need to promote high quality design. It is considered that this 
site is situated within an established urban residential area which has good access to 
local facilities and transport. The development of three dwellings is considered to be an 
effective use of the land.

DM15 allows for new development provided it respects the qualities, features and 
characteristics that contribute to the distinctiveness of the area. Therefore the existing 
landscape character should be preserved and enhanced. The existing landscaping on 
site is to remain and therefore the existing landscape character will be preserved.

DM16 permits development which accords with the development plan provided it 
responds positively to the character of the area in terms of scale, layout and appearance. 
It should also use high quality materials that are durable and appropriate in the context of 
the development site.

DM17 permits development that is satisfactory in terms of its impact on and off the site. It 
should not have an unacceptable adverse impact on adjoining land by reason of 
overlooking, overbearing or overshadowing.

DM18 seeks to ensure that adequate provision is made for parking and access. The 
parking should comply with the relevant standards and should also make provision for 
cycle parking. The proposal provides sufficient car parking that is in line with the adopted 
standards.

Design/layout
The existing bungalow will be demolished and two semi detached three bedroom and 
one detached five bedroom dwellings will be constructed. The detached dwelling will 
have a detached triple garage to the frontage with sufficient space for turning on site. 
The semi detached dwellings will share a double garage with two further car parking 
spaces to the frontage of each dwelling.

They are traditionally designed and will be constructed in high quality traditional 
materials using a combination of buff and red brick, slate roofs, and timber windows.

There is no uniformity to the design and style of the houses in the local area and 
therefore the proposed design is not considered to be out of keeping with the character 
of the area. Added to this, the site is well screened so that the proposed development 
will not be dominant or particularly visible in the street scene and are unlikely to have an 
impact on the character of the wider area.

The proposed dwellings will each have their own private rear gardens which are 
commensurate with the size of the dwelling and will be subdivided by new hedgerow 
planting.

It is considered that the proposed development is an effective use of the land and 
should therefore be supported.

Impact on character of area 
The proposed development would be sited down an existing driveway and set behind 
mature landscaping. There is a drop in levels from Downside Road to the site resulting in 
the built form not being prominent or particularly visible in the street scene. The existing 

Page 134



Case No: 18/00630/FUL

landscaping to the boundaries will be retained with additional planting to the southern 
boundary and additional tree planting to the east boundary to bolster the existing 
screening to the neighbouring properties.

It is considered that the existing verdant nature of the site will be retained and the 
proposed development is not considered to have a detrimental impact on the character of 
the area.

Although the design of the dwellings is neo-Georgian which is different to the surrounding 
properties, there is no real uniformity to the character and design of the dwellings so they 
are not considered to be detrimental in terms of design in relation to the surrounding 
character.

Impact on neighbouring property
The site is surrounded by neighbouring properties and rear gardens of these properties 
will abut the proposed site. The existing driveway currently serves the existing bungalow 
and no. 33 Downside Road so this will be the most affected in terms of access and 
vehicular movements. In terms of the built form the plot nearest to the boundary is set 
back from the built form of no. 33 so it is considered that there will be no direct 
overlooking into this property. The only first floor window proposed in the elevation facing 
no. 33 will serve bathroom facilities so will be obscurely glazed and will therefore not lead 
to any overlooking. The impact on no. 33 is therefore considered to be minimal in terms 
of overbearing and overlooking.

The properties to the rear, Sherwood and Merry Down are considered not to be adversely 
impacted by the proposed development in terms of overbearing and overlooking, as 
these are at a distance from the proposed dwellings – 44 metres and 60 metres 
respectively.

Equally the adjacent properties 27, 23 and 11 Downside Road are a sufficient distance 
away from the proposed dwellings to ensure that they will not cause overlooking or 
overbearing.

Added to this there is existing mature landscaping on all boundaries with additional 
planting proposed to the southern boundary which will ensure that there is sufficient 
screening to the adjacent properties.

Overall it is considered that the proposed development would not have an adverse impact 
on the amenities of the neighbouring properties.

Landscape/Trees
As mentioned above the existing landscaping to the boundaries will be retained with 
additional tree planting to the southern boundary as well as hedgerow planting to 
demark between the two plots.

The Landscape Officer has assessed the scheme and concluded that the proposal 
would not appear at odds with the surrounding nature of housing and open spaces. It is 
advised that native planting should be provided as part of the overall landscape 
scheme.

Conditions 5 and 6 are recommended to ensure that an appropriate landscape scheme 

Page 135



Case No: 18/00630/FUL

is agreed.

Highways/Parking
The existing access and driveway will be retained and utilised for the new development. 
This currently provides access for the existing bungalow and no. 33 Downside Road. 
There is mature landscaping to the side of the access which will be retained. The 
application has been supported by a transport statement together with a construction 
management plan which demonstrates how the affects of construction vehicles will be 
mitigated.

Downside Road is a private road and therefore does not form part of the public highway. 
Whilst the driveway is narrow it is straight with very good forward visibility. The 
submitted information demonstrates that the development will only generate 1 additional 
traffic movement in each of the peak periods which is considered acceptable.

The proposal makes adequate provision for the parking and turning of vehicles in 
accordance with the adopted standards. There is adequate visibility from the access 
road junction with Downside Road which is in accordance with the manual for streets.

Parking will be provided by detached garages providing sufficient car parking spaces for 
each plot as well as space for turning vehicles so that they can leave the site in a 
forward gear.

Condition 15 has been recommended to ensure that the submitted Construction Method 
Statement is adhered to during construction.

Ecology
The application has been submitted with an Ecological Assessment which lists a 
number of recommendations to be adhered to, to ensure that the ecology is protected 
and enhanced on site. Condition 17 is recommended to ensure that the ecology on site 
is protected and enhanced.

Housing mix
The proposed development comprises of 1 five bed and 2 three bed dwellings which is 
broadly compliant with the requirements of CP2 which seeks to ensure that 
development meets a wide range of community housing needs. 

Conclusion
In conclusion it is considered that the proposed development is acceptable and 
compliant with the relevant policies and will not harm the character of the area nor will it 
have an adverse impact on neighbouring properties and is therefore recommended for 
approval subject to the conditions as listed below. 

Recommendation
Permitted subject to the following condition(s):

Conditions

01 The development hereby permitted shall be begun before the expiration of three years 
from the date of this permission.

Page 136



Case No: 18/00630/FUL

01 Reason:  To comply with the provisions of Section 91 (1) of the Town and Country 
Planning Act 1990 (as amended).

02 No development shall take place until details and samples of the materials to be used 
in the construction of the external surfaces of the dwelling hereby permitted have been 
submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority.  Development shall 
be carried out in accordance with the approved details.

02 Reason:  To ensure that the development presents a satisfactory appearance in the 
interests of the amenities of the area.

03 Details of measures to be taken to prevent mud from vehicles leaving the site during 
construction works being deposited on the public highway shall be submitted to and 
approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority and fully implemented before 
development commences.  Such measures shall be retained for the duration of the 
construction period.  No lorry shall leave the site unless its wheels have been cleaned 
sufficiently to prevent mud being carried onto the highway.

03 Reason:  In the interests of highway safety.

04 Details of provisions to be made for the parking and turning on site of operative and 
construction vehicles during the period of development shall be submitted to and approved 
in writing by the Local Planning Authority and fully implemented before development 
commences.  Such measures shall be retained for the construction period.

04 Reason:  In the interests of highway safety.

05 No development shall take place until there has been submitted to and approved in 
writing by the Local Planning Authority a plan indicating the positions, design, materials 
and type of boundary treatment to be erected.  The boundary treatment shall be completed 
before occupation.  Development shall be carried out in accordance with the approved 
details.

05 Reason:  In the interests of the visual amenities of the area.

06 A detailed scheme for landscaping, tree and/or shrub planting shall be submitted to and 
approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority before development commences.  The 
scheme shall specify species, density, planting, size and layout.  The scheme approved 
shall be carried out in the first planting season following the occupation of the building or 
the completion of the development whichever is the sooner.  If within a period of 5 years 
from the date of planting, any trees, shrubs or plants die, are removed or, in the opinion of 
the Local Planning Authority, become seriously damaged or defective, others of the same 
species and size as that originally planted shall be planted at the same place, in the next 
planting season, unless the Local Planning Authority gives its written consent to any 
variation.

06 Reason:  To improve the appearance of the site in the interests of visual amenity.

07 Prior to the commencement of the development hereby permitted detailed information 
(in, the form of SAP design stage data and a BRE water calculator) demonstrating that all 
homes, meet the equivalent to Code 4 standard for energy and water (as defined by the 

Page 137



Case No: 18/00630/FUL

ENE1 and WAT 1 in the, Code for Sustainable Homes) shall be submitted to and approved 
in writing by the Local, Planning Authority. The development shall be built in accordance 
with these findings.

07 Reason: To ensure a sustainable form of development consistent with the objectives of 
The National Planning Policy Framework 2012 and to accord with the requirements of 
Policy, CP11 of the Winchester District Local Plan Part 1 - Joint Core Strategy.

08 No development, or works of site preparation or clearance, shall take place until details, 
including plans and cross sections of the existing and proposed ground levels of the 
development and the boundaries of the site and the height of the ground floor slab and 
damp proof course in relation thereto, have been submitted to and approved in writing by 
the Local Planning Authority.

08 Reason: To ensure a satisfactory relationship between the new development and 
adjacent buildings, amenity areas and trees.

08 Protective measures, including fencing and ground protection, in accordance with the 
Arboricultural Impact Appraisal and Method Statement – Technical Arboriculture ref. 
AIA/AMS-KC/SH/DOWNSIDE2/01 dated February 2018 , and submitted to the Local 
Planning Authority shall be installed prior to any demolition, construction or groundwork 
commencing on the site.

08 Reason: To ensure the protection and retention of trees on site

09 The Arboricultural Officer shall be informed once protective measures have been 
installed so that the Construction Exclusion Zone (CEZ) can be inspected and deemed 
appropriate and in accordance with Ref: AIA/AMS-KC/SH/DOWNSIDE2/01 dated 
February 2018 Telephone - Principal Tree Officer. 01962 848403

09 Reason: To ensure the protection and retention of trees on site

10 The Arboricultural Officer shall be informed prior to the commencement of construction 
of special surfacing under tree canopies so that a pre commencement site visit can be 
carried out. Telephone 01962 848403

10 Reason: To ensure the protection and retention of trees on site

11 No arboricultural works shall be carried out to trees other than those specified and in 
accordance with the Arboricultural Report ref: AIA/AMS-KC/DOWNSIDE2/01 dated 
February 2018.

11 Reason: To ensure the protection and retention of trees on site

12 Any deviation from works prescribed or methods agreed in accordance with the 
Arboricultural Impact Appraisal and Method Statement Ref: AIA/AMS-KC/DOWNSIDE2/01 
dated February 2018 shall be agreed in writing to the Local Planning Authority.

12 Reason: To ensure the protection and retention of trees on site

Page 138



Case No: 18/00630/FUL

13 No development, or site preparation prior to operations which has any effect on 
compacting, disturbing or altering the levels of the site, shall take place until a person 
suitably qualified in arboriculture, and approved as suitable by the Local Planning 
Authority, has been appointed to supervise construction activity occurring on the site. The 
arboricultural supervisor will be responsible for the implementation, of protective 
measures, special surfacing and all works deemed necessary by the approved 
arboricultural method statement. Where ground measures are deemed necessary to 
protect root protection areas, the arboricultural supervisor shall ensure that these are 
installed prior to any vehicle movement, earth moving or construction activity occurring on 
the site and that all such measures to protect trees are inspected by the Local Planning 
Authority Arboricultural Officer prior to commencement of development work.

13 Reason: To ensure the protection and retention of trees on site

14 A pre-commencement meeting will be held on site before any of the site clearance and 
construction works begins. This will be affected by the site manager, the Arboricultural 
consultant and the LPA tree officer.

14 Reason: To ensure the protection and retention of trees on the site

15 The submitted Construction Management Plan dated February 2018 shall be adhered 
to and implemented throughout the construction period.

15 Reason: To ensure that the existing road network is protected

16 Prior to the occupation of the dwelling hereby permitted detailed information (in the 
form, of SAP "as built" stage data and a BRE water calculator) demonstrating that all 
homes meet equivalent to the Code 4 standard for energy and water (as defined by the 
ENE1 and WAT 1 in the Code for, Sustainable Homes) shall be submitted to and approved 
in writing by the Local Planning, Authority. The development shall occupied in accordance 
with these findings.

16 Reason: To ensure a sustainable form of development consistent with the objectives of, 
The National Planning Policy Framework 2012 and to accord with the requirements of 
Policy, CP11 of the Winchester District Local Plan Part 1 - Joint Core Strategy.

17 The recommendations as set out in Section 5.0 of the submitted Ecological 
Assessment by Peach Ecology dated 1st March 2018 shall be adhered to in perpetuity.

17 Reason: In the interests of promoting and protecting ecology on site

18 The development hereby approved shall be constructed in accordance with the 
following plans:
Drawing no. 7462/2 L1 Location Plan
Drawing no. 7462/2 D01 Rev G Proposed Site Plan
Drawing no. 7462/2 D5 Rev F Proposed East and West Elevation Plot 1
Drawing no. 7462/2 D6 Rev B Proposed North and South Elevation Plot 1
Drawing no. 7462/2 D3 Rev E Proposed Floor Plans Plot 1
Drawing no. 7462/2 D4 Proposed Roof Plan Plot 1
Drawing no. 7462/2 D11 Rev C Proposed Garage Plot 1
Drawing no. 7462/2 D9 Rev C Proposed West and East Elevation Plots 2 and 3

Page 139



Case No: 18/00630/FUL

Drawing no. 7462/2 D10 Rev B Proposed North and South Elevation Plots 2 and 3
Drawing no. 7462/2 D7 Rev B Proposed Plans Plots 2 and 3
Drawing no. 7462/2 D8 Proposed Roof Plan Plots 2 and 3
Drawing no. 7462/2 D12 Rev A Proposed Garages Plots 2 and 3
Drawing no. 7462/2 D2 Rev A Proposed Section AA

18 Reason: In the interests of proper planning and for the avoidance of doubt

Informatives:

In accordance with paragraphs 186 and 187 of the NPPF Winchester City Council (WCC) 
take a positive and proactive approach to development proposals focused on solutions.  
WCC work with applicants/agents in a positive and proactive manner by;

- offering a pre-application advice service and,

- updating applicants/agents of any issues that may arise in the processing of their 
application and where possible suggesting solutions.

In this instance the applicant was updated of any issues after the initial site visit.

This permission is granted for the following reasons:
The development is in accordance with the Policies and Proposals of the Development 
Plan set out below, and other material considerations do not have sufficient weight to 
justify a refusal of the application. In accordance with Section 38(6) of the Planning and 
Compulsory Purchase Act 2004, planning permission should therefore be granted.

The Local Planning Authority has taken account of the following development plan policies 
and proposals:-

 
Winchester Local Plan Part 1 - Joint Core Strategy: CP2, CP11, CP13, CP14
Local Plan Part 2 - Joint Core Strategy: Development Management and Site 

Allocations: DM15, DM16, DM17, DM18
SPD High Quality Places

           

All building works including demolition, construction and machinery or plant operation 
should only be carried out between the hours of 0800 and 1800 hrs Monday to Friday and 
0800 and 1300 hrs Saturday and at no time on Sundays or recognised public holidays. 
Where allegations of noise from such works are substantiated by the Environmental 
Protection Team, a Notice limiting the hours of operation under The Control of Pollution 
Act 1974 may be served.

During Construction, no materials should be burnt on site. Where allegations of statutory 
nuisance are substantiated by the Environmental Protection Team, an Abatement Notice 
may be served under The Environmental Protection Act 1990. The applicant is reminded 
that the emission of dark smoke through the burning of materials is a direct offence under 
The Clean Air Act 1993.

The applicant is advised that one or more of the Conditions attached to this permission 
need to be formally discharged by the Local Planning Authority before works can 

Page 140



Case No: 18/00630/FUL

commence on site.   Details, plans or samples required by Conditions should be submitted 
to the Council at least 8 weeks in advance of the start date of works to give adequate time 
for these to be dealt with.    If works commence on site before all of the pre-
commencement conditions are discharged then this would constitute commencement of 
development without the benefit of planning permission and could result in Enforcement 
action being taken by the Council.

The submitted details should be clearly marked with the following information:

         The name of the planning officer who dealt with application

         The application case number

         Your contact details

         The appropriate fee.

Further information, application forms and guidance can be found on the Council's website 
- www.winchester.gov.uk.

Page 141



This page is intentionally left blank



Case No: 17/03209/FUL

Case No: 17/03209/FUL 
Proposal Description: (AMENDED PLANS 12.03.18) Construction of horse arena and 

alteration to existing bund, along with caretakers room within 
existing stable block.

Address: South Wonston Farm Alresford Drove South Wonston 
Winchester Hampshire

Parish, or Ward if within 
Winchester City:

 South Wonston

Applicants Name: Mr S Wilson-Smith
Case Officer: Verity Osmond
Date Valid: 22 December 2017
Site Factors:  

 
Recommendation: Approval

© Crown Copyright and database rights Winchester City Council License 100019531

Page 143

Agenda Item 14



Case No: 17/03209/FUL

General Comments

The application is reported to Committee due to the number of objections received 
which are contrary to the Officer recommendation for approval.

Amended plans have been submitted and accepted on 12th March 2018 which show the 
arena rotated 90 degrees from a north-south to an east- west orientation. The amended 
plans also include a reduction in height in the existing bunds on site to 1 metre above 
ground level and a native species hedge has been proposed to soften the fence around 
the arena.

A further plan has been submitted which has reduced the number of floodlights serving 
the proposed arena, which will now only be located on the southern side of the arena 
facing away from Wrights Close. 

Site Description

The application site is located to north of South Wonston and is situated on the southern 
side of Alresford Drove. There is a very small cluster of residential properties along 
Alresford Drove, with similar equestrian style development immediately north west of the 
site.  The site is separated from the main settlement of South Wonston by a distance of 
350m which is comprised of a belt of sloping open countryside which rises towards South 
Wonston.

The land is somewhat degraded through intensive grazing and poor quality hedgerows. 
The dominating character, as identified in the National Character Area Profile (130. 
Hampshire Downs), is of broad, long distance views and big skies; a rolling arable 
landscape, patches of chalk grassland, thick shelterbelts, swathes of broadleaved 
woodland.

There is a stable block currently at northern most point of the site which is enveloped by 
two artificial bunds. The land is also used for grazing horses, with the total area of the field 
being 11.53ha with the area for development being 0.6ha. There are two access tracks 
serving Alresford Drove, one connecting the site to Stainers Lane to the south and the 
other connecting the site to Christmas Hill to the west. The main access is via restricted 
Byway 704b from South Wonston Farm with an existing gated access to the north western 
corner of the site. 

Proposal

The application is for the construction of a horse arena along with caretakers room within 
the existing stable block. The application is also for alterations to existing bunds on site. 

The proposed arena will be 90x40m enclosed by a timber fence which will lean very 
slightly outwards towards to the top to allow polo balls to roll back down onto the pitch. 
The arena is located to the south of the existing stable block and there is proposed LED 
lighting until 19:30 throughout the winter months. 

The proposal also includes a caretaker’s room to be used for occasional overnight use 
during foaling season and in the event of a sick or injured horse.

Page 144



Case No: 17/03209/FUL

Access to the site will remain the same from restricted byway 704b as this route provides 
existing established vehicular access to Christmas Hill Farm, South Wonston Farm and 
the Polo School. There is no proposed additional parking and the operating hours and 
staffing levels will remain the same as the existing. There is no proposed increase on the 
number of horses stabled. 

Relevant Planning History

13/00347/FUL (PER) Erection of stables and horse walker with associated landscaping 
and parking (Resubmission)

12/01976/FUL (WDN) Erection of stables and horse walker with associated landscaping 
and parking

07/00465/FUL (PER) Variation of condition 8 of planning approval 06/03363/FUL to 
permit the breeding of horses

06/03363/FUL (PER) Change of use of site from agricultural to equine enterprise 
comprising; change of use of existing barn buildings to a stable block and office, and the 
creation of an outdoor riding arena

Consultations

.
Head of Landscape : No objection to the proposed arena and landscaping, concerns 
expressed regarding the proposed lighting 

Engineers: Highways: No objection 

Representations:

South Wonston Parish Council
 Neither objecting to or supporting the application. 
 Would like further details of the proposed lighting and relevant conditions attached.
 Would like a condition relating to the caretakers room to prevent occupation rather 

than for the benefit of the animals. 

10 letters received objecting to the application for the following reasons: 
 Increase in traffic and highway safety
 Light pollution 
 Visual impact on development on residential amenity
 Ecological impact on bats. 

0 letters of support received.

Page 145



Case No: 17/03209/FUL

Relevant Planning Policy:

Winchester Local Plan Part 1 – Joint Core Strategy: MTRA 4, CP13, DS1

Winchester District Local Plan Part 2: DM11, DM12, DM15, DM16, DM17, DM18, DM23

National Planning Policy Guidance/Statements:
National Planning Policy Framework

Planning Considerations

Principle of development

The application site is located within a countryside location, where the principle of 
equestrian development is accepted, provided the development is in accordance with the 
policies of The Development Plan and unless material planning considerations indicate 
otherwise. 

Policy MTRA 4 of WDLPP1 will permit development which has an operational need for a 
countryside location, such as agriculture, horticulture or forestry or for the expansion or 
redevelopment of existing buildings to facilitate the expansion on-site of established 
businesses or to meet an operational need, provided the development is proportionate to 
the nature and scale of the site, its setting and countryside location.

Policy DM12 of WDLPP2 allows horse related facilities and development related to grazing 
and equestrian enterprises, including stables, training areas, riding centres will be 
permitted where a countryside location in necessary.

Policy DM11 refers to housing for essential rural workers, whilst the proposal for an on-site 
groom/caretaker will only be for a temporary period each year for the purpose of the 
foaling season, the stipulations of this policy still apply. 

Impact on character of area and neighbouring property

Original plans were submitted which showed the polo arena orientated in a north-south 
direction within the plot. This was not considered to be acceptable from a landscape 
perspective as the arena would have extended southwards into the Wonston Downs 
Character Area, disrupting the grassland and open characteristics of the landscape. This 
impact would have been further exacerbated by the ground remodelling needed to level 
the arena given the sloping topography of the site. 

The revised plans have orientated the polo arena to the south of the existing stable block, 
lying in east to west orientation within the site. It is considered that this re-orientation is 
more sensitive to the landform and reduces the alteration to the existing ground contours 
and slopes, which is considered to reduce the visual and landscape impact of the 
development in accordance with Policy DM12 of WDLPP2.

Views of the site from Stainer’s Lane (designated bridleway) are partially obscured by an 
intervening hedge, and by views of the existing stable block. The proposed lighting 

Page 146



Case No: 17/03209/FUL

columns would be seen by virtue of their height; however it is considered that these 
would be viewed in the context of the stable block and not as a separate interference into 
the landscape. In this respect, the development does not constitute a scattered or 
isolated form of development in regards to Policy DM23 of WDLPP2. 

The track (designated restricted byway) on the north side of the site allows views of the 
buildings, bunds and further in to the site, the bunds giving a somewhat out-of-character 
industrial aspect to the site which is not in accordance with Policy DM23 of WDLPP2. The 
applicant has agreed to reduce these bunds to 1 metre in height with gentler sloping 
sides, which is considered to be more characteristic of the soft, rolling character of this 
particular area of chalk down land.

There will be views of the arena from Wrights Close; there is a distance of approximately 
300 metres between the southern side of the arena and the rear of the properties in 
Wrights Close which is considered sufficient to prevent any harmful visual impact of the 
development on this residential amenity.

Notwithstanding this, a new native species hedge will be planted on the southern and 
eastern sides of the arena in order to provide some further screening to the site. A 
condition is proposed that requires a further detailed landscaping scheme in order to 
meet the requirements of Policy DM12 of WDLPP2. 

Lighting

Whilst the floodlights would be visible from Alresford Drove and Wrights Close, the 
floodlights would be focused northwards into the proposed arena and based on the 
orientation of the pitch would involve no lights facing directly onto Wrights Way and there 
is no residential amenity immediately north of the arena along Alresford Drove.

Significant concern has been raised from residents in Wrights Way regarding the lighting, 
whilst Wrights Way is situated over 300m away from the floodlights, mitigation measures 
have been implemented to further reduce the visual impact of these lights.  The number 
of floodlights has been reduced and will be faced away from Wrights Way, floodlight 
masks will be constructed around the lights to avoid horizontal light spill and the hours of 
operation will be secured via condition. 

The proposed floodlights would only be used until 19:30 during the winter months, in the 
summer months there would be no need to use the floodlighting. It is considered that 
19:30 is an acceptable time given that the majority of the evening would remain dark and  
that it is unlikely that nearby residents would be using their outside amenity space within 
the winter months.

The Environmental Protection officer has assessed the proposed impact of the floodlights 
and has confirmed that provided the above mitigation measures are implemented, the 
floodlighting is unlikely to adversely impact upon the amenity of the neighbouring 
properties. 

Policy DM12 (criteria v) states that the no floodlighting will be allowed for equestrian 
development if it would have an adverse impact on the appearance of the landscape. It is 
considered that it this instance as the correct mitigation measures have been put in place 
combined with the distance of the nearest residential amenity, the proposed floodlighting 

Page 147



Case No: 17/03209/FUL

would not have a significant adverse impact to the amenities of the nearest amenity and 
surrounding rural landscape. 

Notwithstanding this, a condition will be attached if permission is granted that requires 
further details of the floodlighting, including the beam orientation and a schedule of the 
equipment on the design (luminaire type, mounting height, aiming angles and luminaire 
profiles) to robustly ensure the floodlighting does not have a significantly adverse impact. 

Use

The application also seeks to regularise the use of a caretakers room within the existing 
stable block. The caretakers room would be used for very occasional overnight use 
during foaling season and if there are instances of a sick or injured horse. 

This occasional use is considered to be proportionate to business need of the 
development and it is considered that an appropriate justification has been provided by 
the applicant.  There will be no external changes to the stable block so it is not 
considered that the proposal will result in any increased visual intrusion to the 
countryside. 

A condition is nevertheless proposed which will ensure the caretakers room does not 
become a permanent residence or separate unit of accommodation in accordance with 
Policy DM11 of WDLPP1 and MTRA 4 of WDLPP2. 

Landscape/Trees

The planting around the perimeter is appropriate in essence of its native species, but 
needs to be specified in greater in detail and secured via condition (05).

Highways/Parking

Significant concern has been raised in relation to the proposed traffic generation of the 
development. 

The proposed parking and operating hours and staffing levels will remain the same as 
the existing. The Highways Engineer raises no objection to the scheme and considers 
that the site already benefits from a number of stables and currently relies on the use of 
an adjoining arena which is not within the applicants ownership. The provision of this 
arena is not likely to result in any significant traffic generation, provided that it sis used 
for training and exercise purposes and not for competitive matches.

Recommendation – approve

 subject to the following condition(s):

Conditions

Page 148



Case No: 17/03209/FUL

1. The development hereby permitted shall be begun before the expiration of three years 
from the date of this permission.

Reason:  To comply with the provisions of Section 91 (1) of the Town and Country 
Planning Act 1990 (as amended).

2. The development hereby approved shall be constructed in accordance with the 
following plans:

Proposed Block Plan Drawing No. P17-107-02-02-003B 
Proposed Site Plan Drawing No.  P17-107-02-02-004B  
Proposed AA Drawing No.  P17-107-02-04-001A 
Proposed Section BB Drawing No. P17-107-02-04-002A 
Proposed Revised Floor Plan Drawing No. P17-107-02-03-001

Reason: In the interests of proper planning and for the avoidance of doubt and to ensure 
the development is carried out in accordance with the relevant policies of The 
Development Plan.

3. The materials to be used in the construction of the arena hereby permitted shall be 
those as detailed in section 9 (materials) of the associated application forms.

Reason:  To ensure a satisfactory visual relationship between the new development, the 
existing and the rural surrounding area in accordance with Policy DM12 and DM23 of 
Winchester District Local Plan Part 2 (2017) and The High Quality Places SPD (2015).

4. Details of any external lighting of the site shall be submitted to, and approved in writing 
by the Local Planning Authority prior to the commencement of the development.  This 
information shall include a layout plan with beam orientation and a schedule of equipment 
in the design (luminaire type, mounting height, aiming angles, floodlight shields, and 
luminaire profiles). The lighting shall be installed, maintained and operated in accordance 
with the approved details. The external lighting shall not be switched on between the hours 
of 19:30 in the evening and 09:00 the following morning.

Reason:  To protect the rural character and appearance of the area, the environment and 
local residents from light pollution in accordance with Policy DM12, DM17, DM19, DM23 of 
Winchester District Local Plan Part 2.

5. No development shall take place until details of both hard and soft landscape works 
have been submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority and these 
works shall be carried out as approved. These details shall include the following;

- planting plans,
- schedules of plants, noting species, planting sizes and proposed numbers/densities 
where appropriate
-remodelling of the bunds including a section detail.
- details of any means of enclosure including fencing/walling and netting and supporting 
structures
- hard surfacing

Page 149



Case No: 17/03209/FUL

All hard and soft landscape works shall be carried out in accordance with the approved 
details. The works shall be carried out before the use hereby permitted is commenced and 
prior to the completion of the development or in accordance with the programme agreed 
with the Local Planning Authority. If within a period of five years after planting any tree or 
plant is removed, dies or becomes, in the opinion of the Local Planning Authority, seriously 
damaged, defective or diseased another tree or plant of the same species and size as that 
originally approved shall be planted at the same place, within the next planting season, 
unless the Local Planning Authority gives its written consent to any variation.

Reason: To ensure the provision, establishment and maintenance of a reasonable 
standard of landscape in accordance with Policy DM12 and DM23 of Winchester District 
Local Plan Part 2.

6. The use of the caretakers room for overnight accommodation shall be restricted to use 
during the foaling season or use in the event that a horse requires medical treatment 
throughout the night. In either event, a register of these dates shall be kept by the owner 
and shall be produced to the Local Planning Authority upon reasonable notice.  At no time 
shall the caretakers room be used as separate unit of residential accommodation.

Reason: To ensure the use of the caretakers room is proportionate to the business need of 
the development and to prevent a separate unit of accommodation being provided within a 
countryside location.

7. Details of the facilities for the storage of horse manure and its means of disposal from 
the site, shall be submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority 
before the use of polo arena is commenced. The facilities shall be provided and thereafter 
maintained in accordance with the approved details.

Reason: In the interests of the amenities of the locality.

Informatives:

1. This permission is granted for the following reasons:
The development is in accordance with the Policies and Proposals of the Development 
Plan set out below, and other material considerations do not have sufficient weight to 
justify a refusal of the application. In accordance with Section 38(6) of the Planning and 
Compulsory Purchase Act 2004, planning permission should therefore be granted.

2. The Local Planning Authority has taken account of the following development plan 
policies and proposals:-
Winchester District Local Plan Part 1 (2013): DS1, CP13, MTRA 4
Winchester District Local Plan Part 2 (2017): DM11, DM12, DM15, DM16, DM17, DM18, 
DM19, DM23
Winchester District High Quality Places Supplementary Planning Document

3. In accordance with paragraphs 186 and 187 of the NPPF Winchester City Council 
(WCC) take a positive and proactive approach to development proposals focused on 
solutions. WCC work with applicants/agents in a positive and proactive manner by;

Page 150



Case No: 17/03209/FUL

-offering a pre-application advice service and,
-updating applications/agents of any issues that may arise in the processing of their 
application and where possible suggesting solutions

4. All building works including demolition, construction and machinery or plant operation 
should only be carried out between the hours of 0800 and 1800 hrs Monday to Friday and 
0800 and 1300 hrs Saturday and at no time on Sundays or recognised public holidays. 
Where allegations of noise from such works are substantiated by the Environmental 
Protection Team, a Notice limiting the hours of operation under The Control of Pollution 
Act 1974 may be served.

5. During Construction, no materials should be burnt on site. Where allegations of statutory 
nuisance are substantiated by the Environmental Protection Team, an Abatement Notice 
may be served under The Environmental Protection Act 1990. The applicant is reminded 
that the emission of dark smoke through the burning of materials is a direct offence under 
The Clean Air Act 1993.

6. Please be respectful to your neighbours and the environment when carrying out your 
development. Ensure that the site is well organised, clean and tidy and that facilities, 
stored materials, vehicles and plant are located to minimise disruption. Please consider 
the impact on your neighbours by informing them of the works and minimising air, light and 
noise pollution and minimising the impact of deliveries, parking and working on public or 
private roads. Any damage to these areas should be remediated as soon as is practically 
possible.

For further advice on this please refer the Construction Code of Practice 
http://www.ccscheme.org.uk/index.php/ccs-ltd/what-is-the-ccs/code-of-considerate-
practice

Page 151



This page is intentionally left blank


	Agenda
	4 Minutes
	Minutes of the Special Meeting of Planning Committee held on 7 June 2018

	6 Planning Applications - WCC Agenda Items 7 & 8
	7 Land To The East Of Sun Lane Alresford Hampshire
	8 7 Arthur Road, Winchester, Hampshire, SO23 7EA
	10 Edenwood  Broad Lane Swanmore SO32 2PD
	11 Orchard House  Mount Pleasant Kings Worthy SO23 7QU
	12 Hazelwood  29 Downside Road Winchester SO22 5LT
	13 Hazelwood  29 Downside Road Winchester SO22 5LT
	14 South Wonston Farm Alresford Drove South Wonston Winchester

